FINE-TUNING OF THE SIGNALLING NETWORK CONTROLLING MORPHOGENESIS AND STEM CELL DEVELOPMENT IN TEETH

Marika Suomalainen

Developmental Biology Program Institute of Biotechnology and Division of Physiology Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Faculty of Biosciences and Viikki Graduate School in Biosciences University of Helsinki

Academic dissertation

To be presented for public criticism, with the permission of the Faculty of Biosciences, University of Helsinki, in auditorium 1041 at Viikki Biocenter (Viikinkaari 5), on February 5th, 2010. Helsinki 2010 Supervised by: Professor Irma Thesleff, University of Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by: Professor Satu Alaluusua University of Helsinki, Finland *and* MD, PhD Kirmo Wartiovaara University of Helsinki, Finland

Opponent: Professor Keijo Luukko University of Bergen, Norway

ISBN 978-952-10-6010-6 (Paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-6011-3 (PDF) ISSN 1795-7079

Press: Yliopistopaino, Helsinki 2010

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

ABBREVIATIONS

SUMMARY

DEVIEW OF THE LITEDATURE	1
1 Ectodermal organ development in the vertebrates	1 1
2. Morphology and machanisms of tooth dayalopmont	1 1
2.1 Initiation of tooth development	1
2. Signalling notherways regulating acto dormal aroun development	
5. Signalling pathways regulating ectodernial organ development	4
3.1 IGFp supertamily	
3.1.1 Receptors and intracellular signalling pathways	6
3.1.2 BMPs	/
3.1.3 Activin	7
3.1.4 Follistatin – inhibitor of Activin and BMPs	8
3.2 FGF pathway	8
3.3 Wnt pathway	9
3.4 Notch pathway	.11
3.5 Shh pathway	.12
3.6 Ectodysplasin pathway	.12
4. Molecular regulation of tooth development	.13
4.1 Initiation and tooth identity	.13
4.2 Bud stage	.13
4.3 Cap stage and development of tooth crown morphology	.14
4.4 Bell stage and cell differentiation	.15
4.5 Continuously growing mouse incisors	.16
5. Stem cells	.19
5.1 Characteristics of stem cells	.19
5.2 Stem cell niche	.20
5.3 Epidermal, hair follicle and feather stem cells	.22
5.4 Intestinal stem cells	.23
6. Stem cells in teeth	.24
6.1 Epithelial stem cell niche in the mouse incisors	.25
6.2. Molecular regulation of epithelial stem cells in the incisors	.26
	20
AIWIS OF THE STUDT	.20
MATERIALS AND METHODS	.29
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	.31
Follistatin has a role in the morphogenesis of the molars (I)	.31
Follistatin regulates the asymmetric formation of enamel in the mouse incisors (II)	33
A signalling network consisting of BMPs Activin EGEs and	00
Follistatin regulates the enithelial stem cell niche in the incisors (III)	37
Expression of Whit nathway genes and Whit/B-catenin activity in the incisors	51
indicate absence of Wnt/B -category signalling in the epithelial stem cells (IV)	44
CONCLUDING DEMARKS	40
UNULUDING KEMAKKS	.48
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.50
REFERENCES	.51

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I Wang XP, **Suomalainen M**, Jorgez CJ, Matzuk MM, Wankell M, Werner S, Thesleff I. (2004) Modulation of activin/bone morphogenetic protein signaling by follistatin is required for the morphogenesis of mouse molar teeth. Dev Dyn 231:98-108.
- **II** Wang XP, **Suomalainen M**, Jorgez CJ, Matzuk MM, Werner S, Thesleff I. (2004) Follistatin regulates enamel patterning in mouse incisors by asymmetrically inhibiting BMP signaling and ameloblast differentiation. Dev Cell 7:719-730.
- III Wang XP*, Suomalainen M*, Felszeghy S, Zelarayan LC, Alonso MT, Plikus MV, Maas RL, Chuong CM, Schimmang T, Thesleff I. (2007) An integrated gene regulatory network controls stem cell proliferation in teeth. PLoS Biol 5:e159. *Equal contribution
- **IV Suomalainen M** and Thesleff I. (2009) Patterns of Wnt pathway activity in the mouse incisor indicate absence of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in the epithelial stem cells. Dev Dyn Epublished ahead of print Oct 5.

ABBREVIATIONS

ActR	Activin receptor
AI	Amelogenesis imperfecta
Alk	Activin-like kinase
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
co-Smad	Common mediator Smad
Ctip2	Chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription
1	factor-interacting protein 2
DFPC	Dental follicle precursor cell
Dll	Delta-like
Dkk	Dickkopf
DPSC	Dental pulp stem cell
Е	Embryonic day
EDA	Ectodysplasin
ERM	Epithelial cell rests of Malassez
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
Fst	Follistatin
HH	Hedgehog
HERS	Hertwig's epithelial root sheath
HSPG	Heparin sulfate proteoglycans
I-Smad	Inhibitory Smad
iPS cell	Induced pluripotent stem cell
K14	Keratin 14
LEF	Lymphoid enhancer factor
Lgr5	Leucine rich repeat containing G-protein coupled receptor 5
LRC	Label retaining cell
LRP	Lipoprotein receptor related protein
mRNA	Messenger RNA
miRNA	Micro RNA
MSX	Muscle segment homeobox gene
NICD	Notch intracellular domain
Р	Post natal day
PAX	Paired box –containing transcription factor
PCP	Planar cell polarity
PDL	Periodontal ligaments
PDLSC	Periodontal ligament stem cell
PITX	Paired-like homeodomain
PTC	Patched
R-Smad	Receptor activated Smad
Smad	Homolog for <i>Drosophila</i> gene mother against decapentaplegic
SCAP	Apical papilla stem cell
SHED	Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth
SHH	Sonic hedgehog
Spry	Sprouty
TCF	T-cell specific transcription factor
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
Wnt	Wnt- family member

Gene names are written in italics and protein names in non-italics. Mouse genes or proteins are in lower case letters and human in upper case letter.

SUMMARY

Tooth development is regulated by sequential and reciprocal interactions between epithelium and mesenchyme. The molecular mechanisms underlying this regulation are conserved and most of the participating molecules belong to several signalling families. Research focusing on mouse teeth has uncovered many aspects of tooth development, including molecular and evolutionary specifics, and in addition offered a valuable system to analyse the regulation of epithelial stem cells. In mice the spatial and temporal regulation of cell differentiation and the mechanisms of patterning during development can be analysed both *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

Follistatin (Fst), a negative regulator of TGF^β superfamily signalling, is an important inhibitor during embryonic development. We showed the necessity of modulation of TGF β signalling by Fst in three different regulatory steps during tooth development. First we showed that tinkering with the level of TGF^β signalling by Fst may cause variation in the molar cusp patterning and crown morphogenesis. Second, our results indicated that in the continuously growing mouse incisors asymmetric expression of Fst is responsible for the labial-lingual patterning of ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation. Two TGF β superfamily signals, BMP and Activin, are required for proper ameloblast differentiation and Fst modulates their effects. Third, we identified a complex signalling network regulating the maintenance and proliferation of epithelial stem cells in the incisor, and showed that Fst is an essential modulator of this regulation. FGF3 in cooperation with FGF10 stimulates proliferation of epithelial stem cells and transit amplifying cells in the labial cervical loop. BMP4 represses Fgf3 expression whereas Activin inhibits the repressive effect of BMP4 on the labial side. Thus, Fst inhibits Activin rather than BMP4 in the cervical loop area and limits the proliferation of lingual epithelium, thereby causing the asymmetric maintenance and proliferation of epithelial stem cells. In addition, we detected Lgr5, a Wnt target gene and an epithelial stem cell marker in the intestine, in the putative epithelial stem cells of the incisor, suggesting that Lgr5 is a marker of incisor stem cells but is not regulated by Wnt/ β -catenin signalling in the incisor. Thus the epithelial stem cells in the incisor may not be directly regulated by Wnt/β-catenin signalling.

In conclusion, we showed in the mouse incisors that modulating the balance between inductive and inhibitory signals constitutes a key mechanism regulating the epithelial stem cells and ameloblast differentiation. Furthermore, we found additional support for the location of the putative epithelial stem cells and for the stemness of these cells. In the mouse molar we showed the necessity of fine-tuning the signalling in the regulation of the crown morphogenesis, and that altering the levels of an inhibitor can cause variation in the crown patterning.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Ectodermal organ development in the vertebrates

Vertebrates have many different ectodermal organs, such as teeth, hair, feathers, scales and beaks. Many exocrine glands, such as mammary and sweat glands, are also ectodermal organs. The similarities between different ectodermal organs are mostly visible in the placode and bud stage, but when the morphogenesis begins the similarities diminish. The interactions between epithelium and mesenchyme initiate the development. The first signal inducing differentiation comes from the mesenchyme in all ectodermal organs except the tooth where the signal originates in the epithelium (Pispa and Thesleff, 2003). After the initiation step the interaction between epithelium and mesenchyme is reciprocal and continuous, leading to complex structures of functional organs.

The first sign of ectodermal organ development is the thickening of the epithelium. Thickening forms a placode, a signalling centre, beneath which the mesenchymal cells condense. The forming structure begins to bud into or out of the mesenchyme, as the epithelium folds and branches at the end constructing the final structures of the organ. Regular arrangement of placodes, visible especially in the hair and feather follicle formation, is controlled by lateral inhibition as the concentrations of placode activating and inhibiting signals specify the location and formation of new placodes (Plikus and Chuong, 2008). The placode forms within a region where the level of activators is high and exceeds the effects of the inhibitor according to reaction diffusion model (Schlake and Sick, 2007). In tooth development the location of dental

placodes are suggested to be determined by a balance between Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) (Neübuser et al., 1997; Mandker and Neübuser, 2001).

Most of the organs are maintained by tissue turnover, repair and renewal throughout life. Self-renewing stem cells are responsible for this maintenance, thus they are distributed in almost every tissue. Stem cells have the ability to go through many cell divisions in an undifferentiated state and also the capacity to give rise to differentiated cell types, supplying new cells to the renewing tissue. Tissue turnover, for instance in the skin, can occur constantly, emphasizing the importance of the regulation of balance between proliferating and degradating cells. When a tissue is injured the healing processes, such as wound healing and scar formation, are initiated immediately in order to repair the tissue. Some organs renew cyclically, for instance hairs and feathers. In amphibians even whole complex organs, for instance limbs, can be regenerated.

2. Morphology and mechanisms of tooth development

Teeth are typical organs for the vertebrates, although in some species they have been lost during the evolution. The essential steps in tooth development include formation of the placode, budding of the epithelium into the underlying mesenchyme, condensation of the mesenchyme interacting with the bud, and folding and growth of the epithelium, which will finally create the shape of the tooth crown (Thesleff, 2006).

In many animals new teeth develop throughout life. In mammals teeth develop only once, as in rodents, or twice, as in humans, forming primary and secondary dentition. Recently several researchers have sought to find a suitable model organism to study the formation of the secondary dentition, for instance ferrets, and enlighten the mechanisms of the regulation behind the secondary dentition (Järvinen et al., 2008, 2009). Fish, like other non-mammalian vertebrates, have continuous renewal and replacement of teeth, thus creating another kind of model extending understanding of control of the tooth development (Stock, 2007). Birds, on the other hand, are an example of toothless vertebrates. They lost their teeth over 80 million years ago but the genes regulating the tooth development still exist in the jaws, and transplanted mouse neural crest derived cells can induce tooth development in the chicken (Francis-West et al., 1998; Schneider et al., 1999; Mitsiadis et al., 2003, 2006).

Rodents have two kinds of teeth, molars and incisors, separated by a toothless area, the diastema. Thus rodents lack both the canines and premolars, which are typical for many other mammals. While premolar development occurs during the early stages of development, it is arrested at the bud stage and the bud is removed apoptotically (Keränen et al., 1999; Peterkova et al., 2002). Some mutant mouse lines have an extra tooth in front of the first molar, in the area of prospective premolars. For instance overexpressing Ectodysplasin (Eda) under Keratin14 promoter (K14-Eda) or disrupting balance of FGF signalling by knocking down Sprouty2 (Spry2) or Spry4 expression leads to the formation of extra molar within the diastema (Mustonen et al., 2003; Klein et al., 2006).

The tooth can be structurally divided to a crown and a root. The morphology of the crown is strictly regulated during the development, leading to complex cusp patterning especially in the molars. The cusps form as a result of folding of the dental epithelium, which is regulated by enamel knots, the epithelial signalling centres (Jernvall et al., 1994; Vaahtokari et al., 1996). However, the teeth in fish and reptiles are mostly conical and lack cusps, and mammalian incisors and canines also lack the multicuspal structure. The morphological differences between incisors and molars become evident during the late stages of development.

The patterning of the molar crown, i.e. the regulation of the cusp formation, is strictly regulated by activators and inhibitors. According to the morphodynamic model activators induce the formation of an enamel knot, whereas inhibitors prevent the differentiation of the enamel knot, instead promoting growth (Salazar-Ciudad and Jernvall, 2002). The morphodynamic model predicts concentration peaks of activators and inhibitors which correspond to the gene expression patterns detected in the teeth. Suggested activator factors are BMPs, and inhibiting factors include FGFs and sonic hedgehog (Shh) (Salazar-Ciudad and Jernvall, 2002).

The tooth crown is covered with enamel and dentin. Mesenchymal cells adjacent to the inner dental epithelium begin to differentiate into dentin forming odontoblasts, and the remaining dental papilla cells form the dental pulp. Enamel depositing ameloblasts differentiate from the inner dental epithelium. Epithelium differentiates also into the stellate reticulum, surrounded by stratum intermedium and inner or outer dental epithelia. Ameloblast and odontoblast differentiation is regulated by interactions between epithelium and mesenchyme.

The completion of crown formation is an onset of root development. The epithelial cervical loops lose stellate reticulum and the remaining epithelium, comprising only from inner and outer dental epithelia and the basal lamina, forms Hertwig's epithelial root sheath (HERS). HERS guides root development and induces the formation of dentin and cementum, formed by cementoblasts differentiating from dental follicle cells. Later the HERS fractures and forms epithelial cell rests of Malassez (ERM) (Nanci, 2008). Recent results suggest that in some exceptions HERS is not necessary for the formation of ERM, and regulation between crown and root fate is flexible (Tummers and Thesleff, 2008). In addition to the roots, other supporting tissues are needed for the firm attachment of the tooth. Periodontal ligaments (PDL), alveolar bone, gingiva and cementum play a role in tooth attachment. The dental follicle gives rise to fibroblasts which synthesize fibers and several other substances, eventually forming PDL. PDL are responsible for attaching the tooth to the alveolar bone, but they also act as sensory innervations (Nanci, 2008, pp. 261).

In several mammalian species, such as rabbits and rodents, certain teeth grow continuously. Mice have continuously growing asymmetrical conical incisors but certain sibling vole has also continuously growing molars (Tummers and Thesleff, 2003). The beginning of the growth and differentiation of the continuously growing molar and incisor resemble that of the root forming molar, but expression of several signalling molecules, which are lost when the root development begins in the molar, are maintained in continuously growing teeth (Tummers and Thesleff, 2003). However, the typical gene expression pattern for continuously growing teeth was maintained in the *in vitro* cultured mouse molar and it is suggested that epithelium of the molar still has the capacity to grow continuously depending on the regulation of surrounding environment (Tummers et al., 2007).

2.1 Initiation of tooth development

Tooth development is regulated by reciprocal and sequential interactions between the mesenchyme and epithelium. These interactions regulate proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, and they are common among all organs formed from epithelium and mesenchyme, thus in most of the organs.

The dental lamina (also called odontogenic band), a horseshoe shaped thickening of the epithelium (Figure 1), forms from epithelial cells derived from the first branchial arch and is supported by underlying neural crest derived mesenchymal cells. Teeth develop only within the dental lamina, and even the development of the extra teeth, present in several different mutant mice, is restricted to the dental lamina. Although continuous activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in the oral epithelium induces ectopic teeth and continuous tooth formation in mice, the teeth in most of the mutants developed within the dental lamina (Järvinen et al., 2006; Kuraguchi et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2008). However, recent results in Adenomatous polyposis coli (Apc), a member of a protein complex targeting β -catenin to degradation, lossof function mouse teeth indicated that in certain cases teeth can develop outside the lamina (Wang et al., 2009). Tooth placodes begin to form within the dental lamina at embryonic day (E) 11. The first signals to initiate the tooth development come from the epithelium (Mina and Kollar, 1987).



Nevertheless, the mesenchyme also has to be competent to react to the signals. Later, after the initiation stage, the odontogenic potential shifts to the dental mesenchyme (Mina and Kollar, 1987).

3. Signalling pathways regulating ectodermal organ development

Interactions between cells and tissues can be transported through signalling pathways and cell-cell contacts. The signalling pathways consist of a signalling molecule, a receptor and usually an intracellular

Figure 1.

The expression pattern of *Pitx2* indicating the dental lamina in a mouse mandible at E11 and E12. Figure drawn according to Maria Jussila's pictures.

signalling cascade. The signalling molecules, ligands, are secreted from the cell or attached to the cell membrane. The ligands induce an activation of a receptor in a target cell. The activation of the receptor usually initiates an intracellular signalling cascade, including several modulators, which eventually leads to the regulation of a target gene. The ligand can be an autocrine factor and interact with the secretory cell itself or a paracrine factor and interact with neighbouring cells (Figure 2). When the signalling requires a cell-cell contact between signalling cells



Figure 2.

A. A hypothetical signalling pathway showing different steps of a signalling cascade. A ligand binds to a receptor which leads to activation of intracellular signalling pathway finally regulating the target genes.

B. Different types of signalling; autocrine, paracrine and juxtacrine signalling. Autocrine signalling activates the secretory cell itself whereas paracrine signalling requires the secretion of signalling molecules from one cell to induce the activation in the neighbouring cell. Juxtacrine signalling requires cell-cell contacts between interacting cells.

the interaction is called juxtacrine. The signalling requires intensive control and fine-tuning because even small changes in signal activity can lead to drastic changes during development. Although the expression and function of ligands, receptors and intracellular signalling pathway modulators are tightly regulated, signalling still needs to be adjusted by inhibitors at various steps. Inhibitors can antagonise the signalling by inhibiting the functions of the ligand, the receptor, the intracellular pathway or the gene expression in the nucleus. The inhibitors bind specifically to their target molecules, and they are introduced later in detail together with the pathways they interact with.

Another mechanism of regulation, microRNAs (miRNAs), has also been shown to participate in fine-tuning of the signalling. miRNAs are conserved and abundant class of small RNAs that do not code proteins, but instead function as regulatory molecules silencing their target genes at the posttranscriptional level (Bartel, 2009). In mammals miRNAs function usually by inhibiting translation by pairing to their target mRNAs but they can also degrade mRNAs (Bartel, 2004). miRNAs are involved in many processes, for example stem cell differentiation and in cell fate decision (Houbaviy et al., 2003; Hatfield et al., 2005; Karp and Ambros, 2005; Zhang et al., 2007; Jevnaker and Osmundsen, 2008).

The genes regulating development in different organs are conserved among vertebrates. The expression of genes is regulated spatially and temporally. The initiation and development of ectodermal derived organs is triggered by the temporal recruitment of highly conserved signalling molecules such as Transforming growth factor β (TGF β), FGF, Wnt, SHH, Notch and Eda signalling. All of these signalling pathways are activated by secreted ligands except Notch pathway, in which ligands are bound to the cell membrane. The signalling pathways are complex, including transmembrane receptors and usually several different intracellular signalling pathways.

3.1 TGFβ superfamily

The TGF β superfamily, including BMPs, TGFβs, Activins and Inhibins, has important roles in patterning of the embryo and tissue homeostasis, as well as in controlling many different functions such as proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis of the cells (Balemans and van Hul 2002; Kitisin et al., 2007; Wu and Hill, 2009). During the early gastrulation TGF β family ligands have an essential role determining the dorsoventral pattern of the mesoderm. BMPs and Activins are important molecules in axes formation and patterning during the early stages of development. They operate as morphogens, forming concentration gradients and regulating development in a dose-dependent manner (Wu and Hill, 2009). The TGF β superfamily signalling pathways include heteromeric receptors, several different intracellular pathways, Smad complexes, and proteins interacting with receptors or Smads. Signalling pathways are even regulated by many extracellular or intracellular inhibitors, such as Follistatin (Fst), Noggin, Sostdc1 (also called Ectodin), Chordin, Cerberus, Smurf and BAMBI (Wu and Hill, 2009). The functions of inhibitors are in many occasions redundant, for instance Fst, Noggin, and Chordin have to be simultaneously depleted in Xenopus embryo to cause the loss of embryonic dorsalisation, whereas single mutations cause only moderate changes (Khokha et al., 2005).

3.1.1 Receptors and intracellular signalling pathways

The TGF β superfamily receptors are serine – threonine kinase transmembrane receptors formed from two subunits, type I and II receptors (Wu and Hill, 2009). TGF β ligand binds to the type II receptor which then phosphorylates the type I receptor. The phosphorylation of type I receptor activates the kinase activity leading to the activation of intracellular downstream pathway and determining the specificity of intracellular signal (Figure 3). Several different downstream pathways are known, of these Smad dependent pathway is the best characterized. The TGF β pathway can also signal at least through ERK and JNK pathways (Derynck and Zhang, 2003; Miyazono et al., 2005).

Four different type II receptors and seven type I receptors have been identified (Kitisin et al., 2007). The specificity of the intracellular signals is principally determined by type I receptors (Miyazono et al., 2005). A phosphorylated type I receptor activates the intracellular signalling cascade by phosphorylating Smads (Figure 3) (Derynck and Zhang, 2003; Feng and Derynck, 2005). There are three different kinds of Smad transcription factors: receptor activated



Figure 3.

BMP and Activin signalling pathways. In both pathways ligand binds to a type II receptor (RII) which phosphorylates a type I receptor (RI) leading to the activation of intracellular Smad signalling. BMP signalling activates R-Smads 2 and 3 whereas Activin signalling activates R-Smads 1, 5 and 8. Co-Smad, Smad4, can form a complex with R-Smads from both pathways. Complete Smad complex is translocated into the nucleus where it regulates transcription. Smad6 and Smad7 antagonise the intracellular signalling by inhibiting the activation of R-Smads and Smad4.

Smads (R-Smads), common mediator Smads (co-Smads) and inhibitory Smads (I-Smads). R-Smads are specific for BMP, Activin or TGF^β signalling. Receptor activated Smad1, Smad5 and Smad8 are phosphorylated by BMPs and Smad2 and Smad3 are activated by Activin (Feng and Dervnck, 2005). The phosphorylated type I receptor phosphorylates R-Smad, which is then released and moves to interact with co-Smad. In mammals there is only one co-Smad, Smad4, which, after forming a complex with two R-Smads, translocates to the nucleus and regulates transcription (Nohe et al., 2004). Inhibitory Smad6 and Smad7 negatively regulate signalling of TGF β superfamily members by preventing the activation of R-Smad and co-Smad (Feng and Derynck, 2005).

TGFβ superfamily members have many different inhibitors. Negative regulation of BMP signalling during the early embryogenesis is essential for development of dorsal-ventral axis and induction of nervous system formation. Inhibitors of BMPs are expressed by the organiser of the gastrulation during Xenopus development, and include Noggin, Chordin, Nodal-related protein 3 and Fst (Gilbert, 2006, pp. 328). Variability between TGFβ superfamily inhibitors is created through different binding properties. For instance Fst has higher affinity in binding to Activin than to BMPs, but Noggin specifically binds and inhibits only BMPs (Nohe et al., 2004, Harrison et al., 2004).

3.1.2 BMPs

BMPs were first identified as molecules stimulating cartilage and bone formation, and indeed they participate in most of the processes associated with skeletal morphogenesis. Later BMPs were found to also have a significant role in embryonic development and essential regulatory functions in many occasions, for instance in tissue homeostasis (Nohe et al., 2004; Gilbert, 2006, pp. 153). In early embryogenesis BMP4 functions as a morphogen regulating other genes in a concentration dependent manner and is an important ventraliser of the tissues in addition to functioning in left-right axis formation. BMPs induce ectoderm to become epidermal, and in order to enable nervous system to differentiate from the ectoderm BMPs need to be inhibited. During early gastrulation, a cocktail of inhibitors secreted by the node regulate BMPs. In addition. BMPs induce somite development and they are important in patterning, for instance anterior-posterior axis of digits. In several tissues, including teeth, BMPs function as inhibitors of differentiation, and instead promote growth.

Although there are more than 20 different BMPs, only three type I and type II receptors are known to mediate BMP signalling (Nohe et al., 2004; Nie et al., 2006; Kitisin et al., 2007). Various *Bmp* knockout mice have emphasized the essential role of BMP signalling in the development. For instance, $Bmp2^{-/-}$ and $Bmp4^{-/-}$ mice die during early stages of embryogenesis, and $Bmp7^{-/-}$ are perinatally lethal (Winnier et al., 1995; Zhang and Bradley 1996; Luo et al., 1995; Dudley et al., 1995).

3.1.3 Activin

Activins are morphogens and important regulators during early embryogenesis (Green and Smith, 1990). Activin induces mesodermal tissues, for instance development of muscles and notochord, and depending on the Activin gradient genes regulate development of different mesodermal tissues in *Xenopus* embryo

(Smith et al., 1990; van den Eijnden-Van Raaij et al., 1990). Activins also participates in cell fate determination and left-right axis formation by inhibiting Shh expression and activating Fgf8 expression on the right side of the embryo. Activins have also other important functions in tissue growth, differentiation and maintenance. Activins are secreted dimers, consisting of different subunits (Sulvok et al., 2004; McDowall et al., 2008). Mice deficient in ActivinßA have severe defects in the craniofacial region and die within 24 hours of birth (Matzuk et al., 1995a). In contrast, mice deficient in ActivinßB are viable but have defects in eyelid development and reproduction (Schrewe et al., 1994; Vassalli et al., 1994). Mice homozygous to both ActivinßA and ActivinβB had combinatorial phenotypes of single Activin mutants but no additional defects, indicating that ActivinßA and ActivinßB are not functionally redundant (Matzuk et al., 1995a). Activin induces the expression of Fst, the inhibitor of both Activin and BMPs, thus forming a negative feedback loop leading to tightly controlled Activin expression (Michel et al., 1993; Hemmati-Brivanlou et al., 1994; De Winter et al., 1996; Iemura et al., 1998).

3.1.4 Follistatin - inhibitor of Activin and BMPs

Fst is the most studied Activin inhibitor (Nakamura et al., 1990; Patel, 1998; McDowall et al., 2008). Fst also inhibits BMPs and is an important negative regulator already during early embryogenesis (Michel et al., 1993; De Winter et al., 1996; Iemura et al., 1998; Fainsod et al., 1997). In *Xenopus* embryos Fst is an essential inhibitor of BMP during neural induction (Hemmati-Brivanlou et al., 1994). However, loss of Fst in mouse

does not cause neural or mesodermal defects due to the redundant functions of other inhibitors (Matzuk et al., 1995b). Fst is a secreted molecule with different isoforms formed by alternative mRNA splicing at the 3' end (Sugino et al., 1993). Activin binds to Fst with higher affinity than to Activin receptor, thus Fst is a powerful inhibitor of Activin (Schneyer et al., 1994; Thompson et al., 2005). Fst has two different mechanisms for inhibiting Activin, either by binding to Activin to inhibit binding between Activin and its receptor, or by binding to Activin on the membrane followed by internalization and degradation of the Fst-Activin complex (McDowall et al., 2008; deWinter 1996; Harrington et al., 2006). The inhibition of BMP occurs when Fst binds both the ligand and BMP type I receptor simultaneously (Iemura et al., 1998). Loss of Fst causes serious developmental problems, resulting in perinatal lethality in $Fst^{-/-}$ mice due to lung problems (Matzuk et al., 1995b). In addition, Fst^{-/-} mice have defects in the hard palate and in the skin, the growth is retarded, and the whiskers are abnormal (Matzuk et al., 1995b). Overexpression of Fst under Keratin14 promoter (K14-Fst) causes reduced body weight, larger ears and longer tails than in the wild type littermates, and wound healing is also severely delayed (Wankell et al., 2001).

3.2 FGF pathway

FGFs induce many different responses including proliferation, differentiation, migration and inhibition of apoptosis (Bates, 2006). Over 20 FGF ligands have been found in vertebrates and their functions are adjusted by several inhibitors and feedback loops (Katoh and Katoh, 2006; Orniz and Itoh, 2001). The structure of FGFs in conserved among the vertebrates and they all share a high affinity for heparin sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG). Heparin and HPSG interact with ligand and receptor to enhance the formation of the complex (Ornitz and Itoh, 2001).

FGF receptors (FGFr) are single transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptors. They can be tissue specific, either expressed in the epithelium, as FGFr1IIIb and FGFr2IIIb, or in the mesenchyme as FGFr1IIIc and FGFr3 (Kettunen et al., 1998). Hitherto four different genes encoding FGFr have been identified, and three of these can produce multiple receptor isoforms through alternative splicing (Bates, 2006). The receptors form from two subunits which are induced to dimerize upon ligand binding leading to autophosphorylation and activation of the intracellular pathways (Thisse and Thisse, 2005). FGFs signal through three different intracellular pathways, of which the best characterised is Ras-ERK MAP kinase (Itoh, 2007).

One level of FGF signalling regulation occurs through Sproutys (Spry) which inhibit the receptor tyrosine kinases interacting with Ras-ERK MAP kinase signalling (Mason et al., 2006). *Sprys* are induced by FGFs, thus interactions result a negative feedback loop. According to the current view Sprys need to be bound to the membrane in order to function (Kim and Bar-Sagi, 2004). Out of four known Sprys three have been detected in the developing tooth (Klein et al., 2006).

The phenotypes of various Fgf knockouts vary from embryonic lethality to minor changes in adults. $Fgf4^{-/-}$ mice are early embryonically lethal, and $Fgf9^{-/-}$ and $Fgf10^{-/-}$ mice die shortly after birth (Colvin et al., 2001; Feldman et al., 1995; Min et al., 1998; Sekine et al., 1999). $Fgf3^{-/-}$ mice are viable with mild defects in the inner

ear and some skeletal problems (Alvarez et al., 2003). In many cases FGFs are functionally redundant (Ornitz and Itoh, 2001).

3.3 Wnt pathway

In early *Xenopus* embryogenesis Wnt signalling participates in inducing muscle formation, specification of neural cells, generating polarity, and it regulates dorsal axis. Wnt signalling pathway has been indicated to participate in cell fate specification, proliferation, differentiation and it has been connected with and extensively studied in the context of cancer and stem cells (Chu et al., 2004; Gordon and Nusse, 2006; Blanpain et al., 2007; Haegebarth and Clevers, 2009). Until now, 19 Wnt ligands have been described in mammals.

Wnt pathway consists of several different intracellular signalling pathways activated by Wnt ligands, including Wnt/β-catenin pathway and several pathways previously referred as noncanonical pathways including planar cell polarity (PCP), Ca²⁺ related pathways and signalling mediated through receptors Ror2 or Ryk (Gordon and Nusse, 2006). Several pathways share molecules (He et al., 1997; Holmen et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2005; Mikels and Nusse, 2006). Complexity of signalling is also formed when same ligands can activate different intracellular pathways depending on the receptors and the identity of the cell receiving the signal, leading to a situation where the pathways are not easy to distinguish (Clevers, 2006; van Amerongen et al. 2008; Gordon and Nusse, 2006). Earlier the ligands were thought to regulate which intracellular pathway was activated. For instance Wnt5a was first identified as non-canonical ligand, but recently it was shown to activate or inhibit Wnt/β -catenin pathway depending on the context (Mikels and Nusse, 2006).

The best characterized pathway for the present is the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (Figure 4). The activation of the Wnt/ β catenin pathway occurs when the Wnt ligand binds to Frizzled, a transmembrane receptor, and a lipoprotein receptor related protein (LRP) 5/6 co-receptor activates the interaction between receptor complex and intracellular Dishevelled. This is followed by the inactivation of the degradation protein complex and accumulation of β -catenin in the nucleus where it interacts with members of Lymphoid enhancer factor (LEF)/ T cell factor (TCF) family of transcription factors and activates gene expression (Clevers, 2006). When Wnt ligands are absent and the pathway is inactive, β -catenin is phosphorylated and targeted to degradation by a protein complex consisting of several molecules including Axin, APC, CK1, and Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3).

Less characterized pathways include PCP, Ca²⁺ related pathways and signalling mediated through receptors Ror2 or Ryk (van Amerongen et al., 2008). Wnt/PCP and Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathways are mostly known to participate in the regulation of cell movements and orientation (Moon et al., 1993; Ungar et al., 1995; Slusarski et al., 1997; Jaffe, 1999). Activation of Wnt/PCP pathway leads to Dishevelled mediated activation of c-jun N-terminal kinase



Figure 4.

Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway is activated when β -catenin binds to Frizzled receptor and together with LRP5/6 co-receptor activates Dishevelled (Dsh). This leads to the disintegration of cytoplasmic destruction complex, thus stabilized β -catenin accumulates to the nucleus and activates its target genes.

(JNK) which affects the cytoskeletal dynamics (Yamanaka et al., 2002). Also Frizzled has a role in Wnt/PCP pathway. However, although at least several essential molecules participate both in Wnt/β-catenin and Wnt/PCP pathway, the pathways are considered to be separate and several key Wnt/β-catenin pathway molecules, such as LRP, TCF and β -catenin do not participate in Wnt/PCP pathway (van Amerongen et al., 2008). Wnt binding to Wnt/Ca²⁺ signalling pathway leads also to Frizzled mediated activation of intracellular signalling, the release of Ca^{2+} in the cells and the activation of Ca²⁺ dependent molecules (Slusarski et a., 1997; Kühl et al., 2000). There is some controversy over whether Wnt ligands are always or at all needed for the activation of Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway, and the same question has also arisen concerning the Wnt/PCP pathway activation (van Amerongen et al., 2008; Seifert and Mlodzik, 2007; Hendrickx and Leyns, 2008). Two new receptors have recently been connected with Wnt signalling, an atypical tyrosine kinase Ryk and receptor tyrosine kinase Ror2. Ryk and Ror2 have Wnt binding domains and they can interact at least with Wnt1, Wnt3a and Wnt5a (Kikuchi et al., 2007; Nusse, 2008)

The Wnt pathway is closely regulated by several inhibitors. Dickkopf1 (Dkk1), Dkk2 and Dkk4 antagonise Wnt signalling, but the role of the fourth Dkk family molecule, Dkk3, remains controversial (Caricasole et al. 2003; Hoang et al. 2004; Niehrs, 2006; Fliniaux et al., 2008; Lee et al. 2008). Dkks inhibit Wnt signalling by binding to LRP6 and preventing Wnt from binding to the receptor. As co-receptor Kremen binds to Dkk the receptor complex is internalized through endocytosis (Niehrs, 2006). Sostdc1 inhibits Wnt signalling by binding to LRP6 (Itasaki et al., 2003). Cerberus, Wnt inhibitory factor (Wif) and Secreted Frizzled related protein (Sfrp) family molecules are also Wnt inhibitors (Hsieh et al., 1999; Jones and Jomary, 2002; Kawano and Krypta, 2003).

The Wnt signalling pathway has many different mouse models, and knock out mice have been constructed of almost all Wnt ligands. The phenotypes are often severe and in many cases cause massive defects in early gastrulation, defects in axis formation for instance (Liu et al., 1999). In humans heterozygotic loss of *Wnt10a* or *Axin2* causes ectodermal defects and colorectal cancer (Adaimy et al., 2007; Lammi et al., 2004).

3.4 Notch pathway

Notch pathway can activate or inhibit many different regulatory events such as cell-fate termination, boundary formation, stem cell maintenance and cell proliferation, and it is often connected with inhibition of cell differentiation (High and Epstein, 2007). An important function of Notch signalling during embryonic cellfate termination is lateral inhibition, i.e. the mechanism how Notch can cause two identical cells to adopt different fates (Doe and Goodman, 1985). In mammals, the Notch pathway consists of five ligands and four receptors. The ligands belong to two different families, Jagged and Delta-like (Dll). Although Dll3 is structurally similar to other Dlls it is unclear whether Dll3 functions as Notch ligand (Chiba, 2006). The ligands are transmembrane proteins, thus they only activate adjacent cells.

The Notch receptor is activated following ligand binding and leads to consecutive cleavages of the receptor and the cleavage of Notch intracellular domain (NICD) by γ -secretase. NICD is then

transferred into the nucleus where it forms a complex with co-activators leading to the activation of the transcription (Fortini, 2009). Recent results also suggest that cellular context has an influence on the amplitude and duration of Notch signalling activity (Kopan and Ilagan, 2009).

Notch signalling can be modulated by several molecules acting either antagonistically or synergistically depending on the cellular and receptor context. Fringe proteins can enhance or inhibit signalling, and Numb, which often antagonise Notch signalling, can in some cases function also synergistically with Notch (Kopan and Ilagan, 2009).

Most of the mouse mutants with a gene knocked out from the Notch signalling family have phenotype indicating that not much redundancy exists between Notch pathway genes. Mice deficient in a single Notch pathway gene can either have minor phenotype defects or die during the development. For instance mice deficient in Notch1, Notch2, Dll1 or Jagged1 are embryonically lethal, but Jagged2 deficient mice die perinatally (Swiatek et al., 1994; Conlon et al., 1995; Hamada et al., 1999; Xue et al., 1999; Jiang et al., 1998). Notch3 or Notch4 knock out mice, however, are viable and fertile (Krebs et al., 2000, 2003).

3.5 Shh pathway

The Hedgehog (Hh) family consists of three known molecules, Desert hedgehog (Dhh), Indian hedgehog (Ihh), and Sonic hedgehog (Shh). Hedgehog molecules have essential roles in leftright asymmetry, formation of the organs, in patterning of the limbs and in stem cell maintenance. During development Hh molecules act as gradient depending morphogens controlling distinct cell fates (Ingham and McMahon, 2001).

Shh is the only Hh molecule expressed in the developing tooth (Bitgood and McMahon, 1995). Shh binds to the multipass transmembrane receptor Patched (Ptc) thereby releasing another multipasstransmembrane protein, Smoothened, from the suppression of Ptc. This leads to the activation of the intracellular signalling cascade through serine threonine kinase 3 (STK3) and stabilisation of Gli family members (Katoh and Katoh, 2006). Intracellular signalling is mediated by Gli transcription factors and the end result can be either activation or inhibition of the target gene. In the absence of Ptc activation, Glis are ubiqutinated and partially degraded.

3.6 Ectodysplasin pathway

The Ectodysplasin (Eda) pathway is one of the Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) superfamily members. Eda is essential for the development of many ectodermally derived organs, and defects in its signalling pathway causes a syndrome called hypohidrotic ectodermal dysplasia (HED) in humans. Eda pathway is activated when the Eda ligand binds to a Eda receptor (Edar) and modulates the cytosolic adaptor molecule Edar-associated death domain (Edaradd) (Mikkola and Thesleff, 2003). The binding of Edar to Edaradd leads to interaction with other adaptor molecules, for example Traf6 in vivo. This complex activates an intracellular signalling cascade leading to the activation of the canonical Nuclear factor- κB (NF- κB) pathway (Mikkola, 2009). Eda has several known target genes. For instance, it regulates the expression of two BMP antagonists, connective tissue growth factor (Ccn2/ ctgf) and Fst, as well as Dkk4, a Wnt

inhibitor (Pummila et al., 2007; Fliniaux et al., 2008).

Mouse models deficient in Eda, Edar or Edaradd arose by spontaneous mutations, but the genetic basis of the pathway was discovered only several years ago (Kere et al., 1996; Srivastava et al., 1997; Yan et al., 2000; Headon et al., 2001). The phenotypes of these mouse mutants are similar and malformations can be seen for instance as reduced number of hairs, missing and misshapen teeth and the total absence of sweat glands (Mikkola et al., 2009). In humans HED causes phenotypic characteristics resembling that of the mouse phenotype. Eda has been shown to promote placodal cell fate but it is not the first signal to trigger fate decision (Mustonen et al., 2004).

4. Molecular regulation of tooth development

4.1 Initiation and tooth identity

BMPs and FGFs, expressed in the epithelium, are essential participants in the initiation of tooth development. FGF8 induces mesenchymal expression of transcription factor Pax9 in the branchial arch mesenchyme at E10, while BMP4 inhibits Pax9 expression (Neubüser et al., 1997). In Pax9^{-/-} mice, tooth development arrests at the bud stage, due to the lack of mesenchymal expression of *Bmp4*, *Msx1* and Lef1, regulated by Pax9 (Peters et al., 1998). Pitx2 and Shh are first expressed restrictedly in the dental lamina and later in the tooth placodes (Keränen et al., 1999). During the initiation of tooth development the odontogenic potential is situated in the epithelium, thus the first signal comes from the epithelium and regulates the mesenchyme. However, the odontogenic potential remains in the epithelium only for a short while, and at E12.5 the potential shifts to the mesenchyme, which then becomes the regulator of further tooth development (Kollar and Baird 1970; Mina & Kollar 1987; Vainio et al., 1993; Chen et al., 1996). After the shift the mesenchyme is also capable of inducing nondental epithelium to develop and form a tooth (Kollar & Baird1969; Ruch1987; Vainio et al., 1993). The formation of epithelial thickenings, or placodes, within the dental lamina, indicates the beginning of the tooth development at E11. Signalling centers within the placodes express many molecules regulating tooth development and induce condensation in the underlying mesenchyme (Åberg et al., 1997; Dassule and McMahon, 1998; Keränen et al., 1998; Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999). The epithelial placodes express Bmp4, and BMP4 induces the expression of several genes, including Msx1, Msx2, Bmp4 and Lef1, in the condensing mesenchyme (Vainio et al., 1993; Kratochwil et al., 1996; Bei and Maas, 1998). Deficiency in several different genes for instance both Msx1 and Msx2, Pitx2 or p63 arrests tooth development in the initiation stage, (Lin et al., 1999; Satokata et al., 2000; Laurikkala et al., 2006). Schematic presentation of molar and incisor development is in Figure 5.

4.2 Bud stage

The tooth bud begins to form as an invagination of the epithelium at E11.5. The epithelial cell population at the tip of the bud forms a new signalling centre at the late bud stage, the primary enamel knot, which begins to express wide variety of signalling molecules belonging to many different signalling families, including Fgfs, Bmps, Shh, and Wnts (Thesleff, 2003). The primary enamel knot,

consisting of condensed non-proliferating epithelial cells, is essential in regulating proliferation and the continuation of the tooth development, and it remains to direct the tooth development through the cap stage and regulate formation of secondary enamel knots (Jernvall et al., 1994). Msx2 and *p21*, which are induced by BMP4 from the mesenchyme, are the early markers of the enamel knot (Jernvall et al., 1998). p21, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor associated with cessation of proliferation and beginning of terminal differentiation, might be involved with the differentiation of enamel knot cells (Bloch-Zupan et al., 1998; Jernvall et al., 1998).

The transition stage between bud and cap stage is an important step triggering the development of the tooth crown morphology, and in many mice deficient in a certain gene tooth development is arrested at this step. For instance in $Fgfr2b^{-/-}$, $Pax9^{-/-}$, $Lef1^{-/-}$, $Msx1^{-/-}$ and $Bmpr1A^{-/-}$ mice tooth development is arrested at the bud stage (van Genderen et al., 1994; Chen et al., 1996; Peters et al., 1998; De Moerlooze et al., 2000). In *Activin* $\beta A^{-/-}$ mouse the development of incisors and mandibular molars is arrested at the bud stage, but the maxillary molars are unaffected, indicating that some other signalling pathway must regulate the development of maxillary molars (Ferguson et al., 1998).

4.3 Cap stage and development of tooth crown morphology

The transition from the bud to cap stage begins as the bud starts to grow and surround condensed mesenchyme, the dental papilla. The tips of the flanking epithelium surrounding the dental papilla form cervical loops which later participate in root development. Development of the cervical loop, comprised of stellate reticulum, stratum intermedium and inner or outer dental epithelium, is initiated by the primary enamel knot, but while the flanking epithelium continues to grow



Figure 5.

Embryonic development of mouse teeth. The early stages of molar and incisor development are similar. The first signal of the tooth development comes from the epithelium and the early signalling centre begins to regulate the underlying mesenchyme. The differences between molar and incisor begin to arise during the cap stage and the characteristic shapes and structures of both teeth are distinct at the bell stage. Enamel knot, an epithelial signalling centre appears at the cap stage to regulate the tooth development. Epithelium is in dark grey and mesenchyme in light grey. Abbreviations: ide, inner dental epithelium; ode, outer dental epithelium. the regulatory role of the enamel knot is lost. Typical characteristics of the cap stage, regulated by primary enamel knot, are rapid cell proliferation and folding of the epithelium, which lead to the changes in crown morphogenesis (Jernvall et al., 1994). The primary enamel knot is a transient structure and it is removed by BMP4 induced apoptosis during the transition from cap to bell stage (Vaahtokari et al., 1996; Jernvall et al., 1998). During the bell stage the shape of the crown is determined and the variable morphologies of the teeth begin to take shape under strict regulation. The primary enamel knot controls the localisation of secondary enamel knots, which arise in area of the future cusp tips and as signalling centres regulate the tooth morphogenesis and cusp patterning (Jernvall et al., 1994). According to the morphodynamic model, activators, presumably BMPs, and inhibitors, presumably FGFs and Shh, are expressed in the primary enamel knot and regulate the formation and localisation of secondary enamel knots (Salazar-Ciudad and Jernvall, 2002). The activator promotes cell differentiation by inducing the formation of an enamel knot, but the inhibitor promotes growth and inhibits differentiation. The dynamics of the activator and inhibitor regulate the area where enamel knots are formed and cell differentiation occurs. Tooth shape varies widely between different mammalian species, and even the different teeth within a species are variable. The variability between tooth morphologies is regulated by the same set of genes indicating the importance of fine tuning of the gene network. The secondary enamel knots express many signalling molecules, for instance Fgf4, Fgf9, Shh, Bmp4, Wnt10b, p21, Lef1 and Msx2 (Keränen et al., 1998; Kettunen and Thesleff, 1998).

4.4 Bell stage and cell differentiation

The differentiation of the distinct dental cell types, which is also regulated by epithelial mesenchymal interactions, begins at the early bell stage. Many aspects concerning the cell differentiation still remain unclear due to the complicated and reiterative nature of this signalling. During the bell stage odontoblasts and ameloblasts differentiate and begin to form dentin and enamel, covering the tooth crown. Secondary enamel knots disappear at the late bell stage after the cusps are initiated (Vaahtokari et al., 1996). Slit3, marker of primary and secondary enamel knots, remains in several cells of the secondary enamel knot after the histological structures of the knot are lost (Løes et al., 2001; Luukko et al., 2003). Later Slit3 is detected in a cluster of epithelial cells remaining next to the enamel free area of the molar cusps, suggesting a presence of tertiary enamel knot (Luukko et al., 2003).

Odontoblasts differentiate from the dental papilla mesenchymal cells adjacent to the inner dental epithelium. The differentiation of the odontoblasts begins from the tips of the cusps next to the secondary enamel knots which presumably participate in odontoblast differentiation (Thesleff et al., 2001). The cells in a single cell layer aligning the inner dental epithelium first differentiate into cuboidal preodontoblasts, which elongate into columnar odontoblasts and become polarised. Shh is necessary for the organisation and polarisation of the odontoblast cell layer, although it is not needed for cellular differentiation (Dassule et al., 2000). Odontoblasts produce dentin matrix, consisting mainly of type I collagen. Mesenchymal pulp cells are able to maintain the dentin by differentiating

to odontoblasts and regenerating dentin in case of injury, for example caries (Nanci, 2008, pp.103, 205).

Several molecules have been shown to induce odontoblast differentiation in vitro, including members of the TGF^β signalling family and FGFs (Vaahtokari et al., 1991; Cam et al., 1992; Bègue-Kirn et al., 1992, 1994). A combination of either BMP2 and TGF^{β1} or FGF¹ and TGF^{β1} induce the differentiation of odontoblasts in the isolated dental papilla (Bègue-Kirn et al., 1992; Unda et al., 2000). Bmp4 is expressed in the preodontoblasts but it is downregulated in the odontoblasts where *Bmp2* expression, nonetheless, is upregulated (Nakashima 1994; Nakashima and Reddi, 2003, Yamashiro et al., 2003). BMP2 and BMP4 stimulate odontoblast differentiation in vitro (Vainio et al., 1993). These results suggest that BMPs have an essential role in the odontoblast differentiation. In addition, BMP2, BMP4 and BMP7 induce odontoblasts to produce dentin, and BMP2 recombinant protein induces differentiation of dental pulp stem cells into odontoblasts in vitro, indicating that BMPs also participate in the regeneration of odontoblasts (Nakashima, 1994; Rutherford et al., 1994; Iohara et al., 2004). Wnt signalling has also been indicated as a participant in dentin formation. Continuous stabilisation of β -catenin in the mesenchyme disrupts the differentiation of both odontoblasts and ameloblasts (Chen et al., 2009). In addition, Wnt10a is expressed in the secretory odontoblasts together with dentin sialophosphoprotein (Dspp), and it is suggested to be upstream regulator of Dspp, and to participate in dentin mineralization (Yamashiro et al., 2007).

Ameloblasts are columnar and polarised cells differentiating from the inner dental epithelium and forming an

organised cell layer lining the basement membrane. Ameloblast differentiation can be divided in three consecutive stages, presecretory, secretory and maturation, which are responsible for different functions. The ameloblast layer is characterised by strong cell-cell adhesion, especially during secretory stage. Ameloblasts synthesise and secrete proteins specific to enamel, eventually forming enamel, the most highly mineralized tissue in the vertebrates. Unlike odontoblasts, ameloblasts are removed by apoptosis after maturation of the enamel or at the eruption of the tooth. Thus, after the enamel is formed it cannot be regenerated anymore. As the structure of the enamel is highly mineralized and organised, it partially compensates for this limitation on regeneration.

The differentiation of ameloblasts requires signals from the functional odontoblasts and predentin or dentin, but ameloblasts themselves also express many genes presumably participating in cell differentiation and enamel formation (Zeichner-David et al., 1995). Enamel secretion begins once dentin mineralization has started. To date several genes, most of them participating also in odontoblast differentiation, have been suggested to regulate ameloblast differentiation, for instance BMPs and FGFs. Bmp2, Bmp4, Bmp5 and Bmp7 are expressed in the epithelium and ameloblasts, suggesting a contribution to ameloblast differentiation (Åberg et al., 1997; Heikinheimo et al., 1998). Upregulation of BMP inhibitor Noggin under keratin14 (K14-Noggin) cause abnormal differentiation of ameloblasts and defective or lost enamel layer (Plikus et al., 2005). In addition, Bmp2 and $Tgf\beta1$, expressed by odontoblasts, induce ameloblast differentiation in vitro (Coin et al., 1999).

The role of FGFs is shown in the mouse incisor where unbalanced FGF signalling results ectopic ameloblast differentiation (Klein et al., 2008).

Amelogenesis imperfecta (AI) is a heterogenous group of inherited defects in enamel formation. The variability in the enamel defects in many cases is caused by the timing of amelogenesis disruption. Changes in several ameloblast specific genes, in Amelogenin, Ameloblastin, Enamelysin, Kallikrein-related peptidase-4 and Fam83H, are known to cause defects in the enamel, (Gibson et al., 2001; Caterina et al., 2002; Paine et al., 2003; Fukumoto et al., 2004; Hart et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2008). Similarly, many different genes have been reported to cause defects in the enamel in various mouse mutants, either in loss of function or gain of function situations. For instance, overexpression of Eda, Wnt3 or $Tgf\beta 1$ causes aberrant or lost enamel layer (Haryuama et al., 2006; Millar et al., 2003; Mustonen et al., 2004). Shh, expressed both in the preameloblasts and ameloblasts, has a role in ameloblast differentiation and proliferation, as shown through loss of function experiments (Dassule et al., 2000; Gritli-Linde et al., 2002). In Msx2 deficient mice, ameloblasts reach secretory stage and the secreted enamel is abnormal, indicating that Msx2 controls ameloblast terminal differentiation (Bei et al., 2004). Mutations in Distal-less homeobox 3 (Dlx3) are associated with tricho-dentoosseous syndrome in humans causing for instance hypoplasia in the enamel (Price et al., 1998). Deficiency of *T*-box 1 (*Tbx1*) causes loss of ameloblasts and enamel in mouse (Catón et al., 2009). Upregulated FGF signalling induces ectopic expression of Tbx1 and Amelogenin, indicating the signalling interaction (Mitsiadis et al., 2008a; Catón et al., 2009). The phenotype

in Chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor-interacting protein 2 (*Ctip2*, also called *Bcl11b*) deficient mice show unpolarised ameloblasts in the unorganised ameloblast cell layer, but surprisingly also ectopic ameloblasts in the lingual side of the incisor (Golonzhka et al., 2009).

4.5 Continuously growing mouse incisors

Mouse incisors grow continuously to replace the wear of the tooth on the apical end. The maintained asymmetrical cervical loops, which harbour epithelial stem cells, and asymmetric ameloblast differentiation and enamel deposition are two characteristics responsible for the distinct structures of incisor. The deposition of enamel only on the labial side, and thus lingual side covered predominantly with dentin, keeps the teeth sharp as the upper and lower incisors are gnawed against each others. However, due to the asymmetric enamel distribution incisors are also more susceptible to wear, and continuous regeneration is required for tooth maintenance. Due to the morphology the lingual side of the incisor is called the root analogue and the labial side, covered by enamel, is called the crown analogue. The molecular mechanisms regulating the formation of asymmetric structures of the incisor began to be uncovered in this thesis work.

The initial morphological differences between molar and continuously growing mouse incisors arise early in the cap stage. In the cap stage incisor the flanking epithelium, which is beginning to surround the condensed mesenchyme, starts to proliferate and grow asymmetrically, leading to different sized lingual and labial cervical loops (Figures 5 and 6). Labial cervical loop cells proliferate efficiently and the labial epithelial tissue becomes larger than the lingual cervical loop. The cervical loop area consists of the loose stellate reticulum cells surrounded by a denser cell layer of stratum intermedium. The outermost epithelial cell layer is the basal layer, which on the tooth papilla side is called the inner dental epithelium and on the follicle side outer dental epithelium.

The differences between lingual and labial cervical loops of the incisor increase after cell differentiation begins. Odontoblast differentiation begins on the both sides, but ameloblast differentiation occurs only on the labial side (Figure 6). As development continues dentin is secreted around the incisor but enamel is restricted on the labial side. Ameloblasts in different consecutive stages can be visualised from the proximal to apical end on the labial side of an incisor, as newly differentiated, pre-secretory stage ameloblasts reside in the proximal area and the ameloblasts in the maturation

stage reside in the apical area. During the late bell stage of molar development the stellate reticulum of the cervical loop is lost and the tissue begins to differentiate to the HERS. However, in the incisor the stellate reticulum is sustained, consisting of only a few cells on the lingual side but on the labial side harbouring large compartment of loose cells. The cervical loop comprises the epithelial stem cells of the incisor, which are responsible for continuous ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation (Harada et al., 1999). In the molar HERS initiates root formation and the fragments of HERS give rise to ERM. However, on the lingual side of the continuously growing mouse incisor, in the continuously growing roots of sloth molar and in K14-Eda mice incisors epithelium fragments and forms ERM although HERS is not formed, thus questioning whether HERS is always necessary for root formation (Tummers and Thesleff, 2008). I will discuss the molecular mechanisms regulating incisor development later.



Figure 6.

The structure of a continuously growing mouse incisor during the late bell stage. Labial and lingual cervical loop have distinguished structures. Lingual cervical loop consists only of inner and outer dental epithelium whereas labial cervical loop includes additionally large stellate reticulum harbouring epithelial stem cells. Odontoblasts differentiate and dentin is formed on both labial and lingual side but ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation is restricted to the labial side.

5. Stem cells

In addition to their role in embryogenesis, stem cells are needed to maintain tissue homeostasis in normal cell turnover and in case of injury in the adult. Defining a stem cell is complicated due to different characters and variable amount of plasticity identified in undifferentiated cells. During early embryonic development cells can be totipotent and are able to differentiate into all kinds of cells of the body. Later stem cell plasticity diminishes and different characteristics between stem cells and differentiated cells become more ambiguous. A remarkable amount of plasticity remains in some adult stem cells, for instance a mammary gland or a crypt of the intestine can be rebuild from a single cell (Shackleton et al., 2006; Sato et al., 2009).

5.1 Characteristics of stem cells

Stem cells can be defined as self-renewing, slowly proliferating, having potency to differentiate into a single or several type of differentiated cells and forming more stem cells out of a single cell (Melton and Cowan, 2004; Slack, 2009). During proliferation the stem cell generates two daughter cells with similar characteristics to the stem cell or one daughter cell that is identical to the stem cell and another committed cell beginning to differentiate and thus having more restricted plasticity (Molofsky et al., 2004; Mitsiadis et al., 2007). The committed cell can give rise to increasingly committed cells with less plasticity and which might show some kind of differentiation. The differentiation capability of the stem cell diminishes gradually and it is regulated by the surrounding environment. Usually, committed cells cannot return to less committed stage, but sometimes differentiated cells can transdifferentiate into some other kind of cell type. During embryonic development transdifferentiation occurs, for example, in neural crest cells which are originally epithelial cells but transdifferentiate into mesenchymal cells before migrating to the branchial archs (Gilbert, 2006). Recently, induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells were induced from embryonic and adult fibroblast cells, and they share many characteristics typical to embryonic stem cells, most importantly the potential to differentiate into tissues from all three germ layers (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Maherali et al., 2007; Meissner et al., 2007; Wernig et al., 2007; Yamanaka et al., 2007). iPS cells may be in the future a source of stem cells for tissue engineering, substituting the embryonic stem cells and thus resolving ethical problems concerning the use of embryonic derived stem cells. The iPS cells are induced using Oct3/4, Sox2, c-myc and Klf4 (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). Proto-oncogene c-myc is a probable cause of tumorigenic characteristics typical to some of the iPS cells, thus substituting molecules have been under search, the newest results showing that hypoxia may be a solution (Yoshida et al., 2009). Thus, many characteristics of iPS cells and the technique of cell induction still need to be analysed precisely before clinical applications can be tested.

Another typical character of stem cells, slow proliferation, is thought to occur to avoid accumulating mutations. In mammals stem cells are usually in a quiescent state or cell cycle is extremely slow (Cheshier et al., 1999; Melton and Cowan, 2004). However, recent results have indicated that stem cells are not always quiescent (Barker et al., 2007). Stem cells and the surrounding tissue together create a niche (Ohlstein et al.,

2004; Moore and Lemischka, 2006). The niche is often responsible for keeping the stem cells in an undifferentiated state and maintaining their stemness, thus inhibiting differentiation in an environment consisting of differentiated cells. Several molecules participating in the regulation of stem cells have been uncovered. For instance, addition of BMP to the serum in vitro induces downstream target Inhibitor of differentiation (Id), which maintains the undifferentiated state of the stem cells and inhibits neuronal differentiation (Ying et al., 2003). Also ActivinA is capable for maintaining the self-renewal and pluripotency of human embryonic stem cells in vitro by inducing several molecules including Oct4, Nanog, Wnt3 and Fgf8, and suppressing BMP signal (Xiao et al., 2006).

Identifying a stem cell is complicated because common molecules for stem cells still remain unrecognised and may not even exist, and in many tissues a specific stem cell marker is unknown. Most known stem cell markers identify only one or few types of different stem cells. This suggests that stem cell niches in different tissues are regulated by variable signalling. One typical feature of stem cells, the slow cycling velocity, has been used as an identifying character. Long term labelretention method labels slowly cycling cells and it has been used to label stem cells for instance in the hair follicle and intestine (Cotsarelis et al., 1990; Potten et al., 1974). However, recently new results concerning the localisation of stem cells in the intestine and the validity of stem cell recognition by label retaining method have been questioned. The +4 cells in the intestine were recognized as stem cells because of their status as label retaining cells (LRC). Conversely to this, recent experiments, done with a stem cell marker, identified the stem cells among crypt base cells (Barker et al., 2007). These cells are actively proliferating cells, indicating that occasionally slow proliferation cannot be utilised as a character identifying stem cells. An overview of common or proposed stem cell markers in epidermis, feathers, hairs, intestine, bone marrow and mouse incisors is in Table1.

5.2 Stem cell niche

The current hypothesis is that the stem cells are located in particular stem cells niches in the tissues. The niche is a compartment that maintains stem cells in an undifferentiated stage and regulates proliferation (Melton and Cowan, 2004; Ohlstein et al., 2004; Moore and Lemischka, 2006; Mitsiadis et al., 2007; Fuchs, 2009). It consists of stem cells and the surrounding tissue, comprised of both differentiated cells and extracellular matrix (Tumbar et al., 2004). The combination of intrinsic stem cells factors and the niche maintains the undifferentiated stage of stem cells and regulates proliferation. The microenvironment surrounding the stem cells forms a barrier against differentiation inducing signalling and, simultaneously, the stem cells in the niche express genes that maintain the quiescence. When the stem cells are removed from the niche they show a high degree of plasticity by proliferating and differentiating actively, thus demonstrating the importance of the niche as a regulatory environment (Watt and Hogan, 2000). The stem cell niche is a unique environment which varies in different tissues, and in addition, the development of the stem cells and niches remains unknown. However, it is not evident that stem cells always need a niche. For instance, in the mammalian intestine stem cells are located between

Table1.

An overview of regulatory genes or signalling networks and proposed or common markers of several stem cells.

Stem cell tissue	Regulatory genes/ signalling networks of stem cells	Proposed/common marker genes	References for signalling networks	References for marker genes
Incisor epihtelium (cervical loop)	FGF10, Notch1, FGF3*, BMP4*, Activin*, Fst*, Spry, Shh	Identified as label retaining cells, Lgr5*	Harada el al., 1999; Dassule et al., 2000; Tummers and Thesleff, 2003; Klein et al., 2008	Harada et al., 1999
Tooth mesenchyme (papilla)	Notch, BMP2	Recognition with similar group of markers as bone marrow stem cells, single-colony selection, Notch1, Nestin	Mitsiadis et al., 1999; Iohara et al., 2004	Gronthos et al., 2000; Seo et al., 2004; Morsczeck et al., 2005a; Sonoyama et al., 2006
Hair follilce (bulge)	Wnt/β-catenin, BMP2, BMP4, TGFβ, Shh, Notch, FGFs, p63	Integrinα6, CD34, Lgr5 (during telogen), Keratin15, Keratin14, p63, Tcf3	van Genderen et al., 1994; Zhou et al., 1995; St-Jaques et al., 1998; Kratochwil et al., 1996; DasGupta and Fuchs, 1999; Blanpain et al., 2004; Kobielak et al., 2003, 2007; Andl et al., 2004; Vauclair et al., 2005	Li et al., 1998; Lyle et al., 1998; Mills et al., 1999; Yang et al., 1999; Kaur and Li, 2000; Liu et al., 2003; Trempus et al., 2003; Jaks et al., 2008
Epidermis	Notch, mitogen- activated protein kinase (MAPK), nuclear factor-κB, Wnt/β-catenin, BMP, Shh, Id, p63	Integrinβ1	Seitz et al., 1998; Fan and Khavari, 1999; Yang et al., 1999; Rangarajan et al., 2001; Nickoloff et al., 2000; Koster et al., 2004; Tumbar et al., 2004; Mou et al., 2006; Blanpain et al., 2006	Barrandon and Green, 1987; Jones and Watt, 1993; Jones et al., 1995
Feather	Wnt1, Wnt3a, Wnt11, Dkk, Shh, BMP2, BMP4, Notch	Identified as label retaining cells	Jung et al., 1998; Viallet et al., 1998; Morgan et al., 1998; Scaal et al., 2002; Chang et al., 2003	Yue et al., 2005
Intestine (crypt)	Wnt/β-catenin signaling, BMP, PTEN, Notch	Lgr5, Prominin1, Bmi1	Korinek et al., 1998; Jensen et al., 2000; Pinto et al., 2003; Kuhnert et al., 2004; Ireland et al., 2004; Haramis et al., 2004; van Es and Clevers, 2005; Fevr et al., 2007; He et al., 2004, 2007	Barker et al., 2007; Sangiorgi and Capeachi, 2008; Montgomery and Shivdasani, 2009
Bone marrow	Bmi1, GATA2, Gfi1, Lmo2, Runx1, Scl/tal1, Tel, Mll, Jagged1, Notch, CXCR4	Recognition for example with high levels of c-Kit (CD117), Sca1, CD34 and CD150; low levels of CD244, CD48, B220, CD3, CD4, CD5, CD8, Mac1, GR1, Ter119 and NK1.1	Calvi et al., 2003; Sugiyama et al., 2006; Begley et al., 1989; Boehm et al., 1988; Miyoshi et al., 1991; Golub et al., 1991; Collins and Rabbitts, 2002; Lessard and Sauvageau, 2003; Park et al., 2003	Menichella et al., 1999; Murray et al., 1995; Pearce et al., 2004; Yamamoto et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2001; Kiel et al., 2005

*These are discussed later in the chapter Results and discussion (III and IV)

differentiated cells (Barker et al., 2007). The signalling regulating the choice between undifferentiation and differentiation within the progenv of a stem cell is not very well known. Several prominent mechanisms suggest that the fate of the progeny cells can be regulated by asymmetric compartmentalization of intracellular molecules during the division of a cell or the asymmetric division of a cell in the line of basement membrane (Wilson and Kotton, 2008). The epithelial stem cell niches in the crypt of the intestine and in the epidermis have been studied intensely, but also epithelial stem cell niches in continuously growing mouse incisor, hair and feather follicles have been under active research. The localisation of different epithelial stem cell niches are indicated in Figure 7. An overview of regulatory genes or signalling networks in several stem cell niches, including epidermis, feathers, hairs, intestine, bone marrow and mouse incisors is in Table 1.

Hematopoetic stem cells (HSCs) are among the most studied and best

characterized stem cells. HSCs reside in the bone marrow of adults and can differentiate into all blood cell lineages (Orkin and Zon, 2008). The mature blood cells are short lived, thus the proliferation of the progenitors has to be effective, although HSCs are mainly quiescent.

5.3 Epidermal, hair follicle and feather stem cells

During adult homeostasis epidermis is mainly maintained by inter follicular epidermis (IFE) stem cells, residing in the basal layer (Ito et al., 2005). Stem cells responsible for hair follicle regeneration are located in a niche in the hair follicle bulge (Cotsarelis et al., 1990; Tumbar et al., 2004). However, after a wound hair follicle stem cells participate in the repairing of both epidermis and sebaceous glands (Morris et al., 2004; Levy et al., 2005; Levy et al., 2007). Single, cultured hair follicle stem cell can differentiate into all cell lineages of epidermis, thus they are able to reconstitute whole IFE (Blanplain



Figure 7.

Epithelial stem cell niches in a continuously growing incisor, in a crypt of intestine, in a hair follicle and in a feather follicle. The niches or stem cells are indicated by arrows. The epithelial stem cells of the incisor are located in the labial cervical loop. In the hair follicle stem cells are in the bulge and in the feather follicle they are in the collar bulge. The intestinal stem cells are the crypt basal cells.

et al., 2004; Rochat et al., 1994; Claudinot et al., 2005). In addition, progenitors of the isthmus and sebaceous glands are situated in the outer root sheath between the bulge and sebaceous gland (Ghazizadeh and Taichman, 2001; Nijhof et al., 2006).

Hair and feathers undergo continuous cycling maintained by stem cells, but they use different types of strategies to preserve their stem cells during moulting. Hair follicle stem cells migrate from the bulge to bulb during the growth stage and begin to proliferate (Cotsarelis et al., 1990; Tumbar et al., 2004). Stem cells give rise to all epithelial layers of the follicle during growth (Cotsarelis 2006; Fuchs, 2007). The activation and fate decision of the hair follicle stem cells are regulated by Wnts while BMP signalling functions as a regulator of quiescent (Table 1) (DasGupta and Fuchs, 1999; Blanpain et al., 2004; Kobielak et al., 2003, 2007; Andl et al., 2004).

Feathers do not have structure similar to the hair follicle bulge. Instead feather stem cells, identified as LRCs, are located in the collar bulge in the growing follicle and in the papilla ectoderm in the moulting follicle (Yue et al., 2005). Cell migration patterns between hair and feather are different and feather LRCs are not as quiescent as hair stem cells (Kopan et al., 2002; Morris et al., 2004; Yue et al., 2005). The more active proliferation in feather stem cells might be due to faster growth rate in the feather follicle compared to in the hair follicle. The localisation of LRCs also plays an essential role in the formation of radial symmetry in feathers (Yue et al., 2005).

5.4 Intestinal stem cells

Wnt, Shh and BMP signalling participate in the regulation of crypt development in

the intestine. Recently several potential epithelial stem cell markers have been identified in the intestine, including Leucine rich repeat containing G-protein coupled receptor 5 (Lgr5), Prominin1 (also called CD133) and Bmi1 (Barker et al., 2007; Sangiorgi et al., 2008; Snippert et al., 2009). The common feature between these molecules is that they were already known as tumour associated genes.

Lgr5, an orphan G protein-coupled receptor, is a Wnt downstream target gene and was recently found to be a molecule specifically recognising the population of intestinal stem cells and the hair follicle stem cells (McDonald et al., 1998; Hermey et al, 1999; van der Flier et al., 2007; Barker et al., 2007; Jaks et al., 2008). The analyses of the crypt cell population in the intestine marked by Lgr5 showed that the cells had many characteristics of the stem cells including self-renewal and multipotency, but, surprisingly, the cells proliferated actively (Barker et al., 2007). However, the Lgr5 positive stem cells were crypt basal cells (CBCs) and not the +4 positioned cells earlier identified as stem cells. Recent results indicate that Lgr5 positive stem cells differentiate into four different cell types, and a single Lgr5 expressing cell can generate all these cell types and form villus-like domains (Sato et al., 2009).

6. Stem cells in teeth

Albeit nearly all tissues have stem cells maintaining the normal tissue homeostasis, stem cells in the teeth, excluding continuously growing teeth, are only located in the mesenchyme, thus mesenchymal tissues are regenerated. The mesenchymal stem cells can differentiate for instance into odontoblasts, but the molecular mechanism regulating differentiation remains unsolved despite many recently obtained advances. Epithelial stem cells are not maintained in most teeth and enamel forming ameloblasts are lost when the tooth erupts into the oral cavity. Although enamel is not replaced, the structure of the enamel as the hardest tissue of the mammalian body makes the tooth capable to endure plenty of exertion. None but continuously growing teeth maintain epithelial stem cells (Thesleff and Tummers, 2008).

Damage to or even loss of the teeth during a lifetime is common. The methods to repair the damage and replace the teeth artificially are nowadays well developed. However, even more natural and functionally superior alternatives are continuously under research, and new bioengineering methods have recently been developed. For instance, teeth can be cultured from dissociated and then recombined dental epithelial and mesenchymal cells in vitro and in vivo, and eventually they form a complete functional tooth (Nakao et al., 2007; Ikeda et al., 2009). Regeneration of a tooth can be manipulated with different stem cells together with dental structures in vivo (Duailibi et al., 2004). The regeneration of a certain tissue or even the whole tooth for clinical use has been the main goal in research concerning tooth stem cells. This goal can only be reached when further understanding of the stem cells has been uncovered.

Several different mesenchymal dental stem cells have been identified, including dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs), dental follicle precursor cells (DFPCs) and apical papilla stem cells (SCAP) (Gronthos et al., 2000; Seo et al., 2004; Morsczeck et al., 2005a; Sonoyama et al., 2006). In addition, easily accessible stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) were isolated from pulp of human deciduous incisor and showed high plasticity in differentiation (Miura et al., 2003).

DPSCs were isolated from the pulp of the adult human teeth but their exact location and whether the stem cells are located in the exact niche or not remains unknown (Gronthos et al., 2000). The DPSCs have significant plasticity and are able to differentiate into odontoblasts as well as into several other mesenchyme derived pulp cells (Gronthos et al., 2002). Notch signalling has been suggested to have a role in mesenchymal stem cell regeneration (Mitsiadis et al., 1999). *In vitro*, BMP2 can induce differentiation of dental pulp stem cells into odontoblasts (Iohara et al., 2004).

Mesenchymal dental stem cells were also found from periodontal ligaments (PDL) (Seo et al., 2004). PDLSCs not only regenerate PDL, they also participate in the regeneration of alveolar bone and cementum. PDLSCs can differentiate for instance into cementoblast-like cells and adipocytes, and in transplantation experiments in rat molars PDLSCs formed a layer of cementum and collagen fibers (Seo et al., 2004).

DFPCs were isolated from the dental follicle and were able to differentiate into osteoblast, cementoblast, adipocyte and some even to neuronal like cell types (Morsczeck et al., 2005a; Morsczeck et al., 2005b; Ernst et al., 2009). DFPCs share some similar characteristics and behave similarly when induced to differentiate *in vivo* as PDLSCs (Morsczeck et al., 2005a; Morsczeck et al., 2005b). Recently, a population of mesenchymal stem cells from the root apical papilla (SCAP) were recognised in the human third molar (Sonoyama et al., 2006). SCAP differentiate into odontoblast like cells which secrete dentin in transplantation experiments, as well as into adipocytes, and share some similar characteristics with DPSCs (Sonoyama et al., 2006). Evidence suggesting that SCAP are the source of odontoblasts responsible for formation of root dentin but SCAP might also play a role in dentin regeneration because they have better capacity for dentin regeneration than DPSCs (Sonoyama et al., 2006; Sonoyama et al., 2008).

6.1. Epithelial stem cell niche in the mouse incisors

The epithelial stem cell niche of a continuously growing mouse incisor is located in the stellate reticulum of the cervical loop (Harada et al., 1999). The labial cervical loop in a wt incisor is presumably enlarged due to the requirements for the active proliferation and differentiation of ameloblasts (Tummers and Thesleff, 2008). In the molar the stellate reticulum within the cervical loop is not maintained, the epithelial structures form HERS and the epithelial stem cells are lost. In the mouse incisor the stellate reticulum and the epithelial stem cells are maintained, and root formation does not occur. However, the two sides of the incisor are different, labial side covered with dentin and enamel, and lingual side with dentin and cementum. Nonetheless both labial and lingual cervical loop harbour stellate reticulum, albeit different sized, indicating that the HERS does not form (Tummers and Thesleff, 2008).

Epithelial stem cells in the incisors were identified within the labial cervical loop by LRC techniques, BrdU and DiI labelling. Five days after injection of fluorescent DiI to the centre of the labial cervical loop the cells containing the label had extended to the inner dental epithelium and were seen in the transient amplifying cells and differentiating ameloblasts (Harada et al., 1999). BrdU labelling indicated the label retaining cells in the cervical loop after seven days chase period (Harada et al., 1999). The localisation was confirmed with *Notch* expression in the slowly dividing cells in the cervical loop (Harada et al., 1999). However, although the epithelial stem cells were located in the cervical loop the exact site of the stem cell niche still remains unclear.

According to the current hypothesis, after the asymmetric proliferation of a stem cell one of the daughter cells will relaminate into the inner dental epithelium. In the inner dental epithelium the cell begins to proliferate actively and is hence named as a transient amplifying cell. After several proliferations the transient amplifying cell begins to differentiate first into a preameloblast and later into an ameloblast. Continuous production of ameloblasts in the proximal end and loss of matured ameloblasts in the apical end transfer the ameloblasts from proximal to apical direction, and the surrounding microenvironment regulates different functional stages of the ameloblast.

The epithelial stem cell niche in the cervical loop structurally resembles two other stem cell niches, the crypt of intestine and the hair follicle bulge (Moore and Lemischka, 2006). The crypt and the bulge, similar to the stellate reticulum in the cervical loop, form an epithelial compartment which is surrounded by mesenchymal tissue regulating the epithelium. Many stem cells can nowadays be recognised by specific marker genes but epithelial stem cells in the incisor still lack an identified marker gene.

6.2 Molecular regulation of epithelial stem cells in the incisors

The molecular regulation of continuously growing incisors resembles that of the molar, but expression of several signalling molecules, which are lost in the root forming molar, are maintained in the continuously growing incisor. These molecules are thought to participate in the maintenance of stellate reticulum and epithelial stem cells. FGF3, FGF10 and Notch1 have been suggested to be among these key molecules (Tummers and Thesleff, 2003). Notch signalling has been reported in association with stem cell regulation in many other tissues. In addition, the expression pattern of Bmp4, identical to Fgf10 expression, suggests that it has a role in stem cell regulation (Tummers and Thesleff, 2003). Fgf3, Fgf10 and Notch1 expression are downregulated in the molar when crown development finishes and the root development begins, but their expression is maintained in the incisors and continuously growing sibling vole molar (Tummers and Thesleff, 2003).

In the incisor cervical loop Notch signalling pathway genes are expressed in a localised manner. Notch1. Notch2 and Hairy and enhancer of split 1 (Hes1), the downstream target of Notch signalling, are expressed in the stellate reticulum and stratum intermedium, and Jagged1 in the differentiating ameloblasts (Mustonen et al., 2002). In addition, Notch2, Notch3 and Notch4 are expressed in the epithelium (Mitsiadis et al., 1998). In the molar *Notch2* and Lunatic fringe (*Lfng*) signalling are maintained in P10 and P14 molars, but many other Notch pathway genes are downregulated in the cervical loop area (Tummers and Thesleff, 2003). Notch signalling is usually associated with keeping the cells quiescent, whereas FGFs stimulate proliferation. The role of Notch signalling in epithelial stem cell regulation in the incisor remains unknown but recent results suggest that inhibition of Notch signalling leads to decreased proliferation in the stellate reticulum and shrinkage of the cervical loop (S. Felszeghy, personal communication). However, this phenomenon can be reversed when the inhibition of Notch signalling is removed. Thus several results suggest that Notch signalling has an essential role in the stem cell regulation in the incisor.

Regulation of the epithelial stem cells can originate in the mesenchyme. Fgf3 and Fgf10, expressed in the mesenchyme surrounding the cervical loop, induce the proliferation of the epithelium, and their receptor, Fgfr2b, is expressed in the epithelium of the cervical loop (Harada et al., 1999). FGF10 is suggested to be an essential regulator of epithelial cell as well as stem cell proliferation in the cervical loop because incisor development in $Fgf10^{-/-}$ mice is disrupted and the typical labial cervical loop structure is missing (Harada et al., 2002). $Fgf10^{-/-}$ mice die at birth due to absence of lungs, hence to analyse post natal incisor development the teeth were grown under a kidney capsule for three weeks (Sekine et al., 1999; Yokohama-Tamaki et al., 2006). The labial cervical loop in these incisors had lost the stellate reticulum and stem cells, and the HERS had formed (Yokohama-Tamaki et al., 2006). Thus, Fgf10^{-/-} incisors grown under kidney capsule had lost the typical features of continuously growing incisors and resembled the molars, which have only limited growth period. In addition, when the level of FGF10 is increased in the molars the cervical loop structures are maintained (Yokohama-Tamaki et al., 2006). However, in K14-Eda incisor, where the enamel is missing, both Fgf3 and *Fgf10* expressions were present, although the labial cervical loop was diminished and the structure began to resemble root structures, suggesting that the root development can occur simultaneously as stem cells are maintained (Tummers and Thesleff, 2008). Analyses of K14-Noggin mice indicated that the size of the cervical loop of the incisor does not necessarily signify the capability of epithelial stem cells to differentiate into ameloblasts (Plikus et al., 2005). Inhibition of BMP signalling in K14-Noggin incisors caused enlarged cervical loops and over activated proliferation on both labial and lingual sides but the ameloblast differentiation was prevented. When another BMP inhibitor and modulator of Wnt signalling, Sostdc1, is lost, an extra incisor occurs (Murashima-Suginami et al., 2007; Munne et al., 2009).

In Spry2^{+/-}; Spry4^{-/-} incisors lingual cervical loop is enlarged and ectopic ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation occurs on the lingual side at pn14 (Klein et al., 2008). A large lingual cervical loop is visible at E16.5 in $Spry2^{+/-}$; $Spry4^{-/-}$ and $Spry4^{-/-}$, and ectopic Fgfexpression is detected close to the lingual cervical loop resembling the situation on the labial cervical loop (Klein et al., 2008). In the embryonic stage ameloblasts are detected in the incisor of both $Spry2^{+/-}$; Spry4-/- and Spry4-/-, indicating that even minor unbalance of *Fgf* signalling causes lingual ameloblast differentiation. However, lingual ameloblasts are lost during the post natal development of

 $Spry4^{-/-}$, hence the lingual enamel is lost progressively (Boran et al., 2009). The ablation of Spry4 is necessary for emergence of lingual ameloblasts, because downregulation of other Sprv genes does not cause lingual ameloblasts (Klein et al., 2008). Tissue specific ablation of Fgfr2 causes a diminished labial cervical loop and a lack of ameloblasts in the maxillary incisor, and also affects the odontoblast differentiation (Lin et al., 2009). Tbx1 has been associated with FGF signalling and deficiency in Tbx1 causes a reduced labial cervical loop and ameloblast differentiation does not occur (Mitsiadis et al., 2008a; Catón et al., 2009). These results indicate the importance of correct balancing of FGF signalling during cervical loop formation and epithelial stem cell maintenance.

Recently, several other molecules were suggested to participate in the maintenance of stellate reticulum and epithelial stem cells. Deficiency of Ctip2, an enhancer of transcriptional repression, causes a diminished labial cervical loop in addition to defects in ameloblast differentiation (Golonzhka et al., 2009). Heparin-binding cytokines midkine (MK) and Heparin-binding growth-associated molecule (HB-GAM), which are associated with epithelial-mesenchymal interactions during development, are expressed close to or in the cervical loops during tooth development (Mitsiadis et al., 2008b). In addition, both MK and HB-GAM induce proliferation in the cervical loop area, and MK and HB-GAM interact with several molecules, for instance BMPs and FGFs.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of this thesis was to analyse the molecular mechanisms regulating tooth development and especially the regulation of epithelial stem niche in the incisor. The specific aims were:

- 1. To examine the role of TGF β signalling during molar and incisor development using mice with loss of function and gain of function of *Fst*.
- 2. To study the function of TGF β signalling and Fst in the regulation of epithelial stem cells in the continuously growing mouse incisor.
- 3. To localize Wnt pathway gene expression and Wnt/ β -catenin activity in the epithelial stem cells of the incisor.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mouse strains

Strain	Used in article	Purpose
NMRI	I, II, III, IV	Analyse the expression patterns of indicated genes
Follistatin ^{-/-}	I, II, III	Analyse the role of Follistatin deficiency in teeth development
K14-Follistatin	I, II, III	Analyse the role of Follistatin overexpression under Keratin14 promoter in teeth development
Fgf3-/-	Ш	Analyse the teeth phenotypes of Fgf3 deficient mice
Fgf10+/-	III	Analyse the teeth phenotypes of Fgf10 heterozygote mice
Fgf10-/-	Ш	Analyse the teeth phenotype of mice deficient for both Fgf3 and Fgf10
K14-Noggin	Ш	Analyse the expression pattern of indicated gene
BATgal	IV	Active Wnt/β-catenin signaling analysis
TOPgal	IV	Active Wnt/β-catenin signaling analysis
Axin2 ^{LacZ/LacZ}	IV	Active Wnt/β-catenin signaling analysis

Methods used in articles I-IV

Method	Article
Histology	I, II, III, IV
Genotyping by PCR	I, II, III
Analysis of adult phenotype (skeletal preparation)	I, II, III
Radioactive in situ hybridization on sections	I, II, III, IV
Whole mount in situ hybridization	I, II, III
Tissue culture and bead experiments	I, II, III
Immunohistochemistry	I, II
Cell proliferation assay (BrdU)	I, III
LacZ staining	IV

Probes

The following probes were used for *in situ* hybridisation.

Probe	Reference	Used in article
ActivinβA	Erämaa et al., 1992	I, II, III
Alk3	Dewulf et al., 1995	III
Alk4	Verschueren et al., 1995	III
Ameloblastin	Lee et al., 1996	II
Axin2	Lammi et al., 2004	IV
Bmp2	Åberg et al., 1997	I, II, III
Bmp4	Åberg et al., 1997	I, II, III
Bmp7	Åberg et al., 1997	I, II, III
Dkk1	Andl et al., 2002	IV
Dkk2	Diep et al., 2004	IV
Dkk3	Fjeld et al., 2005	IV
Dkk4	Fliniaux et al., 2008	IV
dspp	D'Souza et al., 1997	II
Edar	Laurikkala et al., 2001	Ι
Fgf3	Kettunen et al., 2000	III
Fgf4	Jernvall et al., 1994	Ι
Fgf10	Kettunen et al., 2000	III
Follistatin	Wankell et al., 2001	I, II, III
Gdf11	Gift from Anne Calof (Univ. California)	Ι
Lef1	Kratochwil et al., 1996	IV
Lgr5	Barker et al., 2007	IV
Lrp4	Fliniaux et al., 2008	IV
mmp20	Gift from Dr. Jan Hu (Univ. of Texas)	II
p21	Jernvall et al., 1998	I, II
Shh	Vaahtokari et al., 1996	Ι
Tcf1	James et al., 2006	IV
Wnt2b	M. James	IV
Wnt3	Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999	IV
Wnt3a	M. James	IV
Wnt4	Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999	IV
Wnt5a	Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999	IV
Wnt5b	Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999	IV
Wnt6	Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999	IV
Wnt7a	M. James	IV
Wnt7b	Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999	IV
Wnt10a	Wang and Shackleford, 1996	IV
Wnt10b	Wang and Shackleford, 1996	IV
Wnt11	Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999	IV
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Follistatin has a role in the morphogenesis of the molars (I)

Follistatin (Fst) is an extracellular inhibitor of several TGF β superfamily members, including BMPs and Activin (Nakamura et al., 1990; Iemura et al., 1998; Balemans and Van Hull, 2002). We studied the role of Fst during molar development by analysing two mouse models, loss of *Fst* function using *Fst*^{-/-} mice and gain of *Fst* function using mice overexpressing Fst under a *Keratin14* promoter (*K14-Fst*) (Matzuk et al., 1995b; Wankell et al., 2001).

In situ hybridisation analyses of Fst, Bmp2, Bmp4 and Bmp7 expressions at E14 and E16 indicated overlapping expression patterns in the primary and secondary enamel knots. Fst, Bmp4 and Activin βA were also expressed in the papilla mesenchyme. BMPs participate in ameloblast (II; Coin et al., 1999) and odontoblast differentiation (Bègue-Kirn et al., 1992; Vainio et al., 1993). E18 differentiation stage expression of Bmp2, Bmp4 and Bmp7 was detected in the mesenchyme, most intensely in the preodontoblasts and odontoblasts, and weakly in the preameloblasts. The expression of Fst was restricted to the papilla mesenchyme in the vicinity of the follicle mesenchyme and cervical loops, while $Activin\beta A$ was expressed was exclusively in the follicle. Our results show that the expression patterns of *Fst*, Bmps and Activin βA were intense and partially overlapping during the molar development. The restricted expressions suggest important roles for Fst in the enamel knots and the development of tooth morphology.

The histological analyses of Fst^{-/-} molars revealed that although the cap stage molar at E14 showed a normal tooth structure, in the early bell stage at E16 folding of the epithelium was already abnormal in both mandibular and maxillary molars. Because the primary enamel knot regulates the localisation of secondary enamel knots it is probable that the primary enamel knots were functioning already abnormally. The morphological differences between the wild type (wt) and Fst^{-/-} molars were evident in crown morphology by E18. The cusps of the wt had become deep and had distinct anterior-posterior orientation, whereas the *Fst*^{-/-} cusps were disoriented with shallow and aberrant cusp patterning, indicating abnormal folding of the inner dental epithelium. In addition, cell differentiation was affected. Differentiated odontoblasts were detected both in wt and *Fst*^{-/-} molars at E18 but predentin formation had begun only in the wt. Ameloblasts had differentiated in the wt, but in the Fst^{-/-} molars the cells of inner dental epithelium remained cuboidal and unpolarised. In addition, the usual, normally extensive extracellular tissue was missing from stellate reticulum, and instead the tissue was composed of closely packed cells. The analyses of inner dental epithelium proliferation by 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU) labelling at E18 indicated that the amount of proliferating cells was diminished and the proliferating cells were irregularly distributed in the Fst^{-/-} molar compared to the regular patterning of proliferation in the wt. To analyse the post natal phenotype of the Fst^{-/-} molar we had to culture tissues in vitro because *Fst*^{-/-} mice die shortly after birth (Matzuk et al., 1995b). Molars were dissected for

culturing at E17 and after 7 days culture, Fst^{-} molars sustained the shallow and aberrant cusp pattern. However, ameloblast differentiation had proceeded, indicating that cell differentiation occurs, although delayed, even when Fst is lacking.

To further analyse the aberrant folding of the inner dental epithelium in Fst^{-/-} molars we studied the secondary enamel knots. p21, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor and enamel knot marker, was expressed in two secondary enamel knots in $Fst^{-/-}$ at E16. One of the enamel knots was enlarged, and folding of the inner dental epithelium was abnormal. The abnormal expression of p21 and the affected cusp patterning in $Fst^{-/-}$ molar resembled that of Sostdc1-/- molar, with expanded expression in the enamel knot and altered cusp patterning (Kassai et al., 2005). In the primary enamel knot the analysed markers were expressed similarly both in the wt and $Fst^{-/-}$. However, the altered expression of secondary enamel knot marker as well as abnormal folding of the inner dental epithelium indicate that the function of the primary enamel knot was already altered resulting in defects in the formation and function of the secondary enamel knots. Both BMP4 (Jernvall et al., 1998) and ActivinA can induce *p21* expression in isolated dental epithelium in vitro. Our results suggest that Fst participates in the formation of secondary enamel knots by regulating the functions of BMPs and Activin.

In two month old *K14-Fst* mice cusp patterning was severely affected, showing aberrant cusp patterning or whirled occlusal surface in the most affected teeth, and worn enamel. The severity of the phenotype varied between different molars. The first molar showed less altered crown patterning than the second molar. In addition, the *K14-Fst* third molars were missing both from the upper and lower jaws. This may be caused by varying levels of *Fst* expression driven by *K14* promoter, or by differing sensitivity of the teeth to signalling regulated by Fst.

The primary enamel knot determines the localisation of the secondary enamel knots and thus participates in the formation of crown morphology (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000). In the epithelium Fst was expressed in the area of both primary and secondary enamel knots, suggesting a role in enamel knot formation or functioning. At least in an in vitro situation both BMP4 (Jernvall et al., 1998) and ActivinA indeed induced enamel knot marker *p21* expression in isolated dental epithelium. p21, associated with cessation of proliferation and beginning of terminal differentiation, affects apoptosis of differentiated cells in the enamel knot (Jernvall et al., 1998). Activin regulates the expression of *Fst* in the dental epithelium and Edar in the enamel knot region (Ferguson et al., 1998; Laurikkala et al., 2002). Tooth development of Activin $\beta A^{-/-}$ mice arrests at the bud stage, whith the exception of the upper molars, around the time the primary enamel knot is formed (Ferguson et al., 1998). This indicates that ActivinßA is essential for the transition from bud to cap stage. Although *Fst*^{-/-} molar development did not arrest, our results show that Fst nontheless affects the primary enamel knot function because localisation of secondary enamel knots were abnormal, resulting in irregular and diminished proliferation and aberrant folding of inner dental epithelium.

Overexpression of *Fst* caused the loss of the third molar in both mandible and maxilla. The third molar is lost also at least in $Eda^{-/-}$ (Tabby) mutants, in mice producing low levels of *Pax9*, and in *K14-Noggin* mice (Pispa et al., 1999;

Kist et al., 2005; Plikus et al., 2005). In addition, overexpression of Noggin, an inhibitor of BMP signalling, caused abnormal ameloblast and odontoblast differentiation and altered crown pattern (Plikus et al., 2005). In addition, inhibition of Bmp4 function by antisense oligodeoxynucleotide against Bmp4 in vitro caused abnormal cusp pattern and mildly affected ameloblast differentiation in the molar (Tabata et al., 2002). The absence of Pax9 leads to downregulation of *Bmp4* in the mesenchyme at the bud stage and hypomorphic Pax9 expression results in hypoplastic or missing lower incisors and third molars (Peters et al., 1998; Kits et al., 2005). The phenotype becomes increasingly severe with different forms of oligodontia as the level of Pax9 expression is diminished. In addition to the loss of the third molar, the Eda^{-/-} mutant mouse has abnormal cusp patterning resulting from downregulation of several essential genes expressed in the enamel knot, including Bmp4 (Grüneberg, 1971; Pispa et al., 1999). These results are consistent with ours (I, II) and confirm the important role of BMP signalling in the development of crown morphology. We suggest that the third molars in K14-*Fst* failed to form due to defects in dental tissue committed to the molar field, which then affected the last developing molar most severely. The same explanation was suggested for why the last teeth to develop are most often the missing teeth in humans (Nieminen et al., 2001, Nieminen, 2009). In contrast to the loss of molars, some mutations cause development of an extra molar, for example K14-Eda, Spry2-/- and Spry4-/- (Mustonen et al., 2003; Klein et al., 2005). The loss of Sostdc1, an inhibitor of BMP and modulator of Wnt signalling, induces the formation of both an extra molar and incisor (Kassai et al., 2005; Munne et al., 2009). Thus the unbalancing of BMP signalling can cause extra molars when its inhibition is absent, and a loss of molars when its inhibition is enhanced.

Our results show that Fst is an important regulator of cusp patterning and crown morphology, and that it has a role also in ameloblast differentiation. The complex phenotypes of Fst^{-/-} and K14-Fst mutant mice indicate that negative regulation by Fst is essential in several different stages of tooth development. Both loss of Fst and overexpression of Fst cause aberrant crown morphology, albeit in different ways. Epithelial proliferation was downregulated, and differentiation and function of both odontoblasts and ameloblasts was delayed in *Fst*^{-/-} mutants, indicating that the fine tuning of the signalling by inhibitor regulates different levels of tooth development. We suggest that Activin, expressed in the mesenchyme under the inner dental epithelium, induces *Fst* expression in the epithelium, and that Fst inhibits both Activin and BMPs, thus balancing and modulating enamel knot formation and crown morphogenesis. We have shown that Fst negatively regulates the differentiation of ameloblasts and that it modulates the morphogenesis of crown epithelium during molar development.

Follistatin regulates the asymmetric formation of enamel in the mouse incisors (II)

The morphology of a mouse incisor is distinctively different compared to the molar. Mouse incisors grow continuously throughout the animal's life to compensate for the wearing of the tooth, and the sharpness of the incisor tip is maintained by the asymmetric deposition of hard enamel. Ameloblasts differentiate and enamel is formed exclusively on the labial side of the tooth, called the crown analogue, while the lingual side is covered by dentin and is called the root analogue.

Fst is an important regulator of cusp patterning and ameloblast differentiation in the molar, as we showed (I). The phenotype of the incisors in K14-Fst mouse at 1 month of age suggested that ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation are also altered in the incisor. although the phenotypes of the incisors were variable with different levels of severity. In the most severe cases the incisors were smaller and chalky white, with worn mandibular incisors and broken or overgrown maxillary incisors. The ground sections revealed loss of enamel from the entire incisor. The embryonic analyses of K14-Fst mice showed small and symmetric incisors. At E18 ameloblast differentiation had occurred on the labial side of the wt incisors, but the K14-Fst incisors lacked a polarised ameloblast layer. The odontoblast layer and dentin matrix was seen on both labial and lingual sides in wt and K14-Fst incisor. Because Fst^{-/-} mice die perinatally (Matzuk et al., 1995b) the phenotypic characterisation of incisor was done at E18 stage. The ameloblast differentiation occurred on the labial side of *Fst*^{-/-} incisor as in the wt, but in addition polarised ameloblasts were detected also on the lingual side together with enamel. The occurrence of lingual ameloblasts in Fst^{-/-} incisors and the loss of ameloblasts in K14-Fst incisors were confirmed by analysing the expression patterns of several ameloblast marker genes. Although the lingual epithelial cells in Fst^{-/-} incisor were confirmed as ameloblasts both histologically and functionally, the cell layer was not as well organised as the labial ameloblast layer. Since only partial rescue of lingual ameloblasts occurred in

the Fst^{-} mice, it is probable that another inhibitor of ameloblast differentiation exists on the lingual side, hence the partial compensation for the effects of Fst in Fst^{-} incisor.

It has been shown previously that ameloblast differentiation can be induced in vitro by TGF^{β1} and BMP2 (Coin et al., 1999), and that Fst is an inhibitor of BMPs and Activin (Nakamura et al., 1990). The distinct ameloblast differentiation phenotypes in *Fst*^{-/-} and *K14-Fst* incisors suggest that Fst negatively regulates ameloblast differentiation. To confirm the role of Est in ameloblast differentiation we analysed whether beads soaked in BMP2, BMP4, BMP7 or ActivinA protein can induce differentiation of ameloblasts in isolated incisor at E15 after 24hrs culturing in vitro. The differentiation of ameloblasts was verified by the expression of p21, which marks the cells differentiating into odontoblasts and ameloblasts (Bloch-Zupan et al., 1998), and by ameloblastin, an ameloblast marker gene in the epithelium. BMP2, BMP4 and BMP7 induced the expression of *p21* in the dental epithelium, but ActivinA had only weak stimulatory effect. In addition, BMP2, BMP4 and BMP7 induced epithelial expression of ameloblastin, whereas ActivinA induced only slight enhancement of endogenous expression of ameloblastin. Noggin, the specific inhibitor of BMP signalling, consistently caused downregulation of ameloblastin expression. The simultaneous exposure of the cultured incisors to Fst and BMP protein releasing beads caused downregulation of endogenous ameloblastin, and isolated K14-Fst incisor cultured with BMP4 bead showed reduced or loss of ameloblastin expression. Analyses of Fst induction confirmed that unlike BMP4, ActivinA induces Fst expression in E15 or E16 incisor after

24hrs of culturing. These experiments suggest that BMPs are the main inducers of ameloblast differentiation and that Fst is a negative regulator, thus inhibiting ameloblast differentiation on the lingual side.

To further investigate the roles of Fst, Activin and BMPs in ameloblast differentiation we analysed their expression patterns at E16 and E18. Fst was expressed at E16 in the epithelium on both labial and lingual sides. However, the expression was slightly asymmetric and became even more asymmetric at E18, when lingual side dental epithelium intensely expressed Fst, but in the labial side the expression was restricted to the outer dental epithelium and in the ameloblasts in the transitional stage. Fst expression was also detected in the P4 mouse molars in the tips of the cusps where ameloblast differentiation does not occur. ActivinßA and *Bmp4* expressions were restricted to the mesenchyme, and were especially intense in the papilla mesenchyme lining the cervical loop at E16. Bmps were also intensely expressed in the odontoblasts. Comparisons of the expression patterns of Fst, ActivinβA, Bmp2, Bmp4 and Bmp7 in the incisor suggested close interaction between Fst and ActivinßA or BMPs, and, consistent with our earlier results, indicated that Fst is a negative regulator of ameloblast differentiation.

The continuously growing mouse incisor is an interesting model in which to study ameloblast proliferation and differentiation because ameloblasts at different developmental stages can be followed from proximal to distal area of incisor. Our results in mouse incisors suggest that Fst inhibits ameloblast differentiation in the lingual side. When the inhibition is lost in Fst^{-} , the asymmetry of ameloblast differentiation and enamel

deposition is lost and enamel is formed on both labial and lingual side. Consistent with this is the loss of ameloblast and enamel on the labial side of the incisor in K14-Fst. Thus Fst negatively regulates ameloblast differentiation and is responsible for the asymmetric enamel deposition only on the labial side of the incisor. The regulation of ameloblast differentiation occurs through the inhibition of BMP function, but not through Activin, because the targets of negative regulation by Fst during ameloblast differentiation are BMPs. The variable phenotype in K14-Fst incisors suggests that a high level of Fst is needed to achieve the severe phenotype. Fst binds Activin with higher affinity than BMP, suggesting that the inhibition of BMPs requires higher Fst expression than Activin inhibition. Although ameloblasts differentiated and formed enamel on the lingual side of *Fst*^{-/-} incisor, the ameloblast layer was disorganised, suggesting that another inhibitor partially compensates Fst function on the lingual side. Our results suggest that the dental follicle, in addition to dental epithelium and dental papilla, plays a role in ameloblast differentiation. Activin, expressed in the dental follicle, induces Fst in the dental epithelium. This indicates that dental follicle has a role in regulation of dental epithelium, which has not been demonstrated earlier.

Tissue recombination experiments have shown that the lingual dental epithelium looses the competence to differentiate into ameloblasts (Amar et al., 1989), and we showed that Fst is responsible for this. If Fst expression is lost, as in Fst^{-} incisor, lingual epithelium is also competent to differentiate into ameloblasts. In humans, a heterogenous group of inherited defects in the enamel called Amelogenesis imperfecta (AI) can be caused for example by changes in

ameloblast specific genes (Gibson et al., 2001; Fukumoto et al., 2004). In addition, there are examples of animals lacking dental enamel, such as the sloth, and several known mutations in mice cause the absence of enamel in incisors, such as K14-Eda, K14-Edar, K14-Noggin, K14-*Wnt3* and *Tbx1*^{-/-} (Mustonen et al., 2003; Pispa et al., 2004; Tucker et al., 2004; Plikus 2005: Millar et al., 2003: Mitsiadis et al., 2009; Tummers and Thesleff, 2008). In *K14-Noggin* incisors the BMP pathway is inhibited, thus resembling the situation in K14-Fst mice. However, K14-Fst incisors are slightly smaller than wt, while K14-Noggin incisors are enlarged (Plikus et al., 2005). Despite the size difference, both mouse mutants lack incisor enamel. supporting the role of BMPs in inducing ameloblast differentiation. In K14-Eda incisors the enamel is lost but in Tabby mice the enamel is accumulated on wider area (Tummers and Thesleff, 2008; Risnes et al., 2005). In addition, Eda can

inhibit BMP4 function by stimulating the expression of *Fst* together with another BMP antagonist, Ccn2 (CTGF) in the incisor (Pummila et al., 2007). On the other hand, unbalancing FGF signalling in *Spry4*-/- and *Spry4*-/-;*Spry2*+/- incisors causes ectopic ameloblast differentiation and enamel deposition on the lingual side (Klein et al., 2008). Thus BMP signalling, and especially BMP4, is a key inducer of ameloblast differentiation, through many molecules, at least Eda, Wnts and FGFs, participate in fine tuning of the regulation.

Based on our results, we have identified a regulatory network directing the formation of asymmetric ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation in the incisor. Three dental tissues participate in the interaction; the follicle mesenchyme, the dental epithelium and the papilla mesenchyme. The mesenchymal tissues have opposite effects on the epithelium, where the regulation of ameloblast differentiation occurs. Activin from the



Figure 8.

Asymmetric expression of *Fst* regulates ameloblast differentiation in the incisor. On the labial side BMP from the dental papilla induces expression of p21and differentiation of ameloblasts. However, on the lingual side Activin from the dental follicle induces *Fst* expression in the epithelium and Fst inhibits BMP. Thus, BMP cannot induce ameloblast differentiation.

dental follicle induces Fst expression in the epithelium, and Fst inhibits the inductive signalling of BMP derived from the papilla to the epithelium (Figure 8). Thus Activin inhibits BMPs to induce ameloblast differentiation indirectly through Fst induction. This occurs on the lingual side, and results in lack of ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation. On the labial side, Activin expression becomes restricted mainly to the dental follicle at E18, leading to Fst's limited expression in the outer dental epithelium, and its inability to inhibit BMPs in the dental papilla. This enables BMPs to induce ameloblast differentiation. and the formation of asymmetric enamel deposition in the incisor.

A signalling network consisting of BMPs, Activin, FGFs and Follistatin regulates the epithelial stem cell niche in the incisor (III)

The continuous growth in the mouse incisors is maintained by stem cells. The epithelial stem cells in the incisor have been shown to reside in the proximal part of the incisor, in the cervical loop (Harada et al., 1999). The labial cervical loop maintains actively proliferating cells which differentiate into ameloblasts within a large stellate reticulum, whereas lingual cervical loop is small with less proliferation and fewer cells. During our analyses of ameloblast differentiation in K14-Fst incisor we noticed that in addition to the small size and loss of ameloblasts from the labial side, the incisors had lost the labial lingual asymmetry of the size of the cervical loops. K14-Fst incisor resembled the phenotype seen in $Fgf10^{-/-}$ incisors, and in addition FGF10 signalling has been closely associated with epithelial

stem cell regulation (Harada et al., 1999; Harada et al., 2002).

Histological analysis of proximal area of K14-Fst incisor at E18 showed that in addition to small size and lack of enamel, the typical large stellate reticulum compartment in the labial cervical loop was absent and the cervical loop was diminished. Surprisingly, in the Fst-/incisor the lingual cervical loop was enlarged and contained stellate reticulum and differentiating ectopic ameloblasts, thus resembling of labial cervical loop in wt incisor. Proliferation analyses with BrdU indicated that in the wt incisor the proliferating cells were most abundant in the inner dental epithelium on the labial side cervical loop, whereas on the lingual side proliferation was sparse. However, in K14-Fst the proliferation was decreased in the labial cervical loop and in Fst^{-/-} proliferation on both lingual and labial cervical loops was increased. These results suggest that Fst has an important role in the proliferation of dental epithelial cells in the cervical loops and in regulating the formation of an asymmetric structure.

FGF signalling has been connected with the regulation of epithelial stem cells (Harada et al., 1999; Harada et al., 2002). Mainly FGF10 has been suggested to regulate epithelial proliferation, but expression pattern analyses have shown that *Fgf10* is expressed symmetrically in the papilla at E18 aligning both the labial and lingual cervical loops (Harada et al., 1999). However, Fgf3 expression is asymmetric and the expression is restricted to the papilla next to the labial cervical loop, partially overlapping with Fgf10 at E18. We analysed the expression patterns of Fgf3 and Fgf10 in K14-Fst and Fst^{-/-} incisors. In K14-Fst incisor Fgf3 expression was downregulated. Conversely in Fst^{-/-} incisors ectopic

expression was detected in the papilla close to the enlarged lingual side cervical loop. Fgf10 expression was similar in the mutants and wt. Proliferation analyses *in vitro* confirmed that in addition to FGF10, FGF3 can induce proliferation in the dental epithelium. According to these results Fst inhibits the expression of lingual Fgf3 in the wt and indirectly affects the proliferation of the dental epithelium.

FGF signalling is an essential regulator of epithelial proliferation in the incisor. Downregulation of *Fgf* signalling in $Fgf10^{+/-}$ mouse teeth does not cause a phenotype differing from the wt, but in *Fgf10*^{-/-} incisor the labial cervical loop is hypoplastic (Harada et al., 2002). We analysed $Fgf3^{-/-}$ and $Fgf3^{-/-}$; $Fgf10^{+/-}$ compound mutant incisors and detected differentiated ameloblasts at P1. However, the labial cervical loop in $Fgf3^{-/-}$; $Fgf10^{+/-}$ incisor was slightly smaller than in wt and $Fgf3^{-/-}$. At 5 weeks of age both $Fgf3^{-/-}$ and $Fgf3^{-/-}$; $Fgf10^{+/-}$ incisors had distinct phenotype differing from the wt. Incisors in both mutants were white, but $Fgf3^{-/-}$; $Fgf10^{+/-}$ incisors were also smaller and broken in several mice suggesting defects in the enamel. Ground sections of the incisor confirmed that in $Fgf3^{-/-}$; $Fgf10^{+/-}$ enamel was missing, and although enamel was seen in $Fgf3^{-/-}$ incisor, the white colour of the incisor and the worn cusps of the molars suggested defects in the enamel. FGF3 and FGF10 seem to function cooperatively during tooth development, because the greater the number of alleles lost, the more severe the enamel phenotype. Consistent with this is the molar phenotype of $Fgf3^{-/-}$; $Fgf10^{-/-}$, in which development arrests at the bud stage.

Ectopic expression of Fgf3 was seen in the Fst^{-} incisor, suggesting interaction of pathways at some level.

To further study these interactions we analysed the expression of Fgf3, Fst, Activin βA , Bmp2, Bmp4 and Bmp7 in the developing incisor from E14 to E16. Fgf3 expression became asymmetric in the papilla mesenchyme close to the labial cervical loop at E16. ActivinßA expression was already asymmetric at E15, when expression also became intense also next to the labial cervical loop. Thus Fgf3 and Activin βA had overlapping expression patterns at E15. Bmp4 was expressed in the mesenchyme symmetrically around both labial and lingual cervical loops, and in the preodontoblasts. Fst was extensively expressed in the lingual dental epithelium, but in the labial epithelium expression became restricted to the outer dental epithelium at E16. The expression pattern of Fst suggests that the inhibitory effect of Fst to the papilla is more prominent on the lingual side than on the labial side due to distance from the papilla. Activin and BMP receptors Alk3 and Alk4 were expressed in the epithelium, indicating that BMP and Activin signalling regulate the epithelium.

Fst functions as an inhibitor of Activin and BMPs, and we showed that BMP4 induces ameloblast differentiation and Fst negatively regulates its induction (II). In addition upregulation or downregulation of Fst altered FGF signalling. Because of these results we were interested in analysing the role of BMPs and Activin in FGF signalling in the incisor. Surprisingly beads soaked in BMP4 inhibited Fgf3 expression in incisors isolated at E16 and cultured for 24hrs. However, BMP4 had no effect on Fgf10 expression. Noggin caused ectopic expression of Fgf3 in the papilla mesenchyme on the lingual side next to the epithelium. A similar pattern of Fgf3 expression was also detected in K14-Noggin mice, as well as in Fst^{-/-} incisors.

These results confirm that BMP4 inhibits Fgf3 expression. Thus both Fst and BMP4 inhibit the expression of *Fgf3*, functioning synergistically unlike in ameloblast differentiation, where Fst and BMP4 have antagonistic effects (II). The search for antagonistic signal for BMP4, hence inducing Fgf3 expression on the labial side in wt incisor and regulated by Fst lead us to study the effects of Activin on Fgf3 expression. In vitro cultures revealed that similar to Noggin, ActivinA was also able to induce ectopic Fgf3 expression on the lingual side papilla mesenchyme next to the dental epithelium, albeit not so strongly as Noggin. Cell proliferation analyses by BrdU confirmed that ActivinA induces the proliferation of dental epithelium in the isolated incisor, and when endogenous Activin/TGF_β signalling was prevented by selective inhibitor of ALK receptors (SB431542) the labial cervical loop was diminished containing few epithelial cells. However, the effects became significant only after 4d of culture. These results indicate that Activin and BMPs antagonistically regulate Fgf3 expression in the mesenchyme and the proliferation of epithelial cells, including stem cells, in the cervical loops.

To analyse the mechanisms regulating the expression of Activin and Fgf3 in the dental mesenchyme we cultured the incisors at E14 or E15 for 24hrs. Neither Fgf3 nor Activin was expressed in the separated dental mesenchyme, but placing dental epithelium beside the separated mesenchyme induced mesenchymal expression of both Fgf3 and Activin. However, the expression of both genes was restricted in the mesenchyme aligning the epithelium. Direct regulation between Activin and FGF3 in the isolated mesenchyme did not occur, thus Activin was not able to induce Fgf3 or vice versa in the dental mesenchyme, indicating that the regulation occurs through the dental epithelium. However, FGF9, expressed in the dental epithelium, was able to induce the expression of both *Activin* and *Fgf3*. Nonetheless, it is unlikely that FGF9 could be exclusively responsible for the restricted expression patterns of both *Activin* and *Fgf3* beginning from the E15 and E16, because *Fgf9* becomes asymmetrically expressed only after E18 (Kettunen and Thesleff, 1998).

We showed earlier that Fst negatively regulates ameloblast differentiation by inhibiting BMP signalling on the lingual side of the incisor, thus causing the labiallingual asymmetry in enamel formation (II). The interaction occurred between follicle mesenchyme, dental epithelium and papilla mesenchyme, indicating active epithelial mesenchymal interaction. Our results concerning the regulation of epithelial stem cells in the cervical loops also showed interaction between these tissues, emphasizing the essential role of epithelial mesenchymal interaction. Epithelial stem cells in the incisors have been located in the cervical loop but the exact stem cell population remains unclear (Harada et al., 1999). Several genes have been suggested to participate in the regulation of incisor stem cells, such as FGF10, FGF3, BMP4 and Notch1 (Harada et al., 1999, 2002; Tummers and Thesleff, 2003).

According to our results FGF3 together with FGF10 maintain the epithelial stem cell pool in the labial cervical loop. Asymmetric Fgf3 expression is not necessary for the formation of cervical loop but it seem to cause the epithelial proliferation and larger stellate reticulum in the labial cervical loop than in the lingual side. This can be confirmed by the ability of FGF3 to induce proliferation in

the dental epithelium, and the asymmetric expression pattern of *Fgf3*, consistent with the labial lingual asymmetric structure. Besides, when Fst is downregulated in the Fst^{-/-} incisor, ectopic Fgf3 expression is detected lingually next to the enlarged cervical loop. Our results suggest that whereas moderate proliferation of lingual cervical loop is maintained by FGF10 signalling, the active proliferation and maintenance of stem cells of labial cervical loop is regulated by cooperative function of both FGF10 and FGF3. Thus the role of FGF10 might be in the maintenance of basal level of stem cells essential for continuous growth. In Fgf10^{-/-} the labial cervical loop is diminished and stellate reticulum is missing, but ameloblast differentiation had occurred at E19 (Harada et al., 2002). However, after three weeks of growth under the kidney capsule the ameloblast layer was lost, most likely due to loss of the stellate reticulum and stem cells leading to absence of ameloblast layer maintenance (Yokohama-Tamaki et al., 2006). The defects in the cervical loop structure in K14-Fst are more severe than in $Fgf3^{-/-}$, suggesting that Fst affects other molecules in addition to FGF3. Also, in $Tbx1^{-/-}$ mouse incisor the ameloblasts are not differentiated and the labial cervical loop is small missing the stellate reticulum resulting from the down regulated proliferation (Catón et al., 2009). FGF can induce *Tbx1* expression in the preameloblasts and in Spry2+/-;Spry4-/incisors Tbx1 expression is detected not only on the labial side epithelium as in wt but ectopically on the lingual side epithelium as well, thus linking FGF and Tbx1 signalling (Mitsiadis et al., 2008; Catón et al., 2009). When Ctip2, an enhancer of transcriptional repression, is deficient in the incisor, the labial side ameloblast layer is defective

and the stellate reticulum is diminished (Golonzhka et al., 2009). Surprisingly, ameloblast differentiation also occurs on the lingual side and epithelial expansion was detected. The mice die soon after birth and the incisor phenotype after eruption remains unclear (Wakabayashi et al., 2003). Table 2 presents the genes which have been suggested to have a role in epithelial stem cell regulation or have been shown to cause a phenotype in the incisor. The genes are divided according to whether they were known before or have been found after the article III was published and also our results from the article III are mentioned.

Our results suggest that FGF, BMP, Activin and Fst are integrated in the signalling network balancing the proliferation of dental epithelial stem cells and transient amplifying cells in the stellate reticulum of labial cervical loop. Mesenchymal FGF3 and FGF10 are the inducers of epithelial cell proliferation. BMP4, expressed in the mesenchyme next to both the labial and lingual cervical loops, did not have any effect on Fgf10 expression, but Fgf3 expression was repressed. This suggests that FGF signalling regulated by BMP and Activin exists only through FGF3. The first sign of a signalling network is seen at E15, when $Activin\beta A$ becomes expressed asymmetrically in the mesenchyme, intensive expression detected close to the labial cervical loop. Activin might antagonise the effects of BMP4 and thus causing the labial expression of Fgf3 to remain after E16, when Fgf3 expression is downregulated elsewhere in the papilla mesenchyme. This indicates that two TGFβ signalling family members antagonistically regulate epithelial stem cell proliferation through the regulation of Fgf3 expression. Fst negatively regulates

Table 2.

HB-GAM

Induces proliferation in the

cervical loop area

Potential incisor epithelial stem cell fate regulators. The upper part of the table shows the earlier found molecules and their effects as well as the results presented in the article III. The lower part of the table shows the molecules which have been recognised after the article III was published.

Participating	Role	References	Results in article III
Notch1	Regulation of stem cell proliferation	Harada et al., 1999; Tummers and Thesleff, 2003	
Notch2	Regulation of stem cell proliferation	Harada et al., 1999	
FGF3	Expression patterns suggest a role in epihtelial stem cell regulation	Tummers and Thesleff, 2003	Induces the proliferation of epihtelial stem cells
FGF10	Induces proliferation in the cervical loop	Harada et al., 1999; Tummers and Thesleff, 2003	
BMP4	Expression patterns suggest a role in epihtelial stem cell regulation	Tummers and Thesleff, 2003	Inhibits epithelial stem cell proliferation through antagonizing the expression of <i>Fgf3</i>
Activin			Antagonizes the inhibitory effect BMP4 has on <i>Fgf3</i> expression
Fst			Regulates proliferation of epithelial stem cells by antagonising Activin signalling
Participating signals	Role	References	
Spry2, Spry4	Downregulation of FGF inhibition causes an enlarged lingual cervical loop	Klein et al., 2008	
Tbx1	Loss of Tbx1 causes a reduced labial cervical loop	Catón et al., 2009	
Ctip2	Loss of Ctip2 causes a reduced labial cervical loop	Golonzhka et al., 2009	
МК	Induces proliferation in the cervical loop area	Mitsiadis et al., 2008b	

Mitsiadis et al.,

2008b

Activin on the lingual side, thus enabling BMP4 to inhibit Fgf3 expression in the mesenchyme. However, on the labial side Fst expression is restricted in the outer dental epithelium and the distance to papilla, where *Activin* is expressed, confines the negative regulation by Fst. This allows Activin to counteract BMP4 and thus enable strong Fgf3 expression. This signalling network explains the formation of labial lingual asymmetry in the cervical loops and the increased number of labial epithelial stem cells.

Several experiments indicated that the regulation of Fgf3 by Activin and BMP is indirect and functions through the epithelium. Tissue culture experiments showed that Fgf3 was lost in the separated mesenchyme, and that expression was maintained if mesenchyme and epithelium were recombined. ActivinA was not able to rescue Fgf3 expression in the separated

mesenchyme and was only able to induce epithelial proliferation after 4 d of culture. In addition, the expression pattern of *Fgf3* in the cultured incisor, detected in the mesenchyme underlying lingual epithelium and not that surrounding the bead, suggests that the epithelium is essential and that signalling proceeds through epithelium. Convergent with this is the analysed expression patterns of Activin and BMP receptors, which were detected only in the epithelium. These results show that Activin induces Fgf3 expression but the regulation functions through the epithelium (Figure 9). BMP4 inhibited the expression of Fgf3 in the cultured incisor, but the expression was rescued by ActivinA. In addition to ActivinA inducing ectopic expression close the lingual dental epithelium, inhibition of BMP by Noggin was able to mimic this phenomenon.



Figure 9.

A signalling network regulating epithelial stem cells in the mouse incisor. Fgf3, which together with FGF10 regulate epithelial stem cell proliferation, is expressed in the dental papilla on the labial side. BMP4 inhibits Fgf3 expression, but Activin antagonises this effect, thus Fgf3 is expressed and epithelial stem cell proliferation is maintained on the labial side. However, on the lingual side Fst negatively regulates Activin and BMP4 is able to inhibit Fgf3 expression, therefore the amount of stem cells is limited. Consistent with this is the phenotype of K14-Noggin incisor where proliferation is increased in both labial and lingual dental epithelia (Plikus et al., 2005). Schematic pictures of different incisor phenotypes of several mouse mutants are in Figure 10. Our results suggest that BMP4 inhibits *Fgf3* expression, but that Activin can counteract the inhibition and hence Fgf3 is expressed. This occurs on the labial side, while on the lingual side Fst inhibits Activin, which allows BMP negatively regulate Fgf3 expression and the epithelial proliferation remains low in the lingual cervical loop. Both BMP and Activin regulate *Fgf3* expression indirectly through the epithelium. The signalling that induces the expression of Fgf3 and Activin remains unsolved. One candidate, FGF9, is expressed particularly in the epithelium in the cervical loop, and it is able to induce both *Activin* and *Fgf3* expression in the separated mesenchyme. However, some other signal is needed in addition to FGF9 because the asymmetric expression of *Activin* and *Fgf3* is formed before *Fgf9* expression becomes asymmetric and restricted only in the labial cervical loop. It is possible that another FGF could be a participant, because FGFs are functionally redundant.

Expression of Wnt pathway genes and Wnt/ β -catenin activity in the incisors indicate absence of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling in the epithelial stem cells (IV)

The Wnt signalling family, an essential family known to participate in tooth development, has not been analysed much during the incisor development, although it is known to have important



Figure 10.

Several mouse mutants display different phenotypes in the size of stem cell niches of the cervical loops. A wild type incisor presents a typical asymmetry with a large labial cervical loop as well as labial distribution of enamel. In *K14-Fst* incisor this asymmetry is lost, thus labial and lingual cervical loops are equally sized and enamel is absent. Asymmetry is absent also in *Fst*^{-/-} incisor, where lingual cervical loop is enlarged and enamel is formed on both labial and lingual side. In *Fgf3*^{-/-}; *Fgf10*^{+/-} incisor labial cervical loop is hypoplastic but is able to maintain ameloblasts and enamel formation for a short period. When FGF signalling is increased in *Spry2*^{+/-}; *Spry4*^{+/-} incisor differences between labial and lingual cervical loops decrease and enamel is formed on both sides. When BMP signalling is inhibited in *K14-Noggin* incisor the asymmetry is lost; both labial and lingual cervical loops are enlarged and enamel is missing. Dental epithelium in dark grey, enamel in white.

roles in stem cell maintenance or in the proliferation and differentiation of stem cells, depending on the context. We analysed the expression patterns of 12 Wnt ligands as well as several inhibitors, signal mediators and targets, in the incisor at E16 and E18. The analysed Wnt ligands were Wnt2b, Wnt3, Wnt3a, Wnt4, Wnt5a, Wnt5b, Wnt6, Wnt7a, Wnt7b, Wnt10a, Wnt10b and Wnt11, of which Wnt2b and Wnt3 were not detected in the incisor. Most Wnt ligands were detected in the dental epithelium at E16 and /or E18, and some were strongly expressed in the differentiating odontoblasts and ameloblasts. The expression patterns varied but unexpectedly none of the Wnts were expressed in the labial cervical loop, where putative epithelial stem cells reside. However, Wnt4 and Wnt6 were detected in the lingual cervical loop and Wnt5a was intensely expressed in the mesenchyme aligning lingual cervical loop but only weakly around the labial cervical loop. Wnt3a, Wnt4, Wnt6 and Wnt10a were expressed in the preameloblasts and ameloblasts. At E18 Wnt6 and Wnt10a were intensely expressed in the odontoblasts.

The analysed Wnt pathway mediators and inhibitors included transcription factors Lef1 and Tcf1, three antagonists of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway Dkk1, Dkk2 and Dkk4, and two as of yet functionally controversial genes Lrp4 and Dkk3 (Behrens et al., 1998; Ohazama et al., 2008; Caricasole et al. 2003; Hoang et al. 2004; Niehrs, 2006; Lee et al. 2009). Dkk4 expression was not detected in the incisor, although it was present in the molar (Fliniaux et al., 2008). Also Dkk1, Dkk2 and Dkk3 are expressed in the molar (Fjeld et al., 2005). None of the analysed Wnt mediators or inhibitors was detected in the epithelium of the labial cervical

in the mesenchyme, except Lrp4 and Dkk3 expression, which were seen in the dental epithelium. Lef1 and Tcf1 were expressed in the mesenchyme close to the labial and lingual cervical loops, and Tcf1, Lrp5 and *Dkk1* were expressed intensely in the odontoblasts. Axin2, a negative regulator and downstream target of Wnt/β-catenin signalling, was expressed in the lingual epithelium and weak expression was also seen in the preameloblasts and ameloblasts in the labial side. In the mesenchyme Axin2 expression was intense, detected close to the labial and lingual cervical loops and in addition to in the preodontoblasts and odontoblasts at E16 and E18. To further study Wnt signalling in developing incisor we analysed active Wnt/β-catenin signalling with three different Wnt reporter mouse lines, BATgal, TOPgal and Conductin/Axin2^{lacZ/}

loop. The expressions were mainly seen

lacZ (DasGupta and Fuchs, 1999; Lustig et al, 2002; Maretto et al., 2003). BATgal and TOPgal lines have several mulitimerised TFC/Lef binding sites and siamois or c-fos minimal promoter driving LacZ expression (DasGupta et al., 1999; Maretto et al., 2003). The reporter lines indicate active Wnt signalling by expressing the enzyme β -galactosidase from *LacZ* gene in cells where the transgene is activated. Axin2 expression and BATgal and TOPgal reporter activity were all missing from the labial cervical loop. In addition, reporter activity was missing from the entire dental epithelium, thus the reporter activity was slightly different although partially overlapping with the Axin2 expression and some variability was seen also between the reporter lines. BATgal reporter was detected in the papilla, but most intensely in the preodontoblasts and odontoblasts, and also in the cells surrounding cervical loops. TOPgal was also active in the

odontoblasts, and in the cells underlying odontoblast layer. The expression of Axin2 was intense and distributed more widely than the reporter line activities in the mesenchyme. Axin2 expression was also seen in the dental epithelium. These observations indicate that reporter activity was variable but partially overlapping, and Axin2 expression was seen even in the wider areas. Similar observations have been made in other tissues as well. suggesting that the reporter lines might show different activity depending on the transgene and fail to locate low levels of Wnt/\beta-catenin signalling (Boras-Granic and Wysolmerski, 2008; Barolo, 2006). Wnt signalling might participate in preodontoblast and odontoblast differentiation and functioning, but it does not seem to have a role in the maintenance of epithelial stem cells in the incisor.

Lgr5, a Wnt target gene associated with intestinal and hair stem cells (Barker et al., 2007; Jaks et al., 2008), was expressed in the incisor both at E16 and E18. The expression pattern was localised in the epithelium of the cervical loop, in a small compartment of cells within the stellate reticulum of labial cervical loop. The area corresponds to the site where putative epithelial stem cells are thought to reside. This was the only site of expression in the incisor at these stages. Because no Wnt activity was seen in the Lgr5 expressing cells it is possible that in the incisor Lgr5 is not a direct Wnt target gene.

Wnt signalling has an essential role the tooth development. Alterations in Wnt signalling affect tooth development already in the early stages. Inhibition of Wnt signalling, as in *Lef-/-* mice, arrests tooth development at the bud stage because mesenchymal β -catenin is essential for transition from bud to cap stage (van Genderen et al., 1994; Chen et al., 2009). On the other hand, continuous activation of Wnt/β-catenin signalling in the oral epithelium induces ectopic teeth and continuous tooth formation (Järvinen et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2008). Our results show that analysed Wnt ligands, inhibitors or mediators are expressed extensively in the incisor, but nonetheless all of them are absent from the labial cervical loop where epithelial stem cells reside. In addition, active Wnt/β-catenin signalling was missing from the epithelium. However, Lgr5, an epithelial stem cell marker in the intestine and hair follicle was expressed in the labial cervical loop, suggesting this as the location of the epithelial stem cell niche.

We detected the expression of 10 Wnt ligands in the developing incisor at the cell differentiation stage at E16 and E18, possibly participating in the cellular differentiation. However, although expressions of different Wnts were seen in the epithelium, Wnt/β -catenin activity was detected only in the mesenchyme. Consistent with this, Lef1 and Tcf1, Wnt signalling mediators, were missing from the epithelium. Nonetheless, Wnts do not signal only through Wnt/β-catenin pathway, but several non-canonical pathways also exist. Some of the analysed ligands can activate non-canonical pathways, resulting in a more complex structure for the signalling pathway as well as complicating the analyses. Thus, the reporter lines, which indicate only active Wnt/β-catenin signalling, might not reveal all active Wnt signalling in the incisor. For instance, Wnt5a, often associated as a non-canonical Wnt ligand, is intensely expressed in the mesenchyme next to the lingual cervical loop, suggesting that it might have a role in the negative regulation of epithelial stem cells.

Wnt reporter activity overlapped and was intense in the odontoblasts in all the three reporter lines. Wnt6 and Wnt10a are intensely expressed in the odontoblasts and epithelium aligning the odontoblasts, and epithelium is known to regulate odontoblast differentiation (Thesleff et al., 2001), suggesting that these genes affects the regulation of odontoblast. Wnt10a has also been proposed to participate in odontoblast differentiation in the molars (Yamashiro et al., 2007). However, stabilisation of β -catenin in the mesenchyme leads to the disruption of ameloblast and odontoblast differentiation. suggesting that Wnt/β-catenin signalling has to be strictly balanced during cellular differentiation (Chen et al., 2009). Recently heterozygotes of the same Axin2^{LacZ/LacZ} mouse line we analysed were also used to study active Wnt/β-catenin signalling in the post natal tooth. Reporter activity was detected in the odontoblasts before terminal differentiation and in the developing roots (Lohi et al., 2009). Active Wnt/β-catenin might be necessary only during certain stages of odontoblast differentiation and constant activation might lead to disruption of the cells. In the epithelium reporter activity was seen only in the enamel free zones, in the tips of both molars and incisor, and on the lingual side of the incisor (Lohi et al., 2009). These results are in line with our results in analysing the reporter activity of Axin2^{LacZ/LacZ} in the embryonic incisor where the ameloblast were devoid of active Wnt/β-catenin signalling (data not shown). Nevertheless weak expression of Axin2 mRNA was detected in the preameloblasts and ameloblasts. Wnt/βcatenin signalling may have a role in the inhibition of ameloblast differentiation as indicated by intense expression of Axin2 in the lingual epithelium. The weak Axin2

mRNA level detected on the labial side could be negatively regulated or might not be intense enough to inhibit ameloblast differentiation.

Lack of active Wnt signalling in the presumptive epithelial stem cells in the labial cervical loop of the incisor was unexpected. Only Axin2 expression suggested Wnt signalling in the epithelium. Axin2 was expressed in the preameloblasts and ameloblasts, but the level of expression was low. In the lingual cervical loop of the incisor, where ameloblast differentiation is inhibited, Axin2 expression was intense. This suggests that Wnt signalling participates in the inhibition of epithelial stem cell proliferation. In hair follicle stem cells Wnt/β-catenin signalling is weak but its upregulation in the transit amplifying cells suggesting that β -catenin stabilization enhances the transition from the stem cells to the transit amplifying cells in the hair follicle (Lowry et al., 2005).

Overexpression of Wnt3 in the epithelium under K14 promoter causes progressive loss of ameloblasts postnatally (Millar et al., 2003). Progressive loss of ameloblasts might be due to depletion of stem cells and/or inhibition of stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Our results suggest that Wnt signalling is associated with negative regulation of stem cells and absence of ameloblasts. It is not possible to conclude which stage in ameloblast differentiation was affected in the ameloblasts of K14-Wnt3 incisor.

The exact location of epithelial stem cells in the cervical loop is still unsolved. The current knowledge of the stem cells comes from several different experiments which nonetheless have not solved exactly which cells are the stem cells in the cervical loop. Lgr5 is a stem cell marker in the intestine and hair follicle, which have the stem cell niches morphologically resembling the incisor niche (Thesleff and Tummers, 2009). We detected Lgr5 expression in the cervical loop, within the restricted population of epithelial cells, suggesting that they might be stem cells. However, we did not find any Wnt activity in the proximity of Lgr5 positive cells, suggesting that different mechanisms regulate Lgr5 in the incisor compared to the intestine and hair follicle. Nevertheless, the expression pattern suggests that Lgr5 in the incisor indicates the location of stem cells and that the function of Lgr5 might be conserved in different epithelial stem cells. Lgr5-/- mice die at birth (Morita et al., 2004), thus the phenotype of adult Lgr5-/- and the adult stem cells is uncharacterised.

Our results suggest that Wnt/β-catenin signalling does not directly regulate the epithelial stem cells of the incisor. However, the expression patterns of Wnt pathway genes together with the analysis of reporter activity indicate that Wnt signalling is active in the mesenchyme surrounding or adjacent to the cervical loops, especially the lingual cervical loop, suggesting that Wnts may have an indirect role in the regulation of cervical loop epithelial cells. The more prominent activity detected on the lingual side suggests that mesenchymal Wnt/β-catenin signalling might have an inhibitory role in epithelial stem cell maintenance.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Changes in the balance of signalling regulating the development can cause prominent changes in developing tissues and organs. This study showed that changes in the activity of a negative regulator, Fst, resulted in major changes in the development of tooth, including abnormal crown morphology, alterations in enamel patterning and the capacity of teeth to grow and renew.

The different dental characters are flexible and they are regulated by repetitive use of signalling molecules. In mammals, the complexity of dentition has expanded as changes in morphology of tooth rather than as increased number of teeth (Jernvall and Salazar-Ciudad, 2007). Tooth shape show extending morphological diversity in mammals and especially in the molars the characteristics of cusp patterning are varied. The formation of cusps inducing enamel knots is regulated by a competition between activator and inhibitor factors. and alterations in positioning enamel knots can lead to drastic changes in the crown patterning (Salazar-Ciudad and Jernvall, 2002). When the balance of Fst signalling was altered either by loss or gain of function, the molar cusp pattern became aberrant. These results suggest that Fst modulates enamel knot formation and thereby crown morphogenesis, and that this regulation occurs through inhibition of Activin and BMP signalling. Hence, this is another example that the balance of the regulators must be strictly fine-tuned because subtle modifications can cause major changes in the crown patterning.

We identified the molecular mechanisms responsible for asymmetric enamel patterning of continuously growing incisor. Ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation are altered when signalling of two TGF β family members, BMP and Activin, are modulated by Fst. The reciprocal interaction occurs between three tissue layers, follicle and papilla mesenchyme and dental epithelium between them. We demonstrated that BMP4 regulates differentiation of epithelial stem cells into ameloblasts, which are responsible for enamel formation. The restricted enamel deposition on labial side resulted from the asymmetric expression of Fst, which is regulated by Activin, and indicated that Fst is a negative regulator of ameloblast differentiation. On the lingual side Fst inhibits BMP4 and ameloblast differentiation, but on the labial side inhibitory signal is absent from the zone of differentiating preameloblasts and ameloblasts, thus BMP4 is able to induce differentiation. These results indicate the importance of BMP as an inductive signal of ameloblast differentiation. The ameloblast differentiation is suggested to be both non cell-autonomous and cellautonomous. Shh, together with TGF^β1, may be one of the cell-autonomous signals regulating ameloblasts (Gritli-Linde et al., 2002; Haryuama et al., 2006). Our results uncover a new signalling pathway regulating ameloblast differentiation.

Regenerative medicine has advanced remarkably during the last decade and stem cells are likely to become a valuable tool for it. Still many problems remain, and understanding the precise mechanisms of stem cell maintenance and differentiation, tissue morphogenesis and molecular mechanisms regulating these phenomena need to increase before tissue engineering can become efficient treatment for clinical use. We identified a signalling network regulating epithelial stem cell proliferation in the cervical loops of the incisor. Due to iterative use of molecules and pathways in different tissues during the development this network may elucidate characteristics of other regulatory networks. Our results indicate that a complex signalling interaction between Activin, BMP, FGF and Fst controls the stem cells. FGF3 induces epithelial stem cell proliferation and BMP4 inhibits Fgf3 expression. Activin can inhibit the repressive effects of BMP4, but it only occurs on the labial side because asymmetrically expressed *Fst* antagonises Activin signalling, and thus limits the number of lingual stem cells.

Although stem cells have been under vigorous research they have remained elusive in many tissues due to the absence of tools of recognition. Also in the mouse incisors, markers of stem cells are still lacking. Studies concerning stem cells in epidermal organs have been focusing on bulge in the hair follicle and in crypt of the intestine, and several stem cell markers

for these niches have been identified. including Lgr5 (Barker et al., 2007; Jaks et al., 2008). The epithelial stem cell niche in the mouse incisor shares some resemblance with these two niches, but whether the *Lgr5* expressing cells which we detected in the incisor are stem cells or not remains to be further analysed. The exact location of incisor stem cells is still debatable, although the first evidences of the stem cell niche location in the cervical loop were achieved already a decade ago (Harada et al., 1999). One challenge for clinical use of stem cells has also been how to obtain the cells. However, recently a method was reported to reprogram cells into pluripotent cells (iPS), indistinguishable from embryonic stem cells, thus giving a possibility to use patient's own cells for tissue engineering (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Takahashi et al., 2007).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Institute of Biotechnology, University of Helsinki, under supervision of Professor Irma Thesleff. I wish to express my deepest gratitude to Irma for giving me the opportunity to work in her lab and for sharing her wide knowledge of developmental biology as well as providing an excellent working environment.

I wish to thank Professors Mart Saarma and Tomi Mäkelä, previous and current director of the Institute of Biotechnology, for providing excellent working facilities. I thank Viikki Graduate School for Biosciences for funding as well as for organising interesting courses and seminars. I also thank Sigrid Juselius Foundation for financial support.

I thank Professor Satu Alaluusua and MD, PhD Kirmo Wartiovaara for reviewing the manuscript and for the valuable comments. I am grateful for Kirmo and Docent Ulla Pirvola for being in my follow-up group.

Docent Marja Mikkola is appreciated for having been helpful with the scientific problems. I thank my collaborators Xiu-Ping Wang and Szabolcz Felszeghy. Xiu-Ping also gave me many valuable advises in the beginning of my research project. I am grateful for Merja Mäkinen, Heidi Rimaaja, Riikka Santalahti and Raija Savolainen for their excellent technical help and discussions. I thank Addison Kemp for the revision of English in this thesis and Tinde Päivärinta for the layout.

I am very grateful for all the former and present members of Thesleff group for creating an enthusiastic and friendly working atmosphere. From the former group members I especially wish to thank Elina Järvinen for sharing many joyful years in the lab and unforgettable conference trips, Marja Pummila and Ingrid Fliniaux for their delightful company and discussions, and Johanna Laurikkala for her friendship. From the present group members I especially and warmly thank Sylvie Lefebvre and Maria Voutilainen for being wonderful friends and enthusiastic colleagues. Many, many thanks to Enni Harjunmaa and Pauliina Munne from Jernvall group for being dear and helpful friends, and sharing scientific as well as non-scientific discussions during the years. I also wish to thank Maria Jussila, Fred Michon, Katja Närhi and Mark Tummers for their friendship.

I wish to thank my friends and family for support during my thesis work. I warmly thank Saila, Tinka and Laura for their friendship and sharing happy moments. I am grateful for my mother, father, sister and brother for encouragement and assistance.

Marika Suomalainen

Helsinki, December 2009

REFERENCES

- Adaimy L, Chouery E, Mégarbané H, Mroueh S, Delague V, Nicolas E, Belguith H, de Mazancourt P, Mégarbané A. 2007. Mutation in WNT10A is associated with an autosomal recessive ectodermal dysplasia: the odonto-onycho-dermal dysplasia. Am J Hum Genet 81:821-828.
- Alvarez Y, Alonso MT, Vendrell V, Zelarayan LC, Chamero P, Theil T, Bösl MR, Kato S, Maconochie M, Riethmacher D, Schimmang T. 2003. Requirements for FGF3 and FGF10 during inner ear formation. Development 130:6329-6338.
- Amar S, Luo W, Snead ML, Ruch JV. 1989. Amelogenin gene expression in mouse incisor heterotopic recombinations. Differentiation 41:56-61.
- Andl T, Reddy ST, Gaddapara T, Millar SE. 2002. WNT signals are required for the initiation of hair follicle development. Dev Cell 2:643-653.
- Andl T, Ahn K, Kairo A, Chu EY, Wine-Lee L, Reddy ST, Croft NJ, Cebra-Thomas JA, Metzger D, Chambon P, Lyons KM, Mishina Y, Seykora JT, Crenshaw EB 3rd, Millar SE. 2004. Epithelial Bmpr1a regulates differentiation and proliferation in postnatal hair follicles and is essential for tooth development. Development 131:2257-2268.
- Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Matsuno K, Fortini ME. 1995. Notch signaling. Science 268:225-232.
- Balemans W, Van Hul W. 2002. Extracellular regulation of BMP signaling in vertebrates: a cocktail of modulators. Dev Biol 250:231-250.
- Barker N, van Es JH, Kuipers J, Kujala P, van den Born M, Cozijnsen M, Haegebarth A, Korving J, Begthel H, Peters PJ, Clevers H. 2007. Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature 449:1003-1007.
- Barolo S. 2006. Transgenic Wnt/TCF pathway reporters: all you need is Lef? Oncogene 25:7505-7511.
- Barrandon Y, Green H. 1987. Three clonal types of keratinocyte with different capacities for multiplication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:2302-2306.
- Bartel DP. 2004. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116: 281–297.
- Bartel DP. 2009. MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell 136:215-233.
- Bates CM. 2007. Role of fibroblast growth factor receptor signaling in kidney development. Pediatr Nephrol 22:343-349.
- Begley CG, Aplan PD, Davey MP, Nakahara K, Tchorz K, Kurtzberg J, Hershfield MS, Haynes BF, Cohen DI, Waldmann TA, Kirsch IR. 1989. Chromosomaltransl ocation in a human leukemic stem-cell line disrupts the T-cell antigen receptor delta-chain diversity region and results in a previously unreported fusion transcript. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86:2031–2035.
- Bègue-Kirn C, Smith AJ, Ruch JV, Wozney JM, Purchio A, Hartmann D, Lesot H. 1992. Effects of dentin proteins, transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF beta 1) and bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP2) on the differentiation of odontoblast in vitro. Int J Dev Biol 36:491-503.
- Bègue-Kirn C, Smith AJ, Loriot M, Kupferle C, Ruch JV, Lesot H. 1994. Comparative analysis of TGF betas, BMPs, IGF1, msxs, fibronectin, osteonectin and bone sialoprotein gene expression during normal and in vitro-induced odontoblast differentiation. Int J Dev Biol 38:405-420.

- Behrens J, Jerchow BA, Würtele M, Grimm J, Asbrand C, Wirtz R, Kühl M, Wedlich D, Bei M, Maas R. 1998. FGFs and BMP4 induce both Msx1-independent and Msx1-dependent signaling pathways in early tooth development. Development 125:4325-4333.
- Bei M, Kratochwil K, and Maas RL. 2000. BMP4 rescues a non-cell-autonomous function of Msx1 in tooth development. Development 127:4711-4718.
- Bei M, Stowell S, Maas R. 2004. Msx2 controls ameloblast terminal differentiation. Dev Dyn 231:758-765.
- Bharathy S, Xie W, Yingling JM, Reiss M. 2008. Cancer-associated transforming growth factor beta type II receptor gene mutant causes activation of bone morphogenic protein-Smads and invasive phenotype. Cancer Res 68:1656-1666.
- Birchmeier W. 1998. Functional interaction of an axin homolog, conductin, with β -catenin, APC, and GSK3 β . Science 280:596-599.
- Bitgood MJ, McMahon AP. 1995. Hedgehog and Bmp genes are coexpressed at many diverse sites of cell-cell interaction in the mouse embryo. Dev Biol 172:126-138.
- Blanpain C, Lowry W E, Geoghegan A, Polak L, Fuchs E. 2004. Self-renewal, multipotency, and the existence of two cell populations within an epithelial stem cell niche. Cell 118:635–648.
- Blanpain C, Lowry WE, Pasolli HA, Fuchs E. 2006. Canonical notch signaling functions as a commitment switch in the epidermal lineage. Genes Dev 20:3022–3035.
- Blanpain C, Horsley V, Fuchs E. 2007. Epithelial stem cells: turning over new leaves. Cell 128:445-458.
- Bloch-Zupan A, Leveillard T, Gorry P, Fausser JL, Ruch JV. 1998. Expression of p21(WAF1/ CIP1) during mouse odontogenesis. Eur J Oral Sci 106 suppl 1:104-111.
- Boehm T, Baer R, Lavenir I, Forster A, Waters JJ, Nacheva E, Rabbits TH. 1988. The mechanism of chromosomaltransl ocation t(11;14) involving the T-cell receptor C delta locus on human chromosome 14q11 and a transcribed region of chromosome 11p15. EMBO J 7:385–394.
- Boran T, Peterkova R, Lesot H, Lyons DB, Peterka M, Klein OD. 2009. Temporal analysis of ectopic enamel production in incisors from sprouty mutant mice. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol 312B:473-485.
- Boras-Granic K, Wysolmerski JJ. 2008. Wnt signaling in breast organogenesis. Organogenesis 4:116-122.
- Calvi LM, Adams GB, Weibrecht KW, Weber JM, Olson DP, Knight MC, Martin RP, Schipani E, Divieti P, Bringhurst FR, Milner LA, Kronenberg HM, Scadden DT. 2003. Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. Nature 425: 841–846.
- Cam Y, Neumann MR, Oliver L, Raulais D, Janet T, Ruch JV. 1992. Immunolocalization of acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors during mouse odontogenesis. Int J Dev Biol 36:381-389.
- Caricasole A, Ferraro T, Iacovelli L, Barletta E, Caruso A, Melchiorri D, Terstappen GC, Nicoletti F. 2003. Functional characterisation of WNT7a signaling in PC12 cells; interaction with A FZD5 x LRP6 receptor complex and modulation by Dickkopf proteins. J Biol Chem 26:37024-37031.
- Caterina JJ, Skobe Z, Shi J, Ding Y, Simmer JP, Birkedal-Hansen H, Bartlett JD. 2002. Enamelysin (matrix metalloproteinase 20)-deficient mice display an amelogenesis imperfecta phenotype. J Biol Chem 277:49598-49604.

- Catón J, Luder HU, Zoupa M, Bradman M, Bluteau G, Tucker AS, Klein O, Mitsiadis TA. 2009. Enamel-free teeth: Tbx1 deletion affects amelogenesis in rodent incisors. Dev Biol 328:493-505.
- Chang CH, Jiang TX, Lin CM, Burrus LW, Chuong CM, Widelitz R. 2004. Distinct Wnt members regulate the hierarchical morphogenesis of skin regions (spinal tract) and individual feathers. Mech Dev 121:157–171
- Chen Y, Bei M, Woo I, Satokata I, Maas R. 1996. Msx1 controls inductive signaling in mammalian tooth morphogenesis. Development 122:3035-3044.
- Chen J, Lan Y, Baek JA, Gao Y, Jiang R. 2009. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling plays an essential role in activation of odontogenic mesenchyme during early tooth development. Dev Biol 334:174-185.
- Cheshier SH, Morrison SJ, Liao X, Weissman IL. 1999. In vivo proliferation and cell cycle kinetics of long-term self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3120-3125.
- Chiba S. 2006. Notch signaling in stem cell systems. Stem Cells. 24:2437-2447
- Chu EY, Hens J, Andl T, Kairo A, Yamaguchi TP, Brisken C, Glick A, Wysolmerski JJ, Millar SE. 2004. Canonical WNT signaling promotes mammary placode development and is essential for initiation of mammary gland morphogenesis. Development 131:4819-4829.
- Claudinot S, Nicolas M, Oshima H, Rochat A, Barrandon Y. 2005. Long-term renewal of hair follicles from clonogenic multipotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:14677–14682.
- Clevers H. 2006. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell 127:469-480.
- Coin R, Haikel Y, Ruch JV. 1999. Effects of apatite, transforming growth factor beta-1, bone morphogenetic protein-2 and interleukin-7 on ameloblast differentiation in vitro. Eur J Oral Sci 107:487-495.
- Collins EC, Rabbitts TH. 2002. The promiscuous MLL gene links chromosomal translocations to cellular differentiation and tumour tropism. Trends Mol Med 8:436–442.
- Colvin JS, White AC, Pratt SJ, Ornitz DM. 2001. Lung hypoplasia and neonatal death in Fgf9null mice identify this gene as an essential regulator of lung mesenchyme. Development 128:2095-2106.
- Conlon RA, Reaume AG, Rossant J. 1995. Notch1 is required for the coordinate segmentation of somites. Development 121:1533-1545.
- Cotsarelis G, Sun TT, Lavker RM. 1990. Label-retaining cells reside in the bulge area of pilosebaceous unit: implications for follicular stem cells, hair cycle, and skin carcinogenesis. Cell 61:1329-1337.
- Cotsarelis G. 2006. Epithelial stem cells: a folliculocentric view. J Invest Dermatol 126:1459-1468.
- DasGupta R, Fuchs E. 1999. Multiple roles for activated LEF/TCF transcription complexes during hair follicle development and differentiation. Development 126:4557-4568.
- Dassule HR, McMahon AP. 1998. Analysis of epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in the initial morphogenesis of the mammalian tooth. Dev Biol 202:215-227.
- Dassule HR, Lewis P, Bei M, Maas R, McMahon AP. 2000. Sonic hedgehog regulates growth and morphogenesis of the tooth. Development 127:4775-4785.

- Davis BN, Hilyard AC, Lagna G, Hata A. 2008 SMAD proteins control DROSHA-mediated microRNA maturation. Nature 454:56-61.
- De Moerlooze L, Spencer-Dene B, Revest JM, Hajihosseini M, Rosewell I, Dickson C. 2000. An important role for the IIIb isoform of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 (FGFR2) in mesenchymal-epithelial signalling during mouse organogenesis. Development 127:483-492.
- Derynck R, Zhang YE. 2003 Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways in TGF-beta family signalling. Nature 425:577-584.
- De Winter JP, Ten Dijke P, De Vries CJM, Van Actenberberg TAE, De Waele P, Huylebroeck D Verschueren K, van den Ejinden-van Raaij. 1996. Follistatins neutralize activin bloacitivity by inhibition of activin binding to its type II receptors. Mol Cell Endocrinol 116:105-114.
- Doe CQ, Goodman CS. 1985. Early events in insect neurogenesis. II. The role of cell interactions and cell lineage in the determination of neuronal precursor cells. Dev Biol 111:206–219.
- Duailibi MT, Duailibi SE, Young CS, Bartlett JD, Vacanti JP, Yelick PC. 2004. Bioengineered teeth from cultured rat tooth bud cells. J Dent Res 83:523-528.
- Dudley AT, Lyons KM, Robertson EJ. 1995. A requirement for bone morphogenetic protein-7 during development of the mammalian kidney and eye. Genes Dev 9:2795-2807.
- Ellisen LW, Bird J, West DC, Soreng AL, Reynolds TC, Smith SD, Sklar J. 1991. TAN-1, the human homolog of the Drosophila notch gene, is broken by chromosomal translocations in T lymphoblastic neoplasms. Cell 66:649–661.
- Ernst W, Saugspier M, Felthaus O, Driemel O, Morsczeck C. 2009. Comparison of murine dental follicle precursor and retinal progenitor cells after neural differentiation in vitro. Cell Biol Int 33:758-764.
- Fainsod A, Deissler K, Yelin R, Marom K, Epstein M, Pillemer G, Steinbeisser H, Blum M. 1997. The dorsalizing and neural inducing gene follistatin is an antagonist of BMP-4. Mech Dev 63:39-50.
- Fan H, Khavari PA. 1999. Sonic hedgehog opposes epithelial cell cycle arrest. J Cell Biol 147:71– 76.
- Feldman B, Poueymirou W, Papaioannou VE, DeChiara TM, Goldfarb M. 1995. Requirement of FGF-4 for postimplantation mouse development. Science 267:246-249.
- Feng XH, Derynck R. 2005. Specificity and versatility in tgf-beta signaling through Smads. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 21:659-693.
- Ferguson CA, Tucker AS, Christensen L, Lau AL, Matzuk MM, Sharpe PT. 1998. Activin is an essential early mesenchymal signal in tooth development that is required for patterning of the murine dentition. Genes Dev 12:2636-2649.
- Fevr T, Robine S, Louvard D, Huelsken J. 2007. Wnt/beta-catenin is essential for intestinal homeostasis and maintenance of intestinal stem cells. Mol Cell Biol 27:7551-7559.
- Fjeld K, Kettunen P, Furmanek T, Kvinnsland IH, Luukko K. 2005. Dynamic expression of Wnt signaling-related Dickkopf1, -2, and -3 mRNAs in the developing mouse tooth. Dev Dyn 233:161-166.
- Fliniaux I, Mikkola ML, Lefebvre S, Thesleff I. 2008. Identification of Dkk4 as a target of Eda-A1/Edar pathway reveals an unexpected role of ectodysplasin as inhibitor of Wnt signaling in ectodermal placodes. Dev Biol 320:60-71.

- Fortini ME. 2009. Notch signaling: the core pathway and its posttranslational regulation. Dev Cell 16:633-647.
- Francis-West P, Ladher R, Barlow A, Graveson A. 1998. Signaling interactions during facial development. Mech Dev 75:3-28.
- Fuchs E. 2009. Finding one's niche in the skin. Cell Stem Cell 4:499-502.
- Fukumoto S, Kiba T, Hall B, Iehara N, Nakamura T, Longnecker G, Krebsbach PH, Nanci A, Kulkarni AB, Yamada Y. 2004. Ameloblastin is a cell adhesion molecule required for maintaining the differentiation state of ameloblasts. J Biol Chem 167:973–983.
- Ghazizadeh S, Taichman L B. 2001. Multiple classes of stem cells in cutaneous epithelium: a lineage analysis of adult mouse skin. EMBO J 20:1215–1222.
- Gibson CW, Yuan ZA, Hall B, Longenecker G, Chen E, Thyagarajan T, Sreenath T, Wright JT, Decker S, Piddington R, Harrison G, Kulkarni AB 2001. Amelogenin-deficient mice display an amelogenesis imperfecta phenotype. J Biol Chem 276:31871-31875.
- Gilbert SF. 2006. Developmental Biology. Sinauer Associatioates Inc., Sunderland.
- Gordon MD, Nusse R. 2006. Wnt signalin: multiple pathways, multiple receptors, and multiple transcription factors. J Biol Chem 281:22429-22433.
- Golonzhka O, Metzger D, Bornert JM, Bay BK, Gross MK, Kioussi C, Leid M. 2009. Ctip2/ Bcl11b controls ameloblast formation during mammalian odontogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4278-4283.
- Golub TR, Barker GF, Bohlander SK, Hiebert SW, Ward DC, Bray-Ward P, Morgan E, Raimondi SC, Rowley JD, Gilliland DG. 1995. Fusion of the TEL gene on 12p13 to the AML1 gene on 21q22 in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:4917–4921.
- Green JB, Smith JC. 1990. Graded changes in dose of a Xenopus activin A homologue elicit stemwise transition in embryonic cell fate. Nature 347:391-394.
- Gritli-Linde A, Bei M, Maas R, Zhang XM, Linde A, McMahon AP. 2002. Shh signaling within the dental epithelium is necessary for cell proliferation, growth and polarization. Development 129:5323-5337.
- Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S. 2000. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:13625-13630.
- Gronthos S, Brahim J, Li W, Fisher LW, Cherman N, Boyde A, DenBesten P, Robey PG, Shi S. 2002. Stem cell properties of human dental pulp stem cells. J Dent Res 81:531-535.
- Grüneberg H, 1971. The glandular aspects of the tabby syndrome in the mouse. J Embryol Exp Morph 25:1-19.
- Haegebarth A, Clevers H. 2009. Wnt signalin, Lgr5, and stem cells in the intestine and skin. Am J Pathol 174:715-721.
- Hamada Y, Kadokawa Y, Okabe M, Ikawa M, Coleman JR, Tsujimoto Y. 1999. Mutation in ankyrin repeats of the mouse Notch2 gene induces early embryonic lethality. Development. 126:3415-3424.
- Harada H, Kettunen P, Jung HS, Mustonen T, Wang YA, Thesleff I. 1999. Localization of putative stem cells in dental epithelium and their association with Notch and FGF signaling. J Cell Biol 147:105-120.

- Harada H, Toyono T, Toyoshima K, Yamasaki M, Itoh N, Kato S, Sekine K, Ohuchi H. 2002. FGF10 maintains stem cell compartment in developing mouse incisors. Development 129:1533-1541.
- Haramis AP, Begthel H, van den Born M, van Es J, Jonkheer S, Offerhaus GJ, Clevers H. 2004. De novo crypt formation and juvenile polyposis on BMP inhibition in mouse intestine. Science 303:1684-1686.
- Harrington AE, Morris-Triggs SA, Ruotolo BT, Robinson CV, Ohnuma S. 2006. Structural basis for the inhibition of activin signaling by follistatin. EMBO J 25:1035-1045.
- Harrison CA, Wiater E, Gray PC, Greenwald J, Choeb S, Vale W. 2004. Modulation of activin and BMP signaling. Mol Cell Endocrinology 225:19–24.
- Hart PS, Hart TC, Michalec MD, Ryu OH, Simmons D, Hong S, Wright JT. 2004. Mutation in kallikrein 4 causes autosomal recessive hypomaturation amelogenesis imperfect. J Med Genet 41:545-549.
- Haryuama N, Thyagarajan T, Skobe Z, Wright JT, Septier D, Sreenath TL, Goldberg M, Kulkarni AB. 2006. Overexpression of transforming growth factor-beta1 in teeth results in detachment of ameloblasts and enamel defects. Eur J Oral Sci 114 Suppl 1:30-34.
- Hatfield SD, Shcherbata HR, Fischer KA, Nakahara K, Carthew RW, Ruohola-Baker H. 2005. Stem cell division is regulated by the microRNA pathway. Nature 435:974-978.
- He X, Saint-Jeannet JP, Wang Y, Nathans J, Dawid I, Varmus H. 1997. A member of the Frizzled protein family mediating axis induction by Wnt-5A. Science 275:1652-1654.
- He XC, Zhang J, Tong WG, Tawfik O, Ross J, Scoville DH, Tian Q, Zeng X, He X, Wiedemann LM, Mishina Y, Li L. 2004. BMP signaling inhibits intestinal stem cell self-renewal through suppression of Wnt-beta-catenin signaling. Nat Genet 36:1117-1121.
- He XC, Yin T, Grindley JC, Tian Q, Sato T, Tao WA, Dirisina R, Porter-Westpfahl KS, Hembree M, Johnson T, Wiedemann LM, Barrett TA, Hood L, Wu H, Li L. 2007. PTEN-deficient intestinal stem cells initiate intestinal polyposis. Nat Genet 39:189-198.
- Headon DJ, Emmal SA, Ferguson BM, Tucker AS, Justice MJ, Sharpe PT, Zonana J, Overbeek PA. 2001. Gene defect in ectodermal dysplasia implicates a death domain adapter in development. Nature 414:913-916.
- Heikinheimo K, Bègue-Kirn C, Ritvos O, Tuuri T, Ruch JV. 1998. Activin and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signalling during tooth development. Eur J Oral Sci 106 Suppl 1:167-173.
- Hemmati-Brivanlou A, Kelly OG, Melton DA 1994. Follistatin, an antagonist of activin, is expressed in the Spemann organizer and displays direct neuralizing activity. Cell 77:283-295.
- Hendrickx M, Leyns L. 2008. Non-conventional Frizzled ligands and Wnt receptors. Dev Growth Differ 50:229-243.
- Hermey G, Methner A, Schaller HC, Hermans-Borgmeyer I. 1999. Identification of a novel seven-transmembrane receptor with homology to glycoprotein receptors and its expression in the adult and developing mouse. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 254:273-279.
- High FA, Epstein JA. 2008. The multifaceted role of Notch in cardiac development and disease. Nat Rev Genet 9:49-61.

- Hoang BH, Kubo T, Healey JH, Yang R, Nathan SS, Kolb EA, Mazza B, Meyers PA, Gorlick R. 2004. Dickkopf3 inhibits invasion and motility of Saos2 osteosarcoma cells by modulating the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Cancer Res 64:2734-2739.
- Holmen SL, Salic A, Zylstra CR, Kirschner MW, Williams BO. 2002. A novel set of Wnt-Frizzled fusion proteins identifies receptor components that activate beta -catenin-dependent signaling. J Biol Chem 277:34727-34735.
- Houbaviy HB, Murray MF, Sharp PA. 2003. Embryonic stem cell-specific microRNAs. Dev Cell 5:351-358.
- Hsieh JC, Kodjabachian L, Rebbert ML, Rattner A, Smallwood PM, Samos CH, Nusse R, Dawid IB, Nathans J. 1999. A new secreted protein that binds to Wnt proteins and inhibits their activities. Nature 398:431-436.
- Iemura S, Yamamoto TS, Takagi C, Uchiyama H, Natsume T, Shimasaki S, Sugino H, Ueno N. 1998. Direct binding of follistatin to a complex of bone-morphogenetic protein and its receptor inhibits ventral and epidermal cell fates in early Xenopus embryo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:9337-9342.
- Ikeda E, Morita R, Nakao K, Ishida K, Nakamura T, Takano-Yamamoto T, Ogawa M, Mizuno M, Kasugai S, Tsuji T. 2009. Fully functional bioengineered tooth replacement as an organ replacement therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:13475-13480.
- Ingham PW, McMahon AP. 2001. Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. Genes Dev 15:3059–3087.
- Iohara K, Nakashima M, Ito M, Ishikawa M, Nakasima A, Akamine A. 2004. Dentin regeneration by dental pulp stem cell therapy with recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 2. J Dent Res 83:590-595.
- Ireland H, Kemp R, Houghton C, Howard L, Clarke AR, Sansom OJ, Winton DJ. 2004. Inducible Cre-mediated control of gene expression in the murine gastrointestinal tract: effect of loss of beta-catenin. Gastroenterology 126:1236-1246.
- Itasaki N, Jones CM, Mercurio S, Rowe A, Domingos PM, Smith JC, Krumlauf R. 2003. Wise, a context-dependent activator and inhibitor of Wnt signalling. Development 130:4295-4305.
- Ito M, Liu Y, Yang Z, Nguyen J, Liang F, Morris RJ, Cotsarelis G. 2005. Stem cells in the hair follicle bulge contribute to wound repair but not to homeostasis of the epidermis. Nat Med 11:1351-1354.
- Itoh N. 2007. The Fgf families in humans, mice, and zebrafish: their evolutional processes and roles in development, metabolism, and disease. Biol Pharm Bull 30:1819-25.
- Jaffe LF. 1999. Organization of early development by calcium patterns. BioEssays 21:657-667.
- Jaks V, Barker N, Kasper M, van Es JH, Snippert HJ, Clevers H, Toftgård R. 2008. Lgr5 marks cycling, yet long-lived, hair follicle stem cells. Nat Genet 40:1291-1299.
- Jensen J, Pedersen EE, Galante P, Hald J, Heller RS, Ishibashi M, Kageyama R, Guillemot F, Serup P, Madsen OD. 2000. Control of endodermal endocrine development by Hes-1. Nat Genet 24:36-44.
- Jernvall J, Kettunen P, Karavanova I, Martin LB, Thesleff I. 1994 Evidence for the role of the enamel knot as a control center in mammalian tooth cusp formation: non-dividing cells express growth stimulating Fgf-4 gene. Int J Dev Biol 38:463-469.

- Jernvall J, Aberg T, Kettunen P, Keranen S, Thesleff I. 1998. The life history of an embryonic signaling center: BMP-4 induces p21 and is associated with apoptosis in the mouse tooth enamel knot. Development 125:161-169.
- Jernvall J, Thesleff I. 2000. Reiterative signaling and patterning during mammalian tooth morphogenesis. Mech Dev 92:19-29.
- Jevnaker AM, Osmundsen H.2008. MicroRNA expression profiling of the developing murine molar tooth germ and the developing murine submandibular salivary gland. Arch Oral Biol. 53:629-645.
- Jiang R, Lan Y, Chapman HD, Shawber C, Norton CR, Serreze DV, Weinmaster G, Gridley T. 1998. Defects in limb, craniofacial, and thymic development in Jagged2 mutant mice. Genes Dev 12:1046-1057.
- Jones PH, Watt FM. 1993. Separation of human epidermal stem cells from transit amplifying cells on the basis of differences in integrin function and expression. Cell 73:713-724.
- Jones PH, Harper S, Watt FM. 1995. Stem cell patterning and fate in human epidermis. Cell 80:83-93.
- Jones SE, Jomary C. 2002. Secreted Frizzled-related proteins: searching for relationships and patterns. Bioessays 24:811-820.
- Jung HS, Francis-West PH, Widelitz RB, Jiang TX, Ting-Berreth S, Tickle C, Wolpert L, Chuong CM. 1998 Local inhibitory action of BMPs and their relationships with activators in feather formation: implications for periodic patterning. Dev Biol 196:11-23.
- Järvinen E, Salazar-Ciudad I, Birchmeier W, Taketo MM, Jernvall J, Thesleff I. 2006. Continuous tooth generation in mouse in induced by activated Wnt/β-catenin signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:18627-18632.
- Järvinen E, Välimäki K, Pummila M, Thesleff I, Jernvall J. 2008. The taming of the shrew milk teeth. Evol Dev 10:477-486.
- Järvinen E, Tummers M, Thesleff I. 2009 The role of the dental lamina in mammalian tooth replacement. J Exp Zoolog B Mol Dev Evol. 312B:281-291.
- Karp X, Ambros V. 2005. Encountering microRNAs in cell fate signaling. Science 310:1288-1289.
- Kassai Y, Munne P, Hotta Y, Penttilä E, Kavanagh K, Ohbayashi N, Takada S, Thesleff I, Jernvall J, Itoh N. 2005. Regulation of mammalian tooth cusp patterning by ectodin. Science. 309:2067-2070.
- Katoh M, Katoh M. 2006. FGF signaling network in the gastrointestinal tract. Int J Oncol. 29:163-168.
- Katoh Y, Katoh M. 2006. Hedgehog signaling pathway and gastrointestinal stem cell signaling network. Int J Mol Med 18:1019-1023.
- Katoh M, Katoh M. 2007. WNT signaling pathway and stem cell signaling network. Clin Cancer Res 13:4042-4045.
- Kaur P, Li A. 2000. Adhesive properties of human basal epidermal cells: an analysis of keratinocyte stem cells, transit amplifying cells, and postmitotic differentiating cells. J Invest Dermatol 114:413-420.

- Kawano Y, Kypta R. 2003. Secreted antagonists of the Wnt signalling pathway. J Cell Sci 116:2627-2634.
- Kere J, Srivastava AK, Montonen O, Zonana J, Thomas N, Ferguson B, Munoz F, Morgan D, Clarke A, Baybayan P, Chen EY, Ezer S, Saarialho-Kere U, de la Chapelle A, Schlessinger D. 1996. X-linked anhidrotic (hypohidrotic) ectodermal dysplasia is caused by mutation in a novel transmembrane protein. Nat Genet 13:409-416.
- Keränen SV, Aberg T, Kettunen P, Thesleff I, Jernvall J. 1998. Association of developmental regulatory genes with the development of different molar tooth shapes in two species of rodents. Dev Genes Evol 208:477-486.
- Keränen SV, Kettunen P, Aberg T, Thesleff I, Jernvall J. 1999. Gene expression patterns associated with suppression of odontogenesis in mouse and vole diastema regions. Dev Genes Evol 209:495-506.
- Kettunen P, Karavanova I, Thesleff I. 1998. Responsiveness of developing dental tissues to fibroblast growth factors: expression of splicing alternatives of FGFR1, -2, -3, and of FGFR4; and stimulation of cell proliferation by FGF-2, -4, -8, and -9. Dev Genet 22:374-385.
- Kettunen P, Thesleff I. 1998. Expression and function of FGFs-4, -8, and -9 suggest functional redundancy and repetitive use as epithelial signals during tooth morphogenesis. Dev Dyn 211:256-268.
- Kettunen P, Laurikkala J, Itäranta P, Vainio S, Itoh N, Thesleff I. 2000. Associations of FGF-3 and FGF-10 with signaling networks regulating tooth morphogenesis. Dev Dyn 219:322-332.
- Khokha MK, Yeh J, Grammer TC, Harland RM. 2005. Depletion of three BMP antagonists from Spemann's organizer leads to a catastrophic loss of dorsal structures. Dev Cell 8:401-411.
- Kiel MJ, Yilmaz OH, Iwashita T, Yilmaz OH, Terhorst C, Morrison SJ. 2005. SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell 121:1109–1121.
- Kikuchi A, Yamamoto H, Kishida S. 2007. Multiplicity of the interactions of Wnt proteins and their receptors. Cell Signal 19:659-671.
- Kim HJ, Bar-Sagi D. 2004. Modulation of signalling by Sprouty: a developing story. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 5:441-450.
- Kim JW, Lee SK, Lee ZH, Park JC, Lee KE, Lee MH, Park JT, Seo BM, Hu JC, Simmer JP. 2008. FAM83H mutations in families with autosomal-dominant hypocalcified amelogenesis imperfect. Am J Hum Genet 82:489-494.
- Kist R, Watson M, Wang X, Cairns P, Miles C, Reid DJ, Peters H. 2005. Reduction of Pax9 gene dosage in an allelic series of mouse mutants causes hypodontia and oligodontia. Hum Mol Genet 14:3605-3617.
- Kitisin K, Saha T, Blake T, Golestaneh N, Deng M, Kim C, Tang Y, Shetty K, Mishra B, Mishra L. 2007 TGF-beta signaling in development. Sci STKE Aug14;399:cm1.
- Klein OD, Minowada G, Peterkova R, Kangas A, Yu BD, Lesot H, Peterka M, Jernvall J, Martin GR. 2006. Sprouty genes control diastema tooth development via bidirectional antagonism of epithelial-mesenchymal FGF signaling. Dev Cell 11:181-190.

- Klein OD, Lyons DB, Balooch G, Marshall GW, Basson MA, Peterka M, Boran T, Peterkova R, Martin GR. 2008. An FGF signaling loop sustains the generation of differentiated progeny from stem cells in mouse incisor. Development 135:377-385.
- Kobielak K, Stokes N, de la Cruz J, Polak L, Fuchs E. 2007. Loss of a quiescent niche but not follicle stem cells in the absence of bone morphogenetic protein signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:10063–10068.
- Kobielak K, Pasolli HA, Alonso L, Polak L, Fuchs E. 2003. Defining BMP functions in the hair follicle by conditional ablation of BMP receptor IA. J Cell Biol 163:609–623.
- Kollar EJ, Baird GR. 1969. The influence of the dental papilla on the development of tooth shape in embryonic mouse tooth germs. J Embryol Exp Morph 21:131–148.
- Kollar EJ, Baird GR. 1970. Tissue interactions in embryonic mouse tooth germs. II. The inductive role of the dental papilla. J Embryol Exp Morph 24:173–186.
- Kopan R, Lee J, Lin MH, Syder AJ, Kesterson J, Crutchfield N, Li CR, Wu W, Books J, Gordon JI. 2002. Genetic mosaic analysis indicates that the bulb region of coat hair follicles contains a resident population of several active multipotent epithelial lineage progenitors. Dev Biol 242:44-57.
- Kopan R, Ilagan MX. 2009. The canonical Notch signaling pathway: unfolding the activation mechanism. Cell 137:216-233.
- Korinek V, Barker N, Moerer P, van Donselaar E, Huls G, Peters PJ, Clevers H. 1998. Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. Nat Genet 19:379-383.
- Koster MI, Kim S, Mills AA, DeMayo F J, Roop DR. 2004. p63 is the molecular switch for initiation of an epithelial stratification program. Genes Dev 18:126–131.
- Kratochwil K, Dull M, Farinas I, Galceran J, Grosschedl R. 1996. Lef1 expression is activated by BMP4 and regulates inductive tissue interactions in tooth and hair development. Genes Dev 10:1382-1394.
- Krebs LT, Xue Y, Norton CR, Shutter JR, Maguire M, Sundberg JP, Gallahan D, Closson V, Kitajewski J, Callahan R, Smith GH, Stark KL, Gridley T. 2000. Notch signaling is essential for vascular morphogenesis in mice. Genes Dev 14:1343-52.
- Krebs LT, Xue Y, Norton CR, Sundberg JP, Beatus P, Lendahl U, Joutel A, Gridley T. 2003. Characterization of Notch3-deficient mice: normal embryonic development and absence of genetic interactions with a Notch1 mutation. Genesis 37:139-143.
- Kuhl M, Sheldahl LC, Malbon CC, Moon RT. 2000. Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II is stimulated by Wnt and Frizzled homologs and promotes ventral cell fates in Xenopus. J Biol Chem 275:12701–12711.
- Kuhnert F, Davis CR, Wang HT, Chu P, Lee M, Yuan J, Nusse R, Kuo CJ. 2004. Essential requirement for Wnt signaling in proliferation of adult small intestine and colon revealed by adenoviral expression of Dickkopf-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:266-271.
- Kuraguchi M, Wang XP, Bronson RT, Rothenberg R, Ohene-Baah NY, Lund JJ, Kucherlapati M, Maas RL, Kucherlapati R. 2006. Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) is required for normal development of skin and thymus. PLoS Genet 2:e146.

- Lammi L, Arte S, Somer M, Järvinen H, Lahermo P, Thesleff I, Pirinen S, Nieminen P. 2004. Mutations in AXIN2 cause familial tooth agenesis and predispose to colorectal cancer. Am J Hum Genet 74:1043-1050.
- Laurikkala J, Pispa J, Jung HS, Nieminen P, Mikkola M, Wang X, Saarialho-Kere U, Galceran J, Grosschedl R, Thesleff I. 2002. Regulation of hair follicle development by the TNF signal ectodysplasin and its receptor Edar. Development 129:2541-2553.
- Laurikkala J, Mikkola ML, James M, Tummers M, Mills AA, Thesleff I. 2006. p63 regulates multiple signalling pathways required for ectodermal organogenesis and differentiation. Development 133:1553-1563.
- Lee EJ, Jo M, Rho SB, Park K, Yoo YN, Park J, Chae M, Zhang W, Lee JH. 2009. Dkk3, downregulated in cervical cancer, functions as a negative regulator of β-catenin. Int J Cancer 124:287-297.
- Lessard J, Sauvageau G. 2003. Bmi-1 determines the proliferative capacity of normal and leukaemic stem cells. Nature 423:255–260.
- Levy V, Lindon C, Harfe BD, Morgan BA. 2005. Distinct stem cell populations regenerate the follicle and interfollicular epidermis. Dev Cell 9:855–861.
- Levy V, Lindon C, Zheng Y, Harfe BD, Morgan BA. 2007. Epidermal stem cells arise from the hair follicle after wounding. FASEB J 21:1358–1366.
- Li A, Simmons PJ, Kaur P. 1998. Identification and isolation of candidate human keratinocyte stem cells based on cell surface phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:3902-7Pinto D, Gregorieff A, Begthel H, Clevers H. 2003. Canonical Wnt signals are essential for homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium. Genes Dev 17:1709-1713.
- Lin CR, Kioussi C, O'Connell S, Briata P, Szeto D, Liu F, Izpisúa-Belmonte JC, Rosenfeld MG. 1999. Pitx2 regulates lung asymmetry, cardiac positioning and pituitary and tooth morphogenesis. Nature 401:279-282.
- Lin Y, Cheng YS, Qin C, Lin C, D'Souza R, Wang F. 2009. FGFr2 in the dental epithelium is essential for development and maintenance of the maxillary cervical loop, a stem cell niche in mouse incisor. Dev Dyn 238:324-330.
- Liu F, Chu EY, Watt B, Zhang Y, Gallant NM, Andl T, Yang SH, Lu MM, Piccolo S, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Taketo MM, Morrisey EE, Atit R, Dlugosz AA, Millar SE. 2008. Wnt/β-catenin signaling directs multiple stages of tooth morphogenesis. Dev Biol 313:210-224.
- Liu G, Bafico A, Aaronson SA. 2005. The mechanism of endogenous receptor activation functionally distinguishes prototype canonical and noncanonical Wnts. Mol Cell Biol 25:3475-3482.
- Liu P, Wakamiya M, Shea MJ, Albrecht U, Behringer RR, Bradley A. 1999. Requirement for Wnt3 in vertebrate axis formation. Nat Genet 22:361-365.
- Liu Y, Lyle S, Yang X, Cotsarelis G. 2003. Keratin 15 promoter targets putative epithelial stem cells in the hair follicle bulge. J Invest Dermatol 121:963–968.
- Løes S, Luukko K, Kvinnsland IH, Kettunen P. 2001. Slit1 is specifically expressed in the primary and secondary enamel knots during molar tooth cusp formation. Mech Dev 107:155-157.

- Lohi M, Tucker AS, Sharpe PT. 2009. Expression of Axin2 indicates a role for canonical Wnt signaling in development of the crown and root during pre- and postnatal tooth development. Dev Dyn Aug 3 Epub.
- Lowry WE, Blanpain C, Nowak JA, Guasch G, Lewis L, Fuchs E. 2005. Defining the impact of β-catenin/Tcf transactivation on epithelial stem cells. Genes Dev 19:1596-1611.
- Luo G, Hofmann C, Bronckers AL, Sohocki M, Bradley A, Karsenty G. 1995 BMP-7 is an inducer of nephrogenesis, and is also required for eye development and skeletal patterning. Genes Dev 9:2808-2820.
- Lustig B, Jerchow B, Sachs M, Weiler S, Pietsch T, Karsten U, van de Wetering M, Clevers H, Schlag PM, Birchmeier W, Behrens J. 2002. Negative feedback loop of Wnt signaling through upregulation of conductin/axin2 in colorectal and liver tumors. Mol Cell Biol 22:1184-1193.
- Luukko K, Løes S, Furmanek T, Fjeld K, Kvinnsland IH, Kettunen P. 2003. Identification of a novel putative signaling center, the tertiary enamel knot in the postnatal mouse molar tooth. Mech Dev 120:270-276.
- Lyle S, Christofidou-Solomidou M, Liu Y, Elder DE, Albelda S, Cotsarelis G. 1998. The C8/144B monoclonal antibody recognizes cytokeratin 15 and defines the location of human hair follicle stem cells. J Cell Sci 111:3179-3188.
- Maherali N, Sridharan R, Xie W, Utikal J, Eminli S, Arnold K, Stadtfeld M, Yachechko R, Tchieu J, Jaenisch R, Plath K, Hochedlinger K. 2007. Directly reprogrammed fibroblasts show global epigenetic remodelling and widespread tissue contribution. Cell Stem Cell 1:55–70.
- Mandker M, Neübuser A. 2001. FGF signalling is necessary for the specification of the odontogenic mesenchyme. Dev Biol 240:548-59.
- Maretto S, Cordenonsi M, Dupont S, Braghetta P, Broccoli V, Hassan AB, Volpin D, Bressan GM, Piccolo S. 2003. Mapping WNT/β-catenin signaling during mouse development and in colorectal tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:3299-3304.
- Mason JM, Morrison DJ, Basson MA, Licht JD. 2006. Sprouty proteins: multifaceted negative-feedback regulators of receptor tyrosine kinase signaling. Trends Cell Biol 16:45-54.
- Matzuk MM, Kumar TR, Vassalli A, Bickenbach JR, Roop DR, Jaenisch R, Bradley A. 1995a. Functional analysis of activins during mammalian development. Nature 374:354-356.
- Matzuk MM, Lu N, Vogel H, Sellheyer K, Roop DR, Bradley A. 1995b. Multiple defects and perinatal death in mice deficient in follistatin. Nature 374:360-363.
- Matzuk MM, Kumar TR, Shou W, Coerver KA, Lau AL, Behringer RR, Finegold MJ. 1996. Transgenic models to study the roles of inhibins and activins in reproduction, oncogenesis, and development. Recent Prog Horm Res 51:123-154.
- McDonald T, Wang R, Bailey W, Xie G, Chen F, Caskey CT, Liu Q. 1998. Identification and cloning of an orphan G protein-coulped receptor of the glycoprotein hormone receptor subfamily. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 247:266-270.
- McDowall M, Edwards NM, Jahoda CA, Hynd PI. 2008. The role of activins and follistatins in skin and hair follicle development and function. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 19:415-426.
- Meissner A, Wernig M, Jaenisch R. 2007. Direct reprogramming of genetically unmodified fibroblasts into pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 25:1177–1181.

- Melton D, Cowan. 2004. "Stemness": Definitions, criteria, and standards. In: Lanza R, Gearhart J, Hogan B, Melton D, Pedersen R, Thomson J, West M (eds.) Handbook of stem cells, pp. XXV-XXXI. Elsevier Academic Press, Burlington.
- Menichella G, Lai M, Serafini R, Pierelli L, Vittori M, Ciarli M, Rumi C, Puggioni P, Scambia G, Sica S, Leone G. 1999. Large volume leukapheresis for collecting hemopoietic progenitors: role of CD 34+ precount in predicting successful collection. Int J Artif Organs 22:334–341.
- Michel U, Farnworth P, Finlay JP. 1993. Follistatins: more than follicle-stimulating hormone suppressing proteins. Mol Cell Endocrinol 91:1-11.
- Mikels AJ, Nusse R. 2006. Purified Wnt5a protein activates of inhibits β-catenin-TCF signaling depending on receptor context. PLoS Biol 4:e115.
- Mikkola ML, Thesleff I. 2003. Ectodysplasin signaling in development. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 14:211-224.
- Mikkola ML, Millar SE. 2006. The mammary bud as a skin appendage: unique and shared aspects of development. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 11:187-203.
- Mikkola ML. 2009. Molecular aspects of hypohidrotic ectodermal dysplasia. Am J Med Genet A 149A:2031-2036.
- Mills AA, Zheng B, Wang XJ, Vogel H, Roop DR, Bradley A. 1999. p63 is a p53 homologue required for limb and epidermal morphogenesis. Nature 398:708-713.
- Min H, Danilenko DM, Scully SA, Bolon B, Ring BD, Tarpley JE, DeRose M, Simonet WS. 1998. Fgf-10 is required for both limb and lung development and exhibits striking functional similarity to Drosophila branchless. Genes Dev 12:3156-161.
- Millar SE, Koyama E, Reddy ST, Andl T, Gaddapara T, Piddington R, Gibson CW. 2003. Overand ectopic expression of Wnt3 causes progressive loss of ameloblasts in postnatal mouse incisor teeth. Connect. Tissue Res 44 suppl 1:124-129.
- Mina M, Kollar EJ. 1987. The induction of odontogenesis in non-dental mesenchyme combined with early murine mandibular arch epithelium. Arch Oral Biol 32:123-127.
- Mitsiadis TA, Hirsinger E, Lendahl U, Goridis C. 1998. Delta-notch signaling in odontogenesis: correlation with cytodifferentiation and evidence for feedback regulation. Dev Biol 204:420-431.
- Mitsiadis TA, Fried K, Goridis C. 1999. Reactivation of Delta-Notch signaling after injury: complementary expression patterns of ligand and receptor in dental pulp. Exp Cell Res 246:312-318.
- Mitsiadis TA, Chéraud Y, Sharpe P, Fontaine-Pérus J. 2003. Development of teeth in chick embryos after mouse neural crest transplantations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:6541-6545.
- Mitsiadis TA, Caton J, Cobourne M. 2006. waking-up the sleeping beauty: recovery of the ancestral bird odontogenic program. J Exp Zoolog B Mol Dev Evol 306:227-233.
- Mitsiadis TA, Barrandon O, Rochat A, Barrandon Y, De Bari C. 2007. Stem cell niches in mammals. Exp Cell Res 313:3377-3385.
- Mitsiadis TA, Tucker AS, De Bari C, Cobourne MT, Rice DP. 2008a. A regulatory relationship between Tbx1 and FGF signaling during tooth morphogenesis and ameloblast lineage determination. Dev Biol 320:39-48.

- Mitsiadis TA, Caton J, De Bari C, Bluteau G. 2008b. The large functional spectrum of the heparin-binding cytokines MK and HB-GAM in continuously growing organs: the rodent incisor as a model. Dev Biol 320:256-266.
- Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao M, Lu B, Fisher LW, Robey PG, Shi S. 2003. SHED: stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:5807-5812.
- Miyazono K, Maeda S, Imamura T. 2005. BMP receptor signaling: Transcriptional targets, regulation, regulation of signals, and signaling cross-talk. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16:251-263.
- Miyoshi H, Shimizu K, Kozu T, Maseki N, Kaneko Y, Ohki M. 1991. t(8;21) breakpoints on chromosome 21 in acute myeloid leukemia are clustered within a limited region of a single gene, AML1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:10431–10434.
- Molofsky AV, Pardal R, Morrison SJ. 2004. Diverse mechanisms regulate stem cell selfrenewal. Curr Opin Cell Biol 16:700-707.
- Montgomery RK, Shivdasani RA. 2009. Prominin1 (CD133) as an intestinal stem cell marker: promise and nuance. Gastroenterology 136:2051-2054.
- Moon RT, Campbell RM, Christian JL, McGrew LL, Shih J, Fraser S. 1993. Xwnt-5A: a maternal Wnt that affects morphogenetic movements after overexpression in embryos of *Xenopus laevis*. Development 119:97–111.
- Moore KA, Lemischka IR. 2006. Stem cells and their niches. Science 311: 1880-1885.
- Morgan BA, Orkin RW, Noramly S, Perez A. 1998. Stage-specific effects of sonic hedgehog expression in the epidermis. Dev Biol 201:1-12.
- Morita H, Mazenbourg S, Bouley DM, Luo CW, Kawamura K, Kuwabara Y, Baribault H, Tian H, Hsueh AJ. 2004. Neonatal lethality of LGR5 null mice is associated with ankyloglossia and gastrointestinal distension. Mol Cell Biol 24:9736-9743.
- Morris RJ, Liu Y, Marles L, Yang Z, Trempus C, Li S, Lin JS, Sawicki JA, Cotsarelis G. 2004. Capturing and profiling adult hair follicle stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 22:411-417.
- Morsczeck C, Götz W, Schierholz J, Zeilhofer F, Kühn U, Möhl C, Sippel C, Hoffmann KH. 2005a. Isolation of precursor cells (PCs) from human dental follicle of wisdom teeth. Matrix Biol 24:155-165.
- Morsczeck C, Moehl C, Götz W, Heredia A, Schäffer TE, Eckstein N, Sippel C, Hoffmann KH. 2005b. In vitro differentiation of human dental follicle cells with dexamethasone and insulin. Cell Biol Int 29:567-575.
- Mou C, Jackson B, Schneider P, Overbeek PA, Headon DJ. 2006. Generation of the primary hair follicle pattern. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:9075–9080.
- Munne PM, Tummers M, Järvinen E, Thesleff I, Jernvall J. 2009. Tinkering with the inductive mesenchyme: Sostdc1 uncovers the role of dental mesenchyme in limiting tooth induction. Development 136:393-402.
- Murashima-Suginami A, Takahashi K, Kawabata T, Sakata T, Tsukamoto H, Sugai M, Yanagita M, Shimizu A, Sakurai T, Slavkin HC, Bessho K. 2007. Rudiment incisors survive and erupt as supernumerary teeth as a result of USAG-1 abrogation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 359:549-555.

- Murray L, Chen B, Galy A, Chen S, Tushinski R, Uchida N, Negrin R, Tricot G, Jagannath S, Vesole D, Barlogie B, Hoffman R, Tsukamoto A. 1995. Enrichment of human hematopoietic stem cell activity in the CD34+ Thy-1+Lin- subpopulation from mobilized peripheral blood. Blood 85:368–378.
- Mustonen T, Tümmers M, Mikami T, Itoh N, Zhang N, Gridley T, Thesleff I. 2002. Lunatic fringe, FGF, and BMP regulate the Notch pathway during epithelial morphogenesis of teeth. Dev Biol 248:281-293.
- Mustonen T, Pispa J, Mikkola ML, Pummila M, Kangas AT, Pakkasjarvi L, Jaatinen R, Thesleff I. 2003. Stimulation of ectodermal organ development by Ectodysplasin-A1. Dev Biol 259:123-136.
- Nakamura T, Takio K, Eto Y, Shibai H, Titani K, Sugino H. 1990. Activin-binding protein from rat ovary is follistatin. Science 247:836-838.
- Nakao K, Morita R, Saji Y, Ishida K, Tomita Y, Ogawa M, Saitoh M, Tomooka Y, Tsuji T. 2007. The development of a bioengineered organ germ method. Nat Methods 4:227-230.
- Nakashima M. 1994. Induction of dentin formation on canine amputated pulp by recombinant human bone morphogenetic proteins (bmp)-2 and -4. J Dent Res 73:1515-1522.
- Nakashima M, Reddi AH. 2003. The application of bone morphogenetic proteins to dental tissue engineering. Nat Biotechnol 21:1025-1032.
- Nanci A. 2008. Ten Cate's Oral Histology. Mosby Elsevier, St. Louis.
- Neubüser A, Peters H, Balling R, Martin GR. 1997. Antagonistic interactions between FGF and BMP signaling pathways: a mechanism for positioning the sites of tooth formation. Cell 90:247-255.
- Nie X, Luukko K, Kettunen P. 2006. BMP signalling in craniofacial development. Int J Dev Biol 50:511-521.
- Niehrs C. 2006. Function and biological roles of the Dickkopf family of Wnt modulators. Oncogene 25:7469-7481.
- Nieminen P, Arte S, Tanner D, Paulin L, Alaluusua S, Thesleff I, Pirinen S. 2001. Identification of a nonsense mutation in the PAX9 gene in molar oligodontia. Eur J Hum Genet 9:743-746.
- Nieminen P. 2009. Genetic basis of tooth agenesis. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol 312B:320-342.
- Nickoloff BJ, Chaturvedi V, Bacon P, Qin JZ, Denning MF, Diaz MO. 2000. Id-1 delays senescence but does not immortalize keratinocytes, J Biol Chem 275:27501–27504.
- Nijhof JG, Braun KM, Giangreco A, van Pelt C, Kawamoto H, Boyd RL, Willemze R, Mullenders LH, Watt FM, de Gruijl FR, van Ewijk W. 2006. The cell-surface marker MTS24 identifies a novel population of follicular keratinocytes with characteristics of progenitor cells. Development 133:3027-3037.
- Nohe A, Keating E, Knaus P, Petersen NO. 2004. Signal transduction of bone morphogenetic protein receptors. Cell Signal 16:291-299.
- Nusse R. 2008. Wnt signaling and stem cell control. Cell Res 18:523-527.
- Ohazama A, Johnson EB, Ota MS, Choi HY, Porntaveetus T, Oommen S, Itoh N, Eto K, Gritli-Linde A, Herz J, Sharpe PT. 2008. Lrp4 modulates extracellular integration of cell pathways in development. PLoS ONE 3:e4092.

- Ohlstein B, Kai T, Decotto E, Spradling A. 2004. The stem cell niche: theme and variations. Curr Opin Cell Biol 16:693-699.
- Orkin SH, Zon LI. 2008. Hematopoiesis: An evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. Cell 132:631-644.
- Ornitz DM, Itoh N. 2001. Fibroblast growth factors. Genome Biol 2(3) Epub.
- Paine ML, Wang HJ, Luo W, Krebsbach PH, Snead ML 2003. A transgenic animal model resembling amelogenesis imperfect related to ameloblastin overexpression. J Biol Chem 278:19447-19452.
- Park IK, Qian D, Kiel M, Becker MW, Pihalja M, Weissman IL, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF. 2003. Bmi-1 is required for maintenance of adult self-renewing haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 423:302–305.
- Patel, K. 1998. Follistatin. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol 30:1087-1093.
- Pearce DJ, Ridler CM, Simpson C, Bonnet D. 2004. Multiparameter analysis of murine bone marrow side population cells. Blood 103:2541–2546.
- Peterková R, Peterka M, Viriot L, Lesot H. 2002. Development of the vestigial tooth primordia as part of mouse odontogenesis. Connect Tissue Res 43:120-128.
- Peters H, Neubüser A, Kratochwil K, Balling R. 1998. Pax9-deficient mice lack pharyngeal pouch derivatives and teeth and exhibit craniofacial and limb abnormalities. Genes Dev 12:2735-2747.
- Pispa J, Jung HS, Jernvall J, Kettunen P, Mustonen T, Tabata MJ, Kere J, Thesleff I. 1999. Cusp patterning defect in Tabby mouse teeth and its partial rescue by FGF. Dev Biol 216:521-534.
- Pispa J, Thesleff I. 2003. Mechanisms of ectodermal organogenesis. Dev Biol 262:195-205.
- Pispa J, Mustonen T, Mikkola ML, Kangas AT, Koppinen P, Lukinmaa PL, Jernvall J, Thesleff I. 2004. Tooth patterning and enamel formation can be manipulated by misexpression of TNF receptor Edar. Dev Dyn 231:432-440.
- Plikus MV, Zeichner-Davis M, Mayer JA, Reyna J, Bringas P, Thewissen JG, Snead ML, Chai Y, Chuong CM. 2005. Morphoregulation of teeth: modulating the number, size, shape and differentiation by tuning Bmp activity. Evol Dev 7: 440-457.
- Plikus MV, Chuong CM. 2008. Complex hair cycle domain patterns and regenerative hair waves in living rodents. J Invest Dermatol 128:1071-1080.
- Potten CS, Kovacs L, Hamilton E. 1974. Continuous labelling studies on mouse skin and intestine. Cell Tissue Kinet 7:271–283.
- Price JA, Bowde DW, Wright JT, Pettenati MJ, Hart TC. 1998. Identification of a mutation in DLX3 associated with tricho-dento-osseous (TDO) syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 7:563-569.
- Pummila M, Fliniaux I, Jaatinen R, James MJ, Laurikkala J, Schneider P, Thesleff I, Mikkola ML. 2007. Ectodysplasin has a dual role in ectodermal organogenesis: inhibition of Bmp activity and induction of Shh expression. Development 134:117-125.
- Rangarajan A, Talora C, Okuyama R, Nicolas M, Mammucari C, Oh H, Aster JC, Krishna S, Metzger D, Chambon P, Miele L, Aguet M, Radtke F, Dotto GP. 2001. Notch signaling is a direct determinant of keratinocyte growth arrest and entry into differentiation. EMBO J 20:3427–3436.
- Risnes S, Peterkova R, Lesot H. 2005. Distribution and structure of dental enamel in incisors of Tabby mice. Arch Oral Biol 50:181-184.
- Rochat A, Kobayashi K, Barrandon Y. 1994. Location of stem cells of human hair follicles by clonal analysis. Cell 76:1063–1073.
- Ruch JV. 1987. Determinisms of odontogenesis. Revis Biol Cellular 14:1-99.
- Rutherford RB, Spangberg L, Tucker M, Rueger D, Charette M. 1994. The time-course of the induction of reparative dentine formation in monkeys by recombinant human osteogenic protein-1. Arch Oral Biol 39:833–838.
- Salazar-Ciudad I, Jernvall J. 2002. A gene network model accounting for development and evolution of mammalian teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:8116-8120.
- Jernvall J, Salazar-Ciudad I. 2007. The economy of tinkering mammalian teeth. Novartis Found Symp 284:207-216
- Sangiorgi E, Capecchi MR. 2008. Bmi1 is expressed in vivo in intestinal stem cells. Nat Genet 40:915-920.
- Sarkar L, Sharpe PT. 1999. Expression of Wnt signaling pathway genes during tooth development. Mech Dev 85:197-200.
- Sato T, Vries RG, Snippert HJ, van de Wetering M, Barker N, Stange DE, van Es JH, Abo A, Kujala P, Peters PJ, Clevers H. 2009. Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature 459:262-265.
- Satokata I, Ma L, Ohshima H, Bei M, Woo I, Nishizawa K, Maeda T, Takano Y, Uchiyama M, Heaney S, Peters H, Tang Z, Maxson R, Maas R. 2000. Msx2 deficiency in mice causes pleiotropic defects in bone growth and ectodermal organ formation. Nat Genet 24:391-395.
- Scaal M, Pröls F, Füchtbauer EM, Patel K, Hornik C, Köhler T, Christ B, Brand-Saberi B. 2002. BMPs induce dermal markers and ectopic feather tracts. Mech Dev 110:51-60.
- Schlake T, Sick S. 2007. Canonical Wnt signaling controls hair follicle spacing. Cell Adh Migr 1:149-151.
- Schneyer AL, Rzucidlo DA, Sluss PM & Crowley WF Jr. 1994. Characterization of unique binding kinetics of follistatin and activin or inhbin in serum. Endocrinology 135:667–674.
- Schneider RA. 1999. Neural crest can form cartilages normally derived from mesoderm during development of the avian head skeleton. Dev Biol 208:441-455.
- Schrewe H, Gendron-Maguire M, Harbison ML, Gridley T. 1994. Mice homozygous for a null mutation of activin beta B are viable and fertile. Mech Dev 47:43-51.
- Seifert JR, Mlodzik M. 2007. Frizzled/PCP signalling: a conserved mechanism regulating cell polarity and directed motility.Nat Rev Genet 8:126-138.
- Seitz CS, Lin Q, Deng H, Khavari PA. 1998. Alterations in NF-kappaB function in transgenic epithelial tissue demonstrate a growth inhibitory role for NF-kappaB. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:2307–2312.
- Sekine K, Ohuchi H, Fujiwara M, Yamasaki M, YoshizawaT, Sato T, Yagishita N, Matsui D, Koga Y, Itoh N, Kato S. 1999. Fgf10 is essential for limb and lung formation. Nat Genet 21:138-141.

- Senoo M, Pinto F, Crum C P, McKeon, F. 2007. p63 is essential for the proliferative potential of stem cells in stratified epithelia. Cell 129:523–536.
- Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, Young M, Robey PG, Wang CY, Shi S. 2004. Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet 364:149-155.
- Shackleton M, Vaillant F, Simpson KJ, Stingl J, Smyth GK, Asselin-Labat ML, Wu L, Lindeman GJ, Visvader JE. 2006. Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell. Nature 439:84-88.
- Slack JM. 2008. Origin of stem cells in organogenesis. Science 322:1498-1501.
- Slusarski DC, Yang-Snyder J, Busa WB, Moon RT. 1997. Modulation of embryonic intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling by Wnt-5A. Dev Biol 182:114–120.
- Smith JC, Price BM, Van Nimmen K, Huylebroeck D. 1990. Identification of a potent Xenopus mesoderm-inducing factor as a homologue of activinA. Nature 345:729-731.
- Snippert HJ, van Es JH, van den Born M, Begthel H, Stange DE, Barker N, Clevers H. 2009. Prominin-1/CD133 marks stem cells and early progenitors in mouse small intestine. Gastroenterology 136:2187-2194.
- Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Fang D, Yamaza T, Seo BM, Zhang C, Liu H, Gronthos S, Wang CY, Shi S, Wang S. 2006. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated functional tooth regeneration in Swine. PLoS ONE 1:e79.
- Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Yamaza T, Tuan RS, Wang S, Shi S, Huang GT. 2008. Characterization of the apical papilla and its residing stem cells from human immature permanent teeth: a pilot study. J Endod 34:166–171.
- Srivastava AK, Pispa J, Hartung AJ, Du Y, Ezer S, Jenks T, Shimada T, Pekkanen M, Mikkola ML, Ko MS, Thesleff I, Kere J, Schlessinger D. 1997. The Tabby phenotype is caused by mutation in a mouse homologue of the EDA gene that reveals novel mouse and human exons and encodes a protein (ectodysplasin-A) with collagenous domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:13069-13074.
- St-Jacques B, Dassule HR, Karavanova I, Botchkarev VA, Li J, Danielian PS, McMahon JA, Lewis PM, Paus R, McMahon AP. 1998 Sonic hedgehog signaling is essential for hair development. Curr Biol 8:1058-1068.
- Stock DW. 2007. Zebrafish dentition in comparative context. J Exp Zoolog B Mol Dev Evol 308:523-549.
- Sugino K, Kurosawa N, Nakamura T, Takio K, Shimasaki S, Ling N, Titani K, Sugino H 1993. Molecular heterogeneity of follistatin, an activin-binding protein. Higher affinity of the carboxyl-terminal truncated forms for heparan sulphate proteoglycans on the ovarian granulosa cell. J Biol Chem 268:15579–15587.
- Sugiyama T, Kohara H, Noda M, Nagasawa T. 2006. Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromalcel l niches. Immunity 25: 977–988.
- Sulyok S, Wankell M, Alzheimer C, Werner S. 2004. Activin: an important regulator of wound repair, fibrosis, and neuroprotection. Mol Cell Endocrinol 225:127-132.

- Swiatek PJ, Lindsell CE, del Amo FF, Weinmaster G, Gridley T. 1994. Notch1 is essential for postimplantation development in mice. Genes Dev 8:707-719.
- Tabata MJ, Fujii T, Liu JG, Ohmori T, Abe M, Wakisaka S, Iwamoto M, Kurisu K. 2002. Bone morphogenetic protein 4 is involved in cusp formation in molar tooth germ of mice. Eur J Oral Sci 110:114-120.
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676.
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., and Yamanaka, S. 2007. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131:861–872.
- Thesleff I, Keränen S, Jernvall J. 2001. Enamel knots as signaling centers linking tooth morphogenesis and odontoblast differentiation. Adv Dent Res 15:14-18.
- Thesleff I, Mikkola M. 2002. The role of growth factors in tooth development. Int Rev Cytol 217:93-135.
- Thesleff I. 2003. Developmental biology and building a tooth. Quintessence Int 34:613-620.
- Thesleff I. 2006. The genetic basis of tooth development and dental defects. Am J Med Genet A 140:2530-2535.
- Thesleff I, Tummers M. 2009. Tooth organogenesis and regeneration. StemBook. www. stembook.org.
- Thisse B, Thisse C. 2005. Functions and regulations of fibroblast growth factor signaling during embryonic development. Dev Biol 287:390-402.
- Thompson TB, Lerch TF, Cook RW, Woodruff TK, Jardetzky TS. 2005. The structure of the follistatin:activin complex reveals antagonism of both type I and type II receptor binding. Developmental Cell 9:535–543.
- Trempus CS, Morris RJ, Bortner CD, Cotsarelis G, Faircloth RS, Reece JM, Tennant RW. 2003. Enrichment for living murine keratinocytes from the hair follicle bulge with the cell surface marker CD34. J Invest Dermatol 120:501-511.
- Tucker AS, Headon DJ, Courtney JM, Overbeek P, Sharpe PT. 2004. The activation level of the TNF family receptor, Edar, determines cusp number and tooth number during tooth development. Dev Biol 268:185-194.
- Tumbar T, Guasch G, Greco V, Blanpain C, Lowry WE, Rendl M, Fuchs E. 2004. Defining the epithelial stem cell niche in skin. Science 303:359-363.
- Tummers M, Thesleff I. 2003. Root or crown: a developmental choice orchestrated by the differential regulation of the epithelial stem cell niche in the tooth of two rodent species. Development 130:1049-1057.
- Tummers M, Yamashiro T, Thesleff I. 2007 Modulation of epithelial cell fate of the root in vitro. J Dent Res 86:1063-1067.
- Tummers M, Thesleff I. 2008. Observations on continuously growing roots of the sloth and the K14-Eda transgenic mice indicate that epithelial stem cells can give rise to both the ameloblast and root epithelium cell lineage creating distinct tooth patterns. Evol Dev 10:187-195.

- Unda FJ, Martin A, Hilario E, Begue-Kirn C, Ruch JV, Arechaga, J. 2000. Dissection of the odontoblast differentiation process in vitro by a combination of FGF1, FGF2, and TGFbeta1. Dev Dyn 218:480–489.
- Ungar AR, Kelly GM, Moon RT. 1995. Wnt4 affects morphogenesis when misexpressed in the zebrafish embryo. Mech Dev 52:153–164.
- Vaahtokari A, Vainio S, Thesleff I. 1991. Associations between transforming growth factor beta 1 RNA expression and epithelial-mesenchymal interactions during tooth morphogenesis. Development 113:985-994.
- Vaahtokari A, Aberg T, Jernvall J, Keranen S, Thesleff I. 1996. The enamel knot as a signaling center in the developing mouse tooth. Mech Dev 54:39-43.
- Vainio S, Karavanova I, Jowett A, Thesleff I. 1993. Identification of BMP-4 as a signal mediating secondary induction between epithelial and mesenchymal tissues during early tooth development. Cell 75:45-58.
- Van Amerongen R, Mikels A, Nusse R. 2008. Alternative Wnt signalling is inhibited by distinct receptors. Sci Signal 1:re9.
- Van Es JH, Clevers H. 2005. Notch and Wnt inhibitors as potential new drugs for intestinal neoplastic disease. Trends Mol Med 11:496–502.
- Van den Eijnden-Van Raaij AJ, van Zoelent EJ, van Nimmen K, Koster CH, Snoek GT, Durston AJ, Huylebroeck D. 1990. Activin-like factor from Xenopus laevis cell line responsible for mesoderm induction. Nature 345:732-734.
- Van der Flier LG, Sabates-Bellver J, Oving I, Haegebarth A, De Palo M, Anti M, Van Gijn ME, Suijkerbuijk S, van de Wetering M, Marra G, Clevers H. 2007. The intestinal Wnt/TCF signature. Gastroenterology 132:628-632.
- Van Genderen C, Okamura RM, Fariñas I, Quo RG, Parslow TG, Bruhn L, Grosschedl R. 1994. Development of several organs that require inductive epithelial-mesenchymal interactions is impaired in LEF-1-deficient mice. Genes Dev 8:2691-2703.
- Vassalli A, Matzuk MM, Gardner HA, Lee KF, Jaenisch R. 1994. Activin/inhibin beta B subunit gene disruption leads to defects in eyelid development and female reproduction. Genes Dev 8:414-427.
- Vauclair S, Nicolas M, Barrandon Y, Radtke F. 2005. Notch1 is essential for postnatal hair follicle development and homeostasis. Dev Biol 284:184-193.
- Viallet JP, Prin F, Olivera-Martinez I, Hirsinger E, Pourquié O, Dhouailly D. 1998. Chick Delta-1 gene expression and the formation of the feather primordia. Mech Dev 72:159-168.
- Wakabayashi Y, Watanabe H, Inoue J, Takeda N, Sakata J, Mishima Y, Hitomi J, Yamamoto T, Utsuyama M, Niwa O, Aizawa S, Kominami R. 2003. Bcl11b is required for differentiation and survival of alphabeta T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol 4:533-539.
- Wang N, Morra M, Wu C, Gullo C, Howie D, Coyle T, Engel P, Terhorst C. 2001. CD150 is a member of a family of genes that encode glycoproteins on the surface of hematopoietic cells. Immunogenetics 53:382–394.
- Wang XP, O'Connell DJ, Lund JJ, Saadi I, Kuraguchi M, Turbe-Doan A, Cavallesco R, Kim H, Park PJ, Harada H, Kucherlapati R, Maas RL. 2009. Apc inhibition of Wnt signaling regulates supernumerary tooth formation during embryogenesis and throughout adulthood. Development 136:1939-1949.

- Wankell M, Munz B, Hubner G, Hans W, Wolf E, Goppelt A, Werner S. 2001. Impaired wound healing in transgenic mice overexpressing the activin antagonist follistatin in the epidermis. EMBO J 20:5361-5372.
- Watt FM, Hogan BL. 2000. Out of Eden: stem cells and their niches. Science 287:1427-1430.
- Wernig M, Meissner A, Foreman R, Brambrink T, Ku M, Hochedlinger K, Bernstein BE, Jaenisch R. 2007. In vitro reprogramming of fibroblasts into a pluripotent ES-cell-like state. Nature 448:318–324.
- Wilson AA, Kotton DN. 2008. Another notch in stem cell biology: Drosophila intestinal stem cells and the specification of cell fates. Bioessays 30:107-109.
- Winnier G, Blessing M, Labosky PA, Hogan BL. 1995. Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is required for mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse. Genes Dev 9:2105-2116.
- Wu MY and Hill CS. 2009. TGF-beta superfamily signalling in embryonic development and homeostasis. Dev Cell 16:329-343.
- Xiao L, Yuan X, Sharkis SJ. 2006 Activin A maintains self-renewal and regulates fibroblast growth factor, Wnt and bone morphogenetic protein in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 24:1476-1486.
- Xue Y, Gao X, Lindsell CE, Norton CR, Chang B, Hicks C, Gendron-Maguire M, Rand EB, Weinmaster G, Gridley T. 1999. Embryonic lethality and vascular defects in mice lacking the Notch ligand Jagged1. Hum Mol Genet 8:723-730.
- Yamamoto Y, Yasumizu R, Amou Y, Watanabe N, Nishio N, Toki J, Fukuhara S, Ikehara S. 1996. Characterization of peripheral blood stem cells in mice. Blood 88:445–454.
- Yamanaka H, Moriguchi T, Masuyama N, Kusakabe M, Hanafusa H, Takada R, Takada S, Nishida E. 2002. JNK functions in the non-canonical Wnt pathway to regulate convergent extension movements in vertebrates. EMBO reports 3 1:69–75
- Yamashiro T, Tummers M, Thesleff I. 2003. Expression of bone morphogenetic proteins and Msx genes during root formation. J Dent Res 82:172-176.
- Yamashiro T, Zheng L, Shitaku Y, Saito M, Tsubakimoto T, Takada K, Takano-Yamamoto T, Thesleff I. 2007. Wnt10a regulates dentin sialophosphoprotein mRNA expression and possibly links odontoblast differentiation and tooth morphogenesis. Differentiation 75:452-462.
- Yan M, Wang LC, Hymowitz SG, Schilbach S, Lee J, Goddard A, de Vos AM, Gao WQ, Dixit VM. 2000. Two-amino acid molecular switch in an epithelial morphogen that regulates binding to two distinct receptors. Science 290:523-527.
- Yang A, Schweitzer R, Sun D, Kaghad M, Walker N, Bronson RT, Tabin C, Sharpe A, Caput D, Crum C, McKeon F. 1999. p63 is essential for regenerative proliferation in limb, craniofacial and epithelial development. Nature 398:714–718.
- Ying QL, Nichols J, Chambers I, Smith A. 2003. BMP induction of Id proteins suppresses differentiation and sustains embryonic stem cell self-renewal in collaboration with STAT3. Cell 115:281-292.
- Yokohama-Tamaki T, Ohshima H, Fujiwara N, Takada Y, Ichimori Y, Wakisaka S, Ohuchi H, Harada H. 2006. Cessation of Fgf10 signaling, resulting in a defective dental epithelial stem cell compartment, leads to the transition from crown to root formation. Development 133:1359-1366.

- Yoshida Y, Takahashi K, Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S. 2009. Hypoxia enhances the generation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 5:237-241.
- Yue Z, Jiang TX, Widelitz BR, Chuong CM. 2005. Mapping stem cell activities in the feather follicle. Nature 438:1026-1029.
- Zeichner-David M, Diekwisch T, Fincham A, Lau E, MacDougall M, Moradian-Oldak J, Simmer J, Snead M, Slavkin HC. 1995. Control of ameloblast differentiation. Int J Dev Biol 39:69-92.
- Zhang H, Bradley A. 1996. Mice deficient for BMP2 are nonviable and have defects in amnion/ chorion and cardiac development. Development 122:2977-2986.
- Zhang B, Wang Q, Pan X. 2007 miRNAs and their regulatory roles in animals and plants. J Cell Physiol 210:279-289.
- Zhou P, Byrne C, Jacobs J, Fuchs E. 1995. Lymphoid enhancer factor 1 directs hair follicle patterning and epithelial cell fate. Genes Dev 9:700-713.
- Åberg T, Wozney J, Thesleff I. 1997. Expression patterns of bone morphogenetic proteins (Bmps) in the developing mouse tooth suggest roles in morphogenesis and cell differentiation. Dev Dyn 210: 383-396.